Public Document Pack

Wednesday,
28 September 2022
10.30 am
Meeting of
Cheshire Fire Authority
Sadler Road
Winsford
CW7 2FQ
Contact Officer:
Donna Linton
Democratic Services
Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service, Clemonds Hey, Winsford, Cheshire, CW7 2UA
Tel: 01606 868804
E-mail: donna.linton@cheshirefire.gov.uk

Cheshire Fire Authority
Notes for Members of the Public
____________________________________________________________________________
Attendance at Meetings
The Cheshire Fire Authority welcomes and encourages members of the public to be at its
meetings and Committees. You are requested to remain quiet whilst the meeting is taking place
and to enter and leave the meeting room as quickly and quietly as possible.
All meetings of the Authority are held at the Training Centre, Sadler Road, Winsford. If you plan
to attend please report first to the Reception Desk where you will be asked to sign in and will be
given a visitors pass. You should return your pass to the Reception Desk when you leave the
building. There are some car parking spaces available on site for visitors at the front of the
building. Please do not park in spaces reserved for Fire Service personnel.
If you feel there might be particular problems with access to the building or car parking please
contact the Reception Desk at Sadler Road Winsford Tel (01606) 868700.
___________________________________________________________________
Questions by Electors
An elector in the Fire Service area can ask the Chair of the Authority a question if it is sent to
the Monitoring Officer at Fire Service HQ to arrive at least five clear working days before the
meeting. The contact officer named on the front of the Agenda will be happy to advise you on
this procedure.
Access to Information
Copies of the Agenda will be available at the meeting. A copy can also be obtained from the
contact officer named on the front of the Agenda. Alternatively, the Agenda and individual
reports are available on the Authority’s website (www.cheshirefire.gov.uk)
The Agenda is usually divided into two parts. Most business is dealt with in the first part which is
open to the public. On some occasions some business may need to be considered in the
second part of the agenda, in private session. There are limited reasons which allow this to take
place, e.g. as confidential information is being considered about an individual, or commercial
information is being discussed.
This agenda is available in large print, Braille, audio CD or in community languages upon
request by contacting; Telephone: 01606868414 or email: equalities@cheshirefire.gov.uk
Recording of Meetings
The Authority audio records its meetings. Please contact Democratic Services for a copy of the
recording via DemocraticServices@cheshirefire.gov.uk.
The recordings are not kept
indefinitely.
Fire Evacuation
If the Fire Alarm sounds you should make you way to the nearest exit as quickly as possible and
leave the building. Please follow any instructions from staff about evacuation routes.

MEETING OF THE CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY
WEDNESDAY, 28 SEPTEMBER 2022
Time : 10.30 am
Lecture Theatre - Training Centre, Sadler Road, Winsford, Cheshire CW7
2FQ
AGENDA
PART 1 - BUSINESS TO BE DISCUSSED IN PUBLIC
1

PROCEDURAL MATTERS

1A

Recording of Meeting
Members are reminded that this meeting will be audio-recorded

1B

Apologies for Absence

1C

Chair's Announcements
To receive any announcements that the Chair wishes to make prior
to the commencement of the formal business of the meeting

1D

Declaration of Members' Interests
Members are reminded to disclose any interests that are relevant to
any item on the Agenda

1E

Questions from Members of the Public
To receive any questions submitted, in accordance with procedure
rules 4.47 to 4.54 by members of the public within the area covered
by the Fire Authority

1F

Minutes of Fire Authority
To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the Fire Authority
Meeting held on 22nd June 2022

(Pages 7 - 20)

Since the meeting took place a couple of Member Champions have
changed. The Annex to these minutes reflects the current position.
1G

Minutes of Staffing Committee
(Pages 21 - 24)
To receive, for information, the minutes of the Staffing Committee
meeting held on 29th June 2022

1H

Minutes of Performance and Overview Committee
(Pages 25 - 38)
To receive, for information, the minutes of the Performance and
Overview Committee meetings held on 6th July and 7th September
2022

1I

Minutes of Governance and Constitution Committee
(Pages 39 - 44)
To receive, for information, the minutes of the Governance and
Constitution Committee meeting held on 12th July 2022
Since the meeting of the Governance and Constitution Committee
took place Councillors Kath Buckley and Denis Murphy have
requested that the dispensation (Item 2 in the minutes) is extended
to include them.
DECISION:
That Members agree to extend the dispensation granted to Fire
Authority Members on 29th January 2020, to Councillors Kath
Buckley and Denis Murphy, thereby allowing them to take part
in debates and votes on the approval of the Members’
Allowances Scheme (and any changes and/or additions to it).

1J

Minutes of Closure of Accounts Committee
(Pages 45 - 48)
To receive, for information, the minutes of the informal meeting of
the Closure of Accounts Committee meeting held on 20th July 2022

1K

Minutes of the Brigade Managers' Pay and Performance
(Pages 49 - 50)
Committee
To receive, for information, the minutes of the Brigade Managers’
Pay and Performance Committee meeting held on 2nd September
2022

1L

Notes of the Member Training and Development Group
(Pages 51 - 54)
To receive, for information, the notes of the Member Training and
Development Group meeting held on 5th July 2022

1M

Notes of the Local Pension Board - Firefighters Pension
(Pages 55 - 58)
Scheme
To receive, for information, the notes of the Local Pension Board Firefighters Pension Scheme meeting held on 9th August 2022

ITEMS REQUIRING DISCUSSION / DECISION
2

External Audit Findings Report 2021-22

(Pages 59 - 96)

3

Final Accounts 2021-22 and Annual Governance Statement

(Pages 97 - 204)

4

Annual Report 2021-22

(Pages 205 - 222)

5

Modern Slavery Statement

(Pages 223 - 228)

6

Appointment of Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive

(Pages 229 - 230)

PART 2 - BUSINESS TO BE DISCUSSED IN PRIVATE

Agenda Item
1F
Minutes
Cheshire Fire Authority
Wednesday, 22 June 2022

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY held on
Wednesday, 22 June 2022 at Lecture Theatre - Training Centre, Sadler Road,
Winsford, Cheshire CW7 2FQ at 10.30 am
PRESENT: Councillors Bob Rudd (Chair), Rachel Bailey, Michael Beanland, David Brown,
Kath Buckley, Razia Daniels, Brian Gallagher, Phil Harris, Gina Lewis, Nick Mannion,
Rob Moreton, Karen Mundry, Denis Murphy, Stef Nelson, James Nicholas, Nathan Pardoe,
Stuart Parker,
Jonathan Parry,
Rob Polhill,
Peter Walker,
Peter Wheeler
and
Norman Wright
1

PROCEDURAL MATTERS

A

Recording of Meeting
Members were reminded that the meeting would be audio-recorded.

B

Fire Authority Membership 2022-23

C

Apologies for Absence
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Marilyn Houston.

D

Election of Chair
The Director of Governance and Commissioning asked for nominations from
Members for the position of Chair.
Councillor Bob Rudd was nominated and seconded. As there were no other
nominations he was duly appointed Chair of the Fire Authority.
RESOLVED:
That Councillor Bob Rudd be appointed as Chair of Cheshire Fire Authority
until the Annual Meeting in June 2023.
On taking the Chair Councillor Bob Rudd thanked Members for their continued
support.

E

Election of Deputy Chair
The Chair invited nominations for the position of Deputy Chair. Councillor Stef
Nelson was nominated and seconded. As there were no other nominations he was
duly appointed Deputy Chair of the Fire Authority.
RESOLVED:

Page 5

1

Minutes
Cheshire Fire Authority
Wednesday, 22 June 2022

That Councillor Stef Nelson be appointed as Deputy Chair of Cheshire Fire
Authority until the Annual Meeting in June 2023.
F

Appointment of Group Spokespersons
A political group may appoint a Group Spokesperson. Four political groups exist for
2022-23, Labour (12 members); Conservative (7 members), Liberal Democrat (2
members) and Independent (2 members).
RESOLVED:
That the following appointments of Group Spokespersons be noted:
Labour: Councillor Bob Rudd
Conservative: Councillor Stuart Parker
Liberal Democrat: Councillor Denis Murphy
Independent: Councillor James Nicholas

G

Appointment of Lead Members
Each constituent authority may appoint a Lead Member.
RESOLVED:
That the following appointments of Lead Members be noted:
Cheshire East: Councillor Nick Mannion
Cheshire West and Chester: Councillor Gina Lewis
Halton: Councillor Stef Nelson
Warrington: Councillor Karen Mundry

H

Chair's Announcements
The Chair asked Members to note the content of the Chair’s announcements which
included details of Authority achievements and events Members had attended since
the last meeting of the Fire Authority.
The Chair, on behalf of the Authority thanked former Members of the Fire Authority,
Councillors Mike Biggin (Warrington), Martyn Delaney (Cheshire West and Chester),
Phil Eastty (Warrington) and Jill Houlbrook (Cheshire West and Chester) for their
commitment and support to the Fire Authority over the years and wished them all the
best for the future.
The Chair on behalf of the Authority took the opportunity to welcome new Members,
Councillors Denis Murphy (Cheshire East), Nathan Pardoe (Cheshire West and
Chester), Kath Buckley and Peter Walker (Warrington) to the Authority.

2

Page 6

Minutes
Cheshire Fire Authority
Wednesday, 22 June 2022

The Chair, on behalf of the Authority also took the opportunity to congratulate
Councillor Stuart Parker on his MBE awarded in the recent Queen’s Birthday
Honours.
I

Declaration of Members' Interests
Members from Cheshire West and Chester Council, Councillors Razia Daniels, Gina
Lewis, Nathan Pardoe, Stuart Parker, Bob Rudd, Norman Wright and Peter Wheeler,
declared an ‘Other Registerable Interest’ in Items 6 and 8 (Minute 6 and 8 refers).
The Items were concerned with the possible sale of surplus land to the rear of
Chester Fire Station to Cheshire West and Chester.
Councillors Razia Daniels, Gina Lewis, Nathan Pardoe, Stuart Parker, Bob Rudd,
Norman Wright and Peter Wheeler left the room for the consideration of these Items.

J

Questions from Members of the Public
There were no questions submitted.

K

Minutes of Fire Authority
RESOLVED:
That the minutes of the Fire Authority meeting held on 27th April 2022 be
approved as a correct record.

L

Minutes of Estates and Property Committee
RESOLVED:
That the minutes of the Brigade Manager’s Pay and Performance Committee
held on 1st March 2022 be noted.

M

Minutes of Staffing Committee
RESOLVED:
That the minutes of the Staffing Committee held on 27th April 2022 be noted.

N

Urgent Business to be determined between Fire Authority Meetings
The Director of Governance and Commissioning reported that an item of business
‘Proposal to allocate additional Capital Funding to the Crewe Fire Station Project’
was considered to be sufficiently urgent that it could not wait until this meeting. It
was determined using the ‘urgency procedure’ contained in paragraphs 4.87 and
4.89 of the Constitution. The Chair and Group Spokesperson supported the action.
RESOLVED: That
3

Page 7

Minutes
Cheshire Fire Authority
Wednesday, 22 June 2022

[1]
O

the urgent business decision the ‘Proposal to allocate additional Capital
Funding to the Crewe Fire Station Project’ be noted.

Appointments of Committees etc., Outside Bodies and Member Roles 2022-23
The Director of Governance and Commissioning introduced the report that covered
the following items:
a) Responsibilities of the Fire Authority and its committees, boards etc.;
b) Political proportions on the Fire Authority;
c) Political proportionality rules (where they apply and where they do not and their
affect upon the allocation of seats on committees etc.);
d) Appointment of Members to available seats on committees etc.;
e) Involvement of independent (non-elected) member;
f) Appointments to outside bodies;
g) Appointment of Member Champions; and
h) Continuation of Member/officer buddy arrangements.
Completed versions of Appendices 2B, 3 and 4 were provided to all Members during
the meeting in order for them to check the documents for accuracy prior to approval.
A complete list of the appointments made at the Fire Authority meeting (Appendices
2B, 3 and 4) are attached as an Annex to these minutes.
Note: Since the meeting took place two Member Champion roles have changed.
Councillor Nathan Pardoe was Member Champion for Procurement. On 5th
September 2022 he became Member Champion for Information and ICT. Councillor
Rob Polhill was Member Champion for Information and ICT. On 5th September 2022
he become Member Champion for Procurement. This is noted on the Annex to these
minutes.
RESOLVED That:
[1]

the responsibilities of the Fire Authority set out in Appendix 1A be
confirmed;

[2]

the responsibilities of Committees, Boards and Groups set out in
Appendix 1B be agreed;

[3]

the political proportions on the Fire Authority set out in paragraph 4 be
agreed;

[4]

the approach to the allocation of seats explained in paragraphs 5 to 8
and the revised copy of Appendix 2A be agreed;

[5]

the appointments required as set out in Appendix 2B be agreed (see
Annex);
4

Page 8

Minutes
Cheshire Fire Authority
Wednesday, 22 June 2022

P

[6]

the involvement of independent (non-elected) member (to act in an
advisory capacity) as set out in paragraphs 10 to 12 of the report and
shown in Appendix 2B be agreed (see Annex);

[7]

the appointments to outside bodies set out in Appendix 3 be agreed
(see Annex);

[8]

the appointments of Member Champions set out in Appendix 4 be
agreed (see Annex); and

[9]

the continuation of the Member/officer buddy arrangements be agreed.

Programme of Member Meetings 2022-23
RESOLVED:
That the Programme of Member Meetings for 2022-23 be noted.

Q

Constitution
The constitution had been updated to include the changes made by the Fire
Authority during 2021-22.
RESOLVED: That
The Fire Authority’s Constitution be adopted.

2

FINANCE REPORT - END OF YEAR 2021-22
The Treasurer introduced the report which provided a review of the Service’s
revenue outturn financial position and reported on progress against the capital
programme at the end of the 2021-22.
The Treasurer informed Members that a summary of the estimated revenue outturn
for 20221-22 was shown in Table 1 of the report. There was an estimated
underspend against budget of £0.31m. Appendix 3 to the report showed the
estimated capital outturn against the capital programme. There was an estimated
overspend of £1.43m.
At the time of writing the report the outturn position for council tax and non-domestic
rates, including the relevant business rates Section 31 grant, had not been received
from the billing authorities. The statutory deadline for this information to be
forwarded to the Authority was 30th June 2022. It was not anticipated that this would
materially change the estimated outturn.
The Treasurer referred Members to the section of the report containing information
on the Authority’s reserves and explained that the General Reserve was
approximately £2.2m, which was broadly equivalent to 5% of the net revenue budget
and in line with the approved Reserves Strategy.
5

Page 9

Minutes
Cheshire Fire Authority
Wednesday, 22 June 2022

The Treasurer drew Members’ attention to the section of the report containing
information on the Authority’s Capital Programme. He explained that the table at
paragraph 32 of the report contained details of proposed capital funding.
RESOLVED: That

3

[1]

the outturn position (subject to audit and the finalisation of the local
authorities non-domestic rates collection fund/Section 31 grant) be
noted; and

[2]

the movement in reserves as set out in Appendix 2 be approved.

TREASURY MANAGEMENT ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22
The Treasurer presented a report which provided a review of the Authority’s treasury
management activities during 2021-22. The report also provided information about
compliance with the Authority’s Treasury Management Practices during the year.
The Treasurer highlighted the key areas of the report which provided details on the
following:
a)
b)
c)
d)

the Authority’s loans portfolio position at 31st March 2022;
the Authority’s investment portfolio position at 31st March 2022;
a summary of performance for the year 2021-22; and
the Authority’s performance in 2021-22 against the key Prudential Indicators.

Members were reminded that all of the 2021-22 figures in the report remained
subject to audit.
A Member asked a question in respect of the ethical, social and environmental
policies of those organisations in which the Authority invested surplus funds. In
response, the Treasurer advised that he would provide a detailed answer outside the
meeting.
RESOLVED: That

4

[1]

the report on treasury management activity for 2021-22 be noted; and

[2]

the prudential and treasury management outturn indicators as detailed
in the report be noted.

REVIEW OF MEMBER DEVELOPMENT 2021-22 AND MEMBER DEVELOPMENT
PROGRAMME 2022-23
The Director of Governance and Commissioning presented a report that contained a
review of the member development activities over the last year and included a
summary of the delivery of the Member Development Programme.
6

Page 10

Minutes
Cheshire Fire Authority
Wednesday, 22 June 2022

The report also presented the proposed Member Training and Development
Programme for 2022-23 for approval.
Councillor Gina Lewis, Chair of the Member Training and Development Group
thanked all Members of the Fire Authority for their attendance and contributions to
the Authority’s Member Training and Development Programme throughout the year
and encouraged all Members to attend the training and development sessions
planned for 2022-23.
RESOLVED: That

5

[1]

the Member Development activities for 2021-22 as set out in Appendix 1
be noted; and

[2]

the Member Development Programme for 2022-23 as set out in Appendix
2 be approved.

SPRINKLER PLEDGE AND PROPOSED SPRINKLER MOTION
The Head of Prevention and Protection presented a report that sought approval of
the Authority’s sprinkler pledge and sprinkler motion. The intention was to have the
sprinkler motion presented to the respective constituent authorities’ Council
Meetings by Fire Authority Members.
Members were advised that the sprinkler pledge demonstrated the Fire Authority’s
commitment to promoting the installation of sprinklers in more buildings.
Members welcomed the sprinkler pledge and motion and thanked both officers and
the Members of the Sprinkler Group for the work that it had done to promote the use
of sprinklers across Cheshire.
RESOLVED: That

6

[1]

the sprinkler pledge be approved; and

[2]

the wording of the sprinkler motion be approved.

SALE OF SURPLUS LAND TO THE REAR OF CHESTER FIRE STATION
Members of the Fire Authority appointed by Cheshire West and Chester Council left
the meeting prior to this item being considered.
The Director of Governance and Commissioning presented a report that asked
Members to determine whether to sell some surplus land to the rear of Chester Fire
Station.
Members were advised that in the past twenty months officers had been in dialogue
with Cheshire West and Chester Borough Council (CWACBC) about the potential
sale of the surplus land. Initial soundings of some Members of the Fire Authority
7

Page 11

Minutes
Cheshire Fire Authority
Wednesday, 22 June 2022

suggested that they would be amenable to a sale to CWACBC.
CWACBC had stated that it was exploring a range of options for the surplus land
and that it would wish to proceed, subject to the production of a viable proposal and
to planning.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

7

the sale of the surplus land to the rear of Chester Fire Station to
Chester West and Chester Borough Council, be approved in principle,
subject to suitable terms and conditions being agreed (with the Director
of Governance and Commissioning and Treasurer approving such
terms and conditions on behalf of the Fire Authority).

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
RESOLVED: That:
That under Section 100(A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended
by the Local Government (Access to Information) Order 2006, the press and
public be excluded from the meeting for the items of business listed below on
the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as
defined in Schedule 12A to the Act in the paragraphs indicated:
Item 3 – Sale of Surplus Land to the Rear of Chester Fire Station
Paragraph
(3)

8

Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular
person (including the authority holding that information)

SALE OF SURPLUS LAND TO THE REAR OF CHESTER FIRE STATION
The report was not discussed, but the figure in the report was noted when
considering Item 6, above.

8

Page 12

Annex to Item 1F
Cheshire Fire Authority
28 September 2022
FIRE AUTHORITY MEMBERSHIP 2022-2023
[GROUPS - LAB 12, CON 7, LIB DEM 2, IND 2]
APPOINTMENTS BY CONSTITUENT AUTHORITIES
Appointed by Cheshire East Borough Council (3 Lab, 3 Con, 2 Ind, 1 Lib Dem)
Labour

Conservative

Independent

Liberal Democrat

Cllr Marilyn Houston Cllr Rachel Bailey
Cllr Rob Moreton
Cllr Nick Mannion
Cllr Michael Beanland Cllr James Nicholas
Cllr Jonathan Parry Cllr David Brown
Appointed by Cheshire West and Chester Borough Council
Labour

Cllr Denis Murphy

(4 Lab, 3 Con)

Conservative

Cllr Gina Lewis
Cllr Razia Daniels
Cllr Nathan Pardoe Cllr Stuart Parker
Cllr Bob Rudd
Cllr Norman Wright
Cllr Peter Wheeler
Appointed by Halton Borough Council

(3 Lab)

Labour
Cllr Phil Harris
Cllr Stef Nelson
Cllr Rob Polhill
Appointed by Warrington Borough Council
Labour
Cllr Brian Gallagher
Cllr Karen Mundry

Conservative
Cllr Kath Buckley

(2 Lab, 1 Con, 1 Lib Dem)
Liberal Democrat
Cllr Peter Walker

APPOINTMENTS
Chair:

Cllr Bob Rudd

Deputy Chair:

Cllr Stef Nelson

Group
Spokespersons:

Labour
Cllr Bob Rudd

Lead Members:

Cheshire East
Cheshire West
Halton Borough
Borough Council and Chester
Council
Cllr Nick Mannion Borough Council Cllr Stef Nelson
Cllr Gina Lewis

Conservative
Liberal Democrat Independent
Cllr Stuart Parker Cllr Denis Murphy Cllr James Nicholas

Page 13

Warrington Borough
Council
Cllr Karen Mundry

APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES, BOARDS AND GROUPS 2022-23
BODIES COVERED BY POLITICAL PROPORTIONALITY RULES
PERFORMANCE AND OVERVIEW COMMITTEE – 8 Members and 1 independent
member
Chair: Cllr Phil Harris
CONSERVATIVE
Cllr Razia Daniels
Cllr Norman Wright

Deputy Chair: Cllr Peter Wheeler
LABOUR
LIBERAL
INDEPENDENT
DEMOCRAT
Cllr Phil Harris
Cllr Peter Walker
Cllr James Nicholas
Cllr Gina Lewis
Cllr Jonathan Parry
Cllr Peter Wheeler

independent member
Derek Barnett
Substitute Members for Performance and Overview Committee
CONSERVATIVE
LABOUR
LIBERAL
DEMOCRAT
Cllr Rachel Bailey
Cllr Rob Polhill
Cllr Denis Murphy

INDEPENDENT
Cllr Rob Moreton

GOVERNANCE AND CONSTITUTION COMMITTEE – 7 Members and 1 independent
member
Chair: Cllr Rob Polhill
CONSERVATIVE
Cllr Rachel Bailey
Cllr David Brown

Deputy Chair: Cllr Nick Mannion
INDEPENDENT
independent
member
Cllr Brian Gallagher Cllr James Nicholas Derek Barnett
Cllr Nick Mannion
Cllr Nathan Pardoe
Cllr Rob Polhill
LABOUR

Substitute Members for Governance and Constitution Committee
CONSERVATIVE
LABOUR
INDEPENDENT
Cllr Michael Beanland Cllr Peter Wheeler
Cllr Rob Moreton

Page 14

BRIGADE MANAGERS’ PAY AND PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE – 7 Members
It is the usual convention that the Committee includes the Fire Authority Chair, Deputy
Chair, and Group spokesperson(s).
Chair: Cllr Bob Rudd
CONSERVATIVE
Cllr Michael Beanland
Cllr Stuart Parker

Deputy Chair: Cllr Stef Nelson
LABOUR
LIBERAL
DEMOCRAT
Cllr Karen Mundry
Cllr Denis Murphy
Cllr Stef Nelson
Cllr Bob Rudd
Cllr Peter Wheeler

Substitute Members for Brigade Managers’ Pay & Performance Committee
CONSERVATIVE
LABOUR
LIBERAL
DEMOCRAT
Cllr David Brown
Cllr Jonathan Parry
Cllr Peter Walker
ESTATES AND PROPERTY COMMITTEE – 8 Members and 1 independent member
Chair: Cllr Karen Mundry
CONSERVATIVE
LABOUR
Cllr Stuart Parker
Cllr Norman Wright

Deputy Chair: Cllr Marilyn Houston
LIBERAL
INDEPENDENT
DEMOCRAT
Cllr Marilyn Houston Cllr Denis Murphy
Cllr Rob Moreton
Cllr Karen Mundry
Cllr Stef Nelson
Cllr Peter Wheeler

independent member
Derek Barnett
Substitute Members for Estates and Property Committee
CONSERVATIVE
LABOUR
LIBERAL
DEMOCRAT
Cllr Michael Beanland Cllr Phil Harris
Cllr Peter Walker

INDEPENDENT
Cllr James Nicholas

Note: It may be helpful for appointments to this body to include the four Lead Members and
the Procurement and Environment Member Champions

Page 15

JOINT CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE – 4 Members
Chair: Cllr Peter Wheeler
Deputy Chair: Cllr Phil Harris
CONSERVATIVE
LABOUR
Cllr Rachel Bailey
Cllr Phil Harris
Cllr Kath Buckley
Cllr Peter Wheeler
Substitute Members for Joint Consultative Committee
CONSERVATIVE
LABOUR
Cllr Stuart Parker
Cllr Rob Polhill
BODIES NOT COVERED BY POLITICAL PROPORTIONALITY RULES
MEMBER TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT GROUP – 5 Members and 1 independent
(non-elected) member
Chair:
Cllr Gina Lewis
Cllr Rob Moreton

Cllr Karen Mundry
independent member
Derek Barnett

Cllr David Brown

Cllr Stuart Parker

RISK MANAGEMENT BOARD – 2 Members
Cllr Stef Nelson

Cllr Stuart Parker

PHOENIX BOXING CLUB BOARD – 2 Members (Warrington Members only)
Members
Cllr Brian Gallagher

Cllr Karen Mundry

Substitutes
Cllr Kath Buckley

Cllr Peter Walker

HEALTHY HEART RUNCORN TRAINING GYM BOARD – 1 Member (from Halton
Members)
Member

Cllr Stef Nelson

PENSION BOARD – 1 Member
Member

Cllr David Brown

SPRINKLER GROUP – 4 Members (one from each constituent authority)
Members
Cllr Stef Nelson
Cllr Rachel Bailey

Cllr Brian Gallagher
Cllr Gina Lewis

EQUALITY STEERING GROUP – 2 Members
Member
Cllr Marilyn Houston
Cllr Razia Daniels

Page 16

HEALTH, SAFETY AND WELLBEING COMMITTEE – 1 Member
Member
Cllr James Nicholas
BODIES WHERE NO APPOINTMENTS ARE REQUIRED
CLOSURE OF ACCOUNTS COMMITTEE
The Performance and Overview Committee sits as the Closure of Accounts Committee and
meets once a year.
STAFFING COMMITTEE – 7 Members
The Brigade Managers’ Pay and Performance Committee sits as the Staffing Committee.
AUDIT COMMITTEE – 4 Members
The Audit Committee is comprised of 4 Members appointed from and by Governance and
Constitution Committee
BUSINESS CONTINUITY COMMITTEE
The membership of the Business Continuity Committee comprises the Chair, Deputy Chair,
Group Spokesperson(s) and Lead Member(s). The Committee meets on an ad-hoc basis,
as required.
UNITARY PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT GROUPS
The Unitary Performance Area Groups are the performance delivery groups in each of the
Unitary Performance Areas and are chaired by the local Unitary Performance Manager, and
attended by the local Members for that area.

NOTE: Since the meeting of Cheshire Fire Authority took place on 22nd June 2022 two
Member Champion roles have changed. Councillor Nathan Pardoe was Member Champion
for Procurement. On 5th September 2022 he became member Champion for Information
and ICT. Councillor Rob Polhill was Member Champion for Information and ICT. On 5th
September 2022 he become Member Champion for Procurement.

Page 17

MEMBER CHAMPION ROLES 2022-23
Equality and Diversity (2 Members)
Sits on Equality Steering Group

Cllr Razia Daniels
Cllr Marilyn Houston

Health and Safety
Sits on Health and Safety Committee

Cllr James Nicholas

Information and ICT

Cllr Nathan Pardoe

Environment

Cllr Karen Mundry

Procurement

Cllr Rob Polhill

Finance (2 Members)

Cllr Kath Buckley
Cllr Stef Nelson

Older People

Cllr Peter Walker

Young People

Cllr Jonathan Parry

Performance Management

Cllr Phil Harris

Commercial/Business Risk Reduction

Cllr Stuart Parker

Industrial Relations (JCC Chair)

Cllr Peter Wheeler

Road Safety

Cllr Nick Mannion

Pensions (Local Pension Board Chair)

Cllr David Brown

Sprinklers

Cllr Brian Gallagher

Rural

Cllr Rachel Bailey

Mental Health

Cllr Gina Lewis

Page 18

Agenda Item
1G
Minutes
Staffing Committee
Wednesday, 29 June 2022

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE STAFFING COMMITTEE held on Wednesday, 29
June 2022 at Fire Conference Room - Fire Service HQ, Clemonds Hey, Winsford,
Cheshire, CW7 2UA at 10.00 am
PRESENT: Councillors Bob Rudd (Chair), Stef Nelson, Michael Beanland, Karen Mundry,
Denis Murphy and Stuart Parker
1

PROCEDURAL MATTERS

A

Recording of Meeting
Members were reminded that this meeting would be audio recorded.

B

Apologies for Absence
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Peter Wheeler.

C

Declaration of Members' Interests
There were no declarations of Members’ interests.

D

Minutes of the Staffing Committee
RESOLVED:
That the minutes of the Staffing Committee held on 27th April 2022 be
confirmed as a correct record.

2

SERVICE MANAGEMENT TEAM REVIEW UPDATE AND ACTION PLAN
Consideration was given to a report of the Director of Transformation which provided
an update on the Service Management Team Structural Review. The report
included an Implementation Plan (and supplementary Transition Plan).
The Service Management Team Review and Action Plan detailed a number of
recommendation that were now complete and were business as usual.
The progress reports on the delivery of the Service Management Team review
action plan were provided to the Staffing Committee twice a year. The Director of
Transformation advised that in future updates would be included in the People
Strategy Update that was considered by the Staffing Committee at its meeting in
November.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

the Service Management Team Review Implementation Plan (and

Page 19

1

Minutes
Staffing Committee
Wednesday, 29 June 2022

supplementary Transition Plan) and progress to date be noted; and
[2]
3

the Service Management Team Review and Action Plan be included in
the People Strategy Update going forward.

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
RESOLVED: That:
That under Section 100(A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended
by the Local Government (Access to Information) Order 2006, the press and
public be excluded from the meeting for the items of business listed below on
the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as
defined in Schedule 12A to the Act in the paragraphs indicated:
Item 4 - Blue Light Collaboration - Review of Arrangements
Paragraph
(3) Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular
person (including the authority holding that information)
(4) Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or
contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any
labour relations matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the
Crown and employees of, or officer holders under, the authority
Item 5 – Sargeant/McCloud Pensions Discrimination – Immediate Detriment
Paragraph
(4) Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or
contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any
labour relations matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the
Crown and employees of, or officer holders under, the authority

4

BLUE LIGHT COLLABORATION - REVIEW OF ARRANGEMENTS
Consideration was given to a report of the Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive that
provided information about a proposal to create an in-house Human Resources
Department.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

the report be noted;

[2]

the proposal as detailed in the report be confirmed; and

[3]

the recruitment of a Head of Service be delegated to the Chief Fire
2

Page 20

Minutes
Staffing Committee
Wednesday, 29 June 2022

5

Officer and Chief Executive and the Director of Transformation in
consultation with the Chair of the Authority
SARGEANT/MCCLOUD PENSION DISCRIMINATION - IMMEDIATE DETRIMENT
Consideration was given to a report of the Director of Transformation that provided
details of the current position and risks relating to Immediate Detriment (ID) cases
following the withdrawal of the Home Office Immediate Detriment Guidance (issued
in August 2020 and revised in June 2021).
RESOLVED: That
[1]

the Service’s approach to Immediate Detriment cases and decision to
pause immediate detriment payments be noted.

3

Page 21

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item
1H
Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee
Wednesday, 6 July 2022

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE PERFORMANCE AND OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
held on Wednesday, 6 July 2022 at Lecture Theatre - Training Centre, Sadler Road,
Winsford, Cheshire CW7 2FQ at 10.00 am
PRESENT: Councillors Phil Harris (Chair), Razia Daniels, Gina Lewis, James Nicholas,
Peter Walker, Peter Wheeler and Norman Wright.
1

PROCEDURAL MATTERS

A

Recording of Meeting
Members were reminded that the meeting would be audio-recorded.

B

Apologies for Absence
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Jonathan Parry and
independent (non-elected) member Derek Barnett.

C

Declaration of Members' Interests
There were no declarations of Members’ interests.

D

Minutes of the Performance and Overview Committee
RESOLVED:
That the minutes of the Performance and Overview Committee held on
Wednesday 2nd March 2022 be confirmed as a correct record.

2

PERFORMANCE REPORT - QUARTER 4, 2021-22
The Group Manager for Organisational Performance and Planning introduced the
report, which provided an update on the performance for each of the Service’s Key
Performance Indicators (KPIs) for Quarter 4, 2021-22.
The Group Manager referred Members to the KPI relating to the number of deaths in
primary fires. The Group Manager drew Members’ attention to an amendment to the
report, one of the three deaths included was confirmed by the coroner not to have
been caused by fire.
Work was ongoing to reduce the number of deaths in primary fires, including a
review of the revisit methodology for Safe and Well revisits.
The Group Manager referred Members to Injuries in Primary Fires KPI, which was at
21 for the year. This was below the target of 44 and was the lowest number over the

Page 23

1

Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee
Wednesday, 6 July 2022

last five years.
The Group Manager referred Members to the On-Call Availability KPI that was at
60% for the year, and 25% below target. A detailed review of the On-Call Duty
System was underway as part of the Service Improvement Review.
A Member queried how fire safety messages were given to prevent farm/nonresidential fires. The Group Manager advised that the Business Safety Manager
linked with insurance companies and directly with owners at events such as the
Cheshire Show to offer safety advice through the business safety team. They also
complete visits to businesses across Cheshire.
RESOLVED: That
[1]
3

the Performance Report – Quarter 4, 2021-22 be noted.

PROGRAMME REPORT - QUARTER 4, 2021-22
The Deputy Chief Fire Officer provided Members with an update on the Service’s
programmes and projects, including those contained within the Authority’s annual
Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP) action plans.
The Deputy Chief Fire Officer referred Members to the Emergency Services Mobile
Communications Programme (ESMCP). This was a national project that was
experiencing major delays. Members were assured that the communication system
currently in use was working well, with no issues.
The Station Modernisation Programme was on pause due to the cost becoming
unaffordable. A full review of the programme was being undertaken and when
complete would be disseminated to Members.
The Deputy Chief Fire Officer advised that the Road Safety Strategy Plan Cheshire
had made progress and Members would be updated at the Members Planning Day
on 8th July.
The Deputy Chief Fire Officer informed Members that the IRMP was now in year 3
out of the 4 year plan and that numerous projects had been completed. These
included:-

the Communications and Engagement department had been brought
in-house and was functioning well;
the High Reach Fire Engine was now located at Macclesfield and a
12-month review would be brought before Members;
the expansion of the Rapid Response Units had been rolled out to
stations across Cheshire; and
the first stage of the Flood/Water Response had been completed with
firefighters receiving individual PPE and training to deal with low energy flood
water.
2

Page 24

Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee
Wednesday, 6 July 2022

A Member questioned if schools and academy buildings were considered a high fire
risk due to pupils gathering at certain times of the day for example break and lunch
times. The Head of Prevention and Protection advised that input was given at the
design stage and once complete a fire plan would be implemented and regular fire
drills would be undertaken.
RESOLVED: That
[1]
4

the Programme Report – Quarter 4, 2021-22 be noted.

INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL REPORT AND HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT
OPINION 2021-22: INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT: AND INTERNAL
AUDIT FOLLOW UP SUMMARY REPORT
Anne-Marie Harrop, a representative from Mersey Internal Audit Agency (MIAA),
was in attendance to present the Internal Audit Annual Report and Head of Internal
Audit Opinion 2021-22: Internal Audit Progress Report: and Internal Audit Follow Up
Summary Report.
Members were advised that the overall opinion for the period 1st April 2021 to 31st
March 2022 provides ‘substantial assurance’. This means that there was a good
system of internal control designed to meet the system objectives and that controls
were generally being applied consistently throughout the organisation, and that
controls were generally applied ‘consistently’.
Anne-Marie Harrop gave an update on the progress for the key areas on:-

Cyber Organisational Controls;
Working Time Arrangements: and
Operational Debrief and Learning.

Anne-Marie Harrop advised the Audit Plan was on track and no concerns were
brought to Members’ attention.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

5

the Internal Audit Annual Report and Head of Internal Audit Opinion
2021-22: Internal Audit Progress Report: and Internal Audit Follow Up
Summary Report be noted.

ANNUAL RISK MANAGEMENT REPORT 2021-22
The Planning and Performance and Risk Manager, Joint Corporate Services,
introduced the report which provided Members with an update about risk
management.
Scrutiny of risk was undertaken at the Risk Management Board held in March and
October each year, chaired by the Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive. 118 risks
were identified at a department and strategic level, they were RAG rated and
3

Page 25

Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee
Wednesday, 6 July 2022

managed on the Cheshire Planning System.
The Planning and Performance and Risk Manager drew Members’ attention to the
‘deep dives’ that had been presented to the Risk Management Board and the next
steps and focus for 2022-23.
RESOLVED: That
[1]
6

the Annual Risk Management Report 2021-22 be noted.

ANNUAL TRAINING PERFORMANCE REPORT 2021-22
The Head of Operational Policy and Assurance provided Members with an update
on the training arrangements and performance throughout the training year 2021-22.
He advised Members about the challenges of maximizing the facilities of the training
centre with the new training team throughout the Covid Pandemic. The Head of
Operational Policy and Assurance gave an overview of the targets for training and
assured Members that since the report was produced the training was now up to
date.
The Head of Operational Policy and Assurance highlighted training not captured in
the report including:-

Diva Flame multi-agency exercise in Chester;
high rise exercises in Kirby: and
simulated SMART motorway exercises at the training centre involving several
fire engines at each session.

RESOLVED: That
[1]
7

the Annual Training Performance Report 2021-22 be noted.

UNITARY PERFORMANCE GROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22
The Head of Service Delivery introduced the report, which provided an update on
the initiatives supported and funded by the Unitary Performance Groups (UPGs)
during 2021-22.
It was reported that the UPG meetings provided an opportunity for local Cheshire
Fire Authority Members to engage with officers from Service Delivery, Prevention
and Protection to scrutinise performance at a local level. The UPGs also developed
initiatives that assisted with improving performance and outcomes for the
communities within each unitary area. The UPGs had budgets allocated to enable
them to consider and approve funding bids for activities within their areas.
Information on some of the initiatives supported and funded by the UPGs during
2021-22 was detailed in Appendix 1 of the report.
A Member asked if future reports could explain the involvement of Members and
4

Page 26

Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee
Wednesday, 6 July 2022

how the UPG work added value to the unitary area.
RESOLVED: That
[1]
8

the Unitary Performance Groups Annual report 2021-22 be noted.

SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE (CYP) AND ADULTS
ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22
The Group Manager for Prevention introduced the report and the Youth Engagement
Manager outlined the significant rise in safeguarding referrals for children and young
people made from 1st April 2021 to 31st March 2022. He highlighted the breakdown
of referrals by source and advised that the majority were raised by operational
firefighters.
The Group Manager advised Members that adult safeguarding referrals had notably
increased from 28 in 2020/21 to 44 in 2021/22, the majority of referrals were due to
suicide attempts.
The Group Manager informed Members that all new firefighters undergo
safeguarding training and that a mandatory safeguarding e-learning package had
been introduced for all Service personnel.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

9

the Safeguarding Children and Young People (CYP) and Adults Annual
Report 2021-22 be noted.

MENTAL HEALTH REPORT - 6 MONTH UPDATE JULY 2022
The Mental Health Adviser introduced the report and highlighted significant areas
over the last six months and priorities for the next six months:-

-

the number of TRiM practitioners now stood at 50 across the Service;
a project team was set up to undertake a review of the TRiM process, to
identify how the Service could ensure the programme was promoted and
delivered effectively. The initial draft recommendations were reported and a
pilot project had been launched in Cheshire East to further develop the
Services proposed solution;
the Service now had 27 Mental Health First Aiders, with the aim to
significantly increase the number year on year; and
due to the rise in attempted suicides, a suicide prevention toolkit had
been developed and supported by training for staff.

A Member questioned what the suicide prevention training involved. The Mental
Health Adviser outlined that a suicide prevention toolkit had been developed and
was supported by staff training.
RESOLVED: That
5

Page 27

Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee
Wednesday, 6 July 2022

[1]
10

the Mental Health - 6 Month Update July 2022 be noted.

HMICFRS ACTION PLAN - ROUND 2 INSPECTION 2021
The Group Manager for Organisational Performance and Planning introduced the
report which presented Members with an update in relation to the action plan to
address areas for improvement and suggestions contained in the Her Majesty’s
Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS) inspection
report following its 2021 inspection of the Service.
The action plan highlighted the outstanding live actions and their updates. The
Organisational Performance team would undertake an audit of the action plan with
action owners in July 2022 and again in October 2022. This would be completed
using the HMICFRS judgment criteria. The service would aim to complete all actions
in advance of the next inspection by HMICFRS expected to commence in early
2023.
RESOLVED: That

11

[1]

the action plan is noted and agreed for use; and

[2]

The proposed process for internal monitoring is agreed to ensure the
action plan was successfully implemented.

FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME
The table included those items that had been identified/agreed to date.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

the Forward Work Plan 2021-22 be noted.

6

Page 28

Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee
Wednesday, 7 September 2022

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE PERFORMANCE AND OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
held on Wednesday, 7 September 2022 at Lecture Theatre - Training Centre, Sadler
Road, Winsford, Cheshire CW7 2FQ at 10.00 am
PRESENT: Councillors Phil Harris (Chair), Razia Daniels, Gina Lewis, James Nicholas,
Peter Walker, Norman Wright and independent (non-elected) member Derek Barnett.
1

PROCEDURAL MATTERS

A

Recording of Meeting
Members were reminded that the meeting would be audio-recorded.

B

Apologies for Absence
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Wheeler.

C

Declaration of Members' Interests
There were no declarations of Members’ interests.

D

Minutes of the Performance and Overview Committee
RESOLVED:
That the minutes of the Performance and Overview Committee held on
Wednesday 6th July 2022, be confirmed as a correct record.

2

FINANCE REPORT, QUARTER 1, 2022-23
The Treasurer introduced the report, which provided Members with a review of the
Service’s forecast financial performance and information about progress with the
2022-23 capital projects.
He drew Member’s attention to the Forecast Revenue Spending with the overall
position at the end of Quarter 1 forecasting an overspend of £68k. He stated that no
pay awards for 2022/23 had been agreed. A 3% increase had been included in the
budget and if a pay award exceeded this it would have a significant impact.
The Treasurer referred Members to Appendix 2, the Movement in Reserves 2022-23
and outlined the proposed movements to and from the reserves.
A Member asked about progress with the purchase of 9 houses in Wilmslow. The
Assistant Chief Fire Officer advised that 5 properties were in the process of being
purchased and that work work was continuing to identify other potential properties.

Page 29

1

Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee
Wednesday, 7 September 2022

Hybrid crewing options were also being investigated to enable the project to
proceed.
A Member asked how the increased energy costs were affecting the budget. The
Treasurer advised Members that the Service had agreements in place for the supply
of energy, that the bills were being regularly monitored and that any significant
concerns would be reported back to the Authority.
Members were satisfied with the content of the report and approved the movement
in reserves set out in Appendix 2.
RESOLVED: That

3

[1]

the Finance Report – Quarter 1 2022-23 be noted; and

[2]

the movement in reserves set out in Appendix 2 be approved.

PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER 1, 2022-23
The Head of Service Improvement introduced the report, which provided an update
on the Service’s Quarter 1 2022-23 performance for each of the Key Performance
Indicators (KPIs). The report included the Corporate Scorecard, which reflected the
Quarter 1 position against targets set and the year-on-year direction of travel for the
KPIs.
The Head of Service Improvement focussed on the KPIs where targets had not been
achieved, providing further context.
•

The figure for the Number of Deaths in Primary Fires stood at 4 for Quarter 1.
Two of the victims were registered on SAFFIRE and the fire investigation
reports were being compiled on two ofthe victims from June. The Safe and
Well targeting methodology was under review and this would be incorporated
within the Service Improvement Review.

•

The Number of Deliberate Primary Fires, 22 of the incidents (41.5%) involved
the deliberate ignition of a road vehicle. Of these 10 involved motorcycles, all
of which occurred in Runcorn, Warrington and Widnesn. The Prevention
department and individual crews were working with the police, local
authorities, and other partners to reduce the incidents.

•

The number of Safe and Well (SaW) visits delivered to properties of
Heightened Risk was impacted due to staff shortages within the Prevention
department. 4744 SaW visits were completed in Quarter 1, against a target of
7500. The Service is continuing with a recruitment campaign to fill the vacant
positions.

•

The Risk Based Inspection Programme (RBIP) Quarter 1 target was missed
by 59 audits, due to resources being redirected. The missed audits had been
arranged for Quarter 2.
2

Page 30

Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee
Wednesday, 7 September 2022

•

The On-Call Fire Engine Availability was at 53% in Quarter 1 against a target
of 85%. The ongoing Fire Cover Review would assess the long-term
sustainability of the On-Call model and its conclusions would be reported
back to the Fire Authority.

A Member questioned if electric vehicles were more likely to cause fatalities if they
were involved in a road traffic accident. The Head of Service Improvement advised
that electric vehicles were not any less safe. However, there were more issues to
deal with in extinguishing a fire involving an electric vehicle. The Head of
Operational Policy and Assurance advised that the North West Region were looking
to collaborate to purchase a water skip system to be used to extinguish electrical
vehicle fires.
RESOLVED: That
[1]
4

the Performance Report – Quarter 1, 2022-23 be noted.

PROGRAMME REPORT, QUARTER 1, 2022-23
The Head of Service Improvement provided Members with an update on the
Service’s programmes and projects. He mentioned the following:
•

There had been a delay in the temporary fire station being available at Crewe,
which was a pre-requisite before the existing fire station could be demolished
and replaced. A full update on overall the station modernisation programme
would be given at the Members’ Planning Day;

•

The purchase of the water carrier was now complete and stationed at Crewe
for deployment around the county;

•

The Emergency Services Mobile Communications Programme status was red.
This is a Government led project and not under CFRS control; and

•

In September the first draft of the Road Safety Strategy Plan for Cheshire was
due to be issued.

A Member questioned how the Crewe Fire Station build programme was being
impacted by the rising build costs. The Treasurer advised that an additional £375k
had been allocated and included in the build contract. This was intended to protect
the Authority from certain cost increases associated with the project. Regular
project team meetings were taking place, with costs being closely monitored.
A Member asked how On-Call was impacted by the migration of On-Call firefighters
to Wholetime positions. The Assistant Chief Fire Officer advised that migration did
affect On-Call. However migration was encouraged as it was a key route into a
Wholetime role with dual roles helping to support the On-Call system.
3

Page 31

Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee
Wednesday, 7 September 2022

RESOLVED: That
[1]
5

the Programme Report – Quarter 1 2022-23 be noted.

INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT QUARTER 1, 2022-23
Charles Black, Principal Auditor from Mersey Internal Audit Agency (MIAA), was in
attendance to present the Internal Audit Progress Report Quarter 1, 2022-23
He drew Members’ attention to the key messages:•
•
•

the National Fraud Initiative (NFI) Briefing Report had been issued
the Business Continuity Planning Draft Report was in progress
two audits (Blue Light Collaboration and Microsoft 365) had been deferred
until Quarter 4, January 2023.

Charles Black advised that the plan was on track and no concerns were brought to
Members’ attention.
RESOLVED: That
[1]
6

the Internal Audit Progress Report Quarter 1 2022-23 be noted.

SAFETY CENTRAL ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22
The Safety Central Manager introduced the report, which presented a review of the
performance of Safety Central between 1st April 2021 and 31st March 2022.
She explained the report was briefer in format due to the closure of the Centre
during the Covid Pandemic and the phased re-introduction of the Centre’s activity
during 2021/22.
The Safety Central Manager outlined the changes to the staffing team and the
engagement of the volunteers throughout the year. 23 volunteers had been retained
with 1 more going through the recruitment process. A priority for 2022 was the
recruitment of further volunteers.
She explained the performance figures for visiting schools and those schools
identified within the top 10% and 20% of the multiple deprivation index (MDI) within
Cheshire.
A Member asked how volunteers were recruited. The Safety Central Manager
advised that recruitment was done through many channels, using social media,
recruitment events, open days at the Centre, radio and word of mouth. A Member
suggested the CFRS Step Away programme could be used to encourage volunteers
from staff about to retire.
A Member asked why there were no schools falling within the MDI booked into the
Centre from within the Cheshire West and Chester area. The Safety Central
4

Page 32

Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee
Wednesday, 7 September 2022

Manager advised that they would have been contacted; however, they had not
booked yet. It was agreed that the Members would be sent a list of the schools that
had booked so that they could promote the Centre to those that had yet to take up
the offer. It was also noted that Councils had a discretionary budget which could be
used to help with the transport costs if this was a barrier preventing a school visit.
RESOLVED: That
[1]
7

the Safety Central Annual Report 2021-22 be noted.

EQUALITY, DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22
The Head of Communications and Engagement introduced the report, which
provided a summary of key issues covered in the Service’s Equality, Diversity and
Inclusion Annual Report 2021-22. He stated that Benji Evans, had now left the
Service and the position of Equality & Inclusion Officer was being advertised.
The Head of Communications and Engagement referred Members to the Key
Accomplishments, in particular:
•

the Service achieved second place in the Stonewall Top 100 Workplace
Equality Index (WEI), it’s highest-ever ranking, and retained its position as the
UK’s most inclusive emergency service;

•

the Service had seen a slight increase in ethnic diversity amongst its staff.
Non-White British staff now make up 4.7% of the workforce, compared to
4.3% in 2021;

•

3.4% of the Service’s employees declare a disability, which was a slight
increase on 2.9% last year;

•

strengthening of staff networks including, Limitless Women’s Network, the
Race Equality and Cultural Heritage (REACH) Network, and the
Neurodiversity Network;

A Member questioned how the Service supports staff who are transitioning. The
Head of Communications and Engagement advised that the Trans Guidance and the
Service’s LGBT+ allies booklet had been updated and there was clear guidance on
transitioning within the manager’s handbook to enable managers to support staff at
every stage.
RESOLVED: That
[1]
8

the Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Annual Report 2021-22 be
noted.

PROSECUTIONS ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22
The Protection Group Manager introduced the report which presented an update on
5

Page 33

Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee
Wednesday, 7 September 2022

Cheshire Fire Authority’s prosecutions under the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety)
Order 2005 during the financial year 2021-22. Last year there was one successful
prosecution.
There were currently eight cases in various stages of the prosecution process.
These include 3 cases going to trial in the Crown Court, 1 case due in the
Magistrate’s Court and 4 cases with individuals under investigation.
The Protection Group Manager summarised the successful prosecution case of the
owner of Mr Pizza in Crewe.
A Member observed that the prosecution had taken 3 years and asked if this was
typical. The Protection Group Manager advised that there had been disruption to
investigating cases and a backlog in prosecutions due to the Covid Pandemic. It was
also possible that fire safety may not be one of the highest priority areas for the
courts, which appeared to be under pressure.
A Member questioned if the Service worked with local authorities on houses of
multiple usage. The Protection Group Manager advised that such properties
engaged dual enforcement; a local authority would have the jurisdiction for private
areas and the Service would have authority over the commercial areas.
RESOLVED: That
[1]
9

the contents of the Prosecutions Annual Report 2021-22 be noted.

NORTH WEST FIRE CONTROL ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22
A Station Manager, who acted as the Single Point of Contract with North West Fire
Control introduced the report which provided information about the performance of
North West Fire Control (NWFC) during the year 1st April 2021 to 31st March 2022.
He summarised the call handling performance comparing 2020-21 and 2021-22,
which showed a rise of 19% in the number of calls. This increase was in part due to
Covid Pandemic creating a false reduction in calls in 2020- 21 e.g. due to the impact
of lockdown.
The two incident types seeing the biggest increases were Road Traffic Collisions up
64.8% (147 incidents) and NWAS Gain Entry incidents, up 41.1% (67 incidents).
The Station Manager outlined new technology that was being utilised by NWFC;
999eye, a technical solution where NWFC could use a caller’s smart mobile phone
to view the incident being reported; Rapid Rescue Response Units went live at
NWFC in June; Fire Survival Guidance power app, an electronic solution to enhance
CFRS and NWFC ability to co-ordinate major incidents for example, high-rise fires
where there were multiple calls received at NWFC; and LifeX, an upgraded
telephony system to identify a caller’s location down to 1 metre.
6

Page 34

Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee
Wednesday, 7 September 2022

A Member questioned if the new technology could be a hindrance if NWFC received
multiple calls for the same incident. The Station Manager advised that the
technology was used to enhance the information and it does not prevent the initial
mobilisation and was not used to downgrade an incident. When NWFC receives
multiple calls for the same incident this was managed in the room by a team leader
and they were well trained to interpret the information being received.
RESOLVED: That
[1]
10

the North West Fire Control Annual Report 2021-22 be noted.

ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE CHANGE 6 MONTH UPDATE REPORT,
SEPTEMBER 2022
The Environment and Sustainability Lead, Joint Corporate Services introduced the
report, which provided an update on the progress that was being made by the
Service in relation to the environment and climate change agenda.
The report showed a reduction of 59% of carbon emissions from the 2017 baseline.
A Member questioned if battery storage connected to a photovoltaic system was
worth the cost. The Environment and Sustainability Lead advised that it was very
beneficial because in certain areas, not all the self-generated power could be
returned to the grid. The stored energy could be used during periods when no
power was being generated by the system.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

11

the Environment and Climate Change 6 Month Update Report,
September 2022 be noted.

FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 2022-23
The table included those items that had been identified/agreed to date. On this
occasion the plan was not altered and no items were added.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

the Forward Work Programme be noted.

7

Page 35

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item
1I
Minutes
Governance and Constitution Committee
Tuesday, 12 July 2022

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE GOVERNANCE AND CONSTITUTION
COMMITTEE held on Tuesday, 12 July 2022 at Lecture Theatre - Training Centre,
Sadler Road, Winsford, Cheshire CW7 2FQ at 10.00 am
PRESENT: Councillors Rob Polhil (Chair), Rachel Bailey, Nick Mannion, James Nicholas,
Nathan Pardoe and independent (non-elected) member Derek Barnett
1

PROCEDURAL MATTERS

A

Recording of Meeting
Members were reminded that the meeting would be audio-recorded.

B

Apologies for Absence
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors David Brown and Brian
Gallagher.

C

Membership of Committee
Members noted the membership of the Governance and Constitution Committee for
2022-23, as agreed by the Fire Authority on 22nd June 2022.

D

Councillors:

Rob Polhill (Chair)
Nick Mannion (Deputy Chair)
Rachel Bailey
David Brown
Brian Gallagher
James Nicholas
Nathan Pardoe

Substitutes:

Michael Beanland
Rob Moreton
Peter Wheeler

Independent (non-elected) member:

Derek Barnett

Declarations of Members' Interests
There were no declarations of Members’ interests.

E

Minutes of the Governance and Constitution Committee
RESOLVED:

Page 37

1

Minutes
Governance and Constitution Committee
Tuesday, 12 July 2022

That the minutes of the Governance and Constitution Committee held on
Wednesday 30th March 2022 be confirmed as a correct record.
2

DISPENSATIONS
The Director of Governance and Commissioning introduced the report which asked
Members to extend the benefit of the existing dispensations to the new Members of
the Fire Authority. This would allow them to take part in debates and votes on the
approval of the Members’ Allowances Scheme (and any changes and/or additions to
it).
He explained that he accepted that the guidance issued by the Local Government
Association, which accompanied the Model Councillor Code of Conduct, made the
existing dispensation relating to the Council Tax precept redundant.
The Director informed the Committee that Councillors Nathan Pardoe and Peter
Walker had requested that the dispensation be extended so they could benefit from
it.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

3

the dispensation granted to Fire Authority Members on 29th January
2020 be extended to benefit Councillors Nathan Pardoe and Peter
Walker, thereby allowing them to take part in debates and votes on the
approval of the Members’ Allowances Scheme (and any changes and/or
additions to it).

WHISTLEBLOWING ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22
The Director of Governance and Commissioning introduced the report which
provided information about whistleblowing for 2021-22 and asked Members to
review the Policy and Procedure.
He informed Members that the Authority had not been contacted by Safecall during
2021-22. He suggested to Members that this was likely to be a result of staff being
comfortable raising their concerns through existing informal channels. To continue
raising awareness of the Safecall procedure, the Director of Governance and
Commissioning assured Members that a review of its visibility would be conducted.
A Member queried the review date on the Whistleblowing Procedure attached as
Appendix 1 to the report. The Director advised that the review date on the document
referred to a review conducted by officers.
Members suggested that a review on the visibility of Safecall be conducted by the
newly appointed Health and Safety Manager to ensure its accessibility for staff.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

the Whistleblowing Annual Report 2021-22 be noted.
2

Page 38

Minutes
Governance and Constitution Committee
Tuesday, 12 July 2022

4

COMPLIMENTS AND COMPLAINTS ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22
The Director of Governance and Commissioning introduced the report which
provided information regarding compliments and complaints received about the
Service during the period 1st April 2021 to 31st March 2022.
He provided an overview of the figures for the past five reporting periods which were
presented within a table in the report. He explained that although the figures
remained similar to the previous year, there was a significant decrease in the
number of compliments. Officers believed this was due to staff being unaware of the
reporting process and further communications would be provided to raise
awareness.
Members queried the complaints which had not met the reporting timescale. The
Director of Governance and Commissioning advised he would investigate further
and report back to Members.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

5

the information regarding compliments and complaints made during the
period 1st April 2021 and 31st March 2022 be noted.

SUMMARY OF MEMBER ATTENDANCE 2021-22
The Director of Governance and Commissioning introduced the report which
provided information about Member attendance for the last municipal year. Appendix
1 to the report summarised Member attendance at meetings of the Fire Authority
and its three main committees: Estates and Property Committee, Governance and
Constitution Committee and Performance and Overview Committee. Appendix 2 to
the report contained details of the planning days and additional meetings attended,
as well as conferences and events attended.
The Director explained that the appendices for the next reporting period would be
amended so that Member attendance at formal meetings and Member Planning
Days were better represented.
Members discussed the figures and noted that despite some impact from the Covid
Pandemic, that meetings were generally well attended. Members agreed that no
action was necessary.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

the summary of Member attendance for 2021-22 be noted.

3

Page 39

Minutes
Governance and Constitution Committee
Tuesday, 12 July 2022

6

AUDIT COMMITTEE ARRANGEMENTS AND APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT
AUDIT MEMBER
The Treasurer introduced the report which sought to: secure Member appointments
to the Audit Committee; determine the quorum of the Audit Committee; and obtain
agreement about the arrangements for and recruitment of the independent audit
member. He referred to the updated Position Statement: Audit Committees in Local
Authorities and Police 2022 published by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance
and Accounting (CIPFA) attached as Appendix 1 to the report. This provided
guidance on the establishment of Audit Committees and influenced the
proposals/suggestions contained within the report.
Appointments to the Audit Committee
The Treasurer advised that in light of the guidance provided by CIPFA, four
Members were required for the Audit Committee. It was recommended that the
appointments for the Audit Committee be politically proportionate: 2 Labour, 1
Conservative; and 1 Independent, with the Chair being a Labour Member.
Members appointed Councillors Nick Mannion, Brian Gallagher, Rachel Bailey and
James Nicholas to the Audit Committee. Cllr Nick Mannion was appointed as Chair.
Members agreed that due to the level of training associated, it was not appropriate
to appoint substitutes to the committee.
Quorum
Members decided that attendance by 3 of the 4 elected Members would be fulfil the
requirement to be quorate; the Independent Audit Member would not be counted as
part of quorum initially.
Recruitment of Independent Audit Member
Members considered the requirements and eligibility criteria contained within the
bullet points of paragraphs 13 and 14 within the report. It was agreed that the
requirements were suitable and met the expectations of the Position Statement.
Remuneration of the Independent Audit Member
The Director of Governance and Commissioning explained that the Independent
Audit Member would be required to meet a level of experience and knowledge as
well as attend Audit Committee meetings and associated training. Therefore,
remuneration commensurate with that of the independent (non-elected) member role
was proposed, in order to make the role attractive to applicants. Members agreed
with the proposal.
Term of the Independent Audit Member
A Member queried whether a total of 6 years’ service for an Independent Audit
Member was adequate. The Director of Governance and Commissioning advised
4

Page 40

Minutes
Governance and Constitution Committee
Tuesday, 12 July 2022

that the Position Statement recommended a maximum service of 6 years as this
allowed enough time for the Independent Audit Member to familiarised themselves
with the organisation yet retain a level of independence.
Advert for the Independent Audit Member
Members recalled agreeing to an open advert for the role at their last meeting of the
committee. However, officers believed a more targeted approach might also be
beneficial alongside the open advert. Members agreed that officers should notify the
monitoring officers, of the various local public bodies that have audit committees with
independent audit members, so that they could bring the advert to the attention of
existing audit members.
Interview Panel
The Director of Governance and Commissioning advised the interview panel for the
Independent Audit Member would consist of two officers and ideally two members
from the Audit Committee. Members agreed, subject to availability, that Councillors
Nick Mannion and Rachel Bailey should be involved.
Future-proofing
The Treasurer explained that the CIPFA guidance suggested that Audit Committees
should have multiple Independent Audit Members appointed to the Audit Committee.
Although this was not a requirement or originally agreed by the Fire Authority, it may
be worth considering looking to appoint a further individual in the future whilst
undergoing the recruitment process. Members agreed to consider this at a later
stage dependent on the number of applications received.
AGREED: That
[1]

Councillors Rachel Bailey, Brian Gallagher, Nick Mannion and James
Nicholas be appointed to the Audit Committee;

[2]

Councillor Nick Mannion be appointed Chair of the Audit Committee;

[3]

the quorum of the Audit Committee be 3 of the 4 elected Members and
not include the Independent Audit Member;

[4]

the bullet points contained in Paragraphs 13 and 14 of the report be
approved for inclusion in the recruitment pack;

[5]

the Independent Audit Member receive an annual allowance of £1,250;

[6]

the Independent Audit Member serve a 3 year term with the option to
‘renew’ once;

[7]

the recruitment of the Independent Audit Member be advertised through
an open advert on the Service’s website with the monitoring officers of
5

Page 41

Minutes
Governance and Constitution Committee
Tuesday, 12 July 2022

the local public bodies that have audit committees with Independent
Audit Members being notified to encourage them to inform suitable
individuals about the role;
[8]

the interview panel for the Independent Audit Member consist of two
Members appointed to the Audit Committee; and

[9]

the recruitment paperwork shall state that the Authority may consider
appointing a second Independent Audit Member in the future.

6

Page 42

Agenda Item
1J
Minutes
Closure of Accounts Committee
Wednesday, 20 July 2022

AS A RESULT OF CONCERNS ABOUT THE RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH MEETING IN
PERSON CAUSED BY THE CORONAVIRUS PANDEMIC THIS MEETING TOOK PLACE
VIA SKYPE.
THE LAW AT THE TIME OF THE MEETING DID NOT RECOGNISE REMOTE MEETINGS
(LIKE SKYPE) AS FULFILLING THE REQUIREMENT FOR PUBLIC ACCESS.
THEREFORE, THE MEETING WAS INFORMAL WITH NO DECISIONS MADE.
NOTES OF THE INFORMAL MEETING OF THE CLOSURE OF ACCOUNTS
COMMITTEE held on Wednesday, 20 July 2022 via Skype at 10.00 am.
PRESENT: Councillors Phil Harris (Chair), Razia Daniels, Gina Lewis, Peter Walker,
Peter Wheeler, Norman Wright and independent (non-elected member) Derek Barnett.
1

PROCEDURAL MATTERS

A

Recording of Meeting
Members were reminded that this meeting would be audio recorded.

B

Apologies for Absence
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors James Nicholas and
Jonathan Parry. They were unable to join the meeting as they were attending a
Cheshire East Full Council meeting. As their substitutes were also Cheshire East
members they were not in attendance.

C

Declaration of Members' Interests
There were no declarations of Members’ interests.

2

DRAFT STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2021-22
The Treasurer introduced the report and outlined the timescales for the production of
the annual accounts. The regulations require the Section 151 Officer to sign off the
draft accounts by 31st July each year. The accounts were subject to external audit
and once completed the Fire Authority would formally consider the accounts for
approval on 28th September 2022.
The Treasurer drew Members attention to the Financial Performance 2021-22 in the
Narrative Report. The Fire Authority received £44.48m funding over the period with
the majority of the funding received from Council Tax. The Treasurer referred
Members to the Expenditure by Type 2021-22, 54% of the expenditure was
employee-related costs, at £32.76m.

Page 43

1

Minutes
Closure of Accounts Committee
Wednesday, 20 July 2022

The Treasurer outlined the key achievements from 2020-21, including the opening of
the Training Centre by HRH The Earl of Wessex, the purchase of the ‘The Scorpion’,
a high reach fire engine and the equipment purchased to fight wildfires.
The Treasurer explained the Authority’s Pension Liability within the report, including
the implications of the McCloud/Sargeant legal case.
The Head of Finance reminded Members that the accounts were based on the
International Financial Reporting Standards. She drew Members attention to the
Expenditure and Funding Analysis Note 2021-22 which stated the reported outturn
and shows any movement of reserves. The reserves were increased by £1.53m in
2021-22 compared to £0.93m in 20-21.
The detailed Movement in Reserves Statement 2021-22 showed the Transfers to
and from earmarked reserves, with the balance on 31st March 2022 at £24.01m up
from £22.47m in 2021. The majority of the reserves were committed to projects
within the approved capital investment programme.
A Member questioned where in the accounts the liability was shown for the
McCloud/Sargeant pension ruling. The Head of Finance outlined that it was included
in the actuarial movement and included in the overall pension liability.
The Head of Finance drew Members attention to the Balance Sheet which sets out
the value of the assets and liabilities recognised by the Authority. The Land and
Buildings figure was provided by an external valuer. The Assets Under Construction
figure had reduced from £2,06m in 2021 to £0.95m in 2022, this reduction was
accounted for when the projects were completed and operational, they move into
either the vehicles or buildings asset categories.
The Head of Finance highlighted the Net Pension Liability (IAS 19) and explained
the IAS was International Accounting Standard number 19. The accounts had to
state the pension liability based on an actuarial valuation of the cost of our pensions
if they were to be paid in full, based on a number of assumptions, including when an
individual retires, and their final pay. The figure of £604.33m represents the liability
of current and future employees and this would not be required to be paid in one
lump sum, however, it affects the Total Reserves figure.
The Head of Finance explained the difference between the Firefighter Pension Fund
and the Local Government Pension Scheme. The Local Government Pension
Scheme was run by Cheshire West and Chester Council and was asset-backed. The
Firefighter Pension Fund was covered by two sources of funding, current
contributions paid by employees and a Government top-up grant. There was no
increase in the Government top-up grant for 2021-2022.
The Head of Finance explained the Accounting Standards that had been issued but
had not yet been adopted. The International Financial Regulatory Standard 16, the
accounting treatment of leases would come into effect in the accounts from the next
financial year.
2

Page 44

Minutes
Closure of Accounts Committee
Wednesday, 20 July 2022

The Head of Finance drew Members attention to the Assumptions made about the
future and other major sources of uncertainty. Debtors were brought to Members
attention, Central Government Bodies had decreased from £3.75m in 2021 to
£1.73m in 2022, due to the Covid Grants being paid in 2021.
A Member questioned where the cost of insurance for vehicles and people was
shown in the accounts. The Head of Finance outlined that the figure was included
within the comprehensive income and expenditure statement against the department
they were attributed to.
Members indicated that they were satisfied with the report and accompanying
information. They were happy to move onto the next item.
3

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2021-22
The Annual Governance Statement was introduced by the Treasurer. The
framework was described and the structure and scrutiny mechanisms. The External
Auditors had recommended that an Audit Committee be established for enhanced
governance, it was expected that the first meeting of this committee would take
place in November 2022.
The Treasurer outlined to Members the Internal financial controls that were in place
to maintain correct financial arrangements and safeguard the Authority. The
HMICFRS inspection gave a ‘Good’ grading and the head of internal audit gave
‘Substantial Assurance’ on the controls that the Service operated within the
organisation.
The Treasurer drew Members attention to the three areas highlighted for further
action and the progress to date for Coronavirus, Governance and HMICFRS
Inspections. He outlined the areas for action in 2022-23 and gave a summary of how
the actions would enhance the governance arrangements.
Members indicated that they were satisfied with the report and accompanying
information. They were happy to conclude the informal meeting.

3

Page 45

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item
1K
Minutes
Brigade Managers' Pay and Performance Committee
Friday, 2 September 2022

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE BRIGADE MANAGERS' PAY AND
PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE held on Friday, 2 September 2022 at Fire Conference
Room - Fire Service HQ, Clemonds Hey, Winsford, Cheshire, CW7 2UA at 10.00 am
PRESENT: Councillors Bob Rudd (Chair), Stef Nelson, Denis Murphy and Stuart Parker
1

PROCEDURAL MATTERS

A

Apologies for Absence
There were no apologies for absence. The attendees formed the interview panel.

B

Declaration of Members' Interests
There were no declarations of Members’ interests.

C

Minutes of the Brigades Managers' Pay and Performance Committee
RESOLVED:
That the minutes of the Brigade Managers’ Pay and Performance Committee
held on 24th January 2022 be confirmed as a correct record.

2

EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC
RESOLVED: That:
That under Section 100(A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended
by the Local Government (Access to Information) Order 2006, the press and
public be excluded from the meeting for the items of business listed below on
the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as
defined in Schedule 12A to the Act in the paragraphs indicated:
Item 3 – Appointment of the Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive
Paragraph (1) Information relating to any individual

3

APPOINTMENT OF THE CHIEF FIRE OFFICER AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
The Committee conducted an interview for the position of Chief Fire Officer and
Chief Executive. The Committee was provided with a debrief about other elements
of the assessment process.

Page 47

1

Minutes
Brigade Managers' Pay and Performance Committee
Friday, 2 September 2022

RESOLVED: That:
[1]

a report be presented to the Fire Authority on 28th September 2022
recommending that Mr Alex Waller be appointed as Chief Fire Officer and
Chief Executive.

2

Page 48

Agenda Item
1L
Minutes
Member Training and Development Group
Tuesday, 5 July 2022

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE MEMBER TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT
GROUP held on Tuesday, 5 July 2022 at Remote Meeting via Skype at 10.00 am
PRESENT: Councillors Gina Lewis (Chair) and Karen Mundry
1

APOLOGIES
Apologies were received from Councillors David Brown, Rob Moreton, Stuart Parker
and independent (non-elected) member Derek Barnett.

2

NOTES FROM THE PREVIOUS MEETING
RESOLVED: That
[1]

3

the notes for the meeting on Tuesday 5th April 2022 be approved as a
correct record.

MEMBER DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY 2022-24 IMPLEMENTATION QUARTERLY MONITORING
The Governance Officer presented the report on the Member Development Strategy
2022-24 Quarterly Monitoring, updating Members on progress made against the
Implementation Plan for the quarter. She provided an update in each of the
objectives that were included in the Strategy.
Objective 1 – Identify and prioritise Member training and development needs
The Democratic Services team were in the process of contacting Members to
schedule their Personal Development Reviews with the Leadership Development
Advisor, to take place during July-September 2022.
Objective 2 – Review and refresh the Members’ Personal Development Review
process to ensure that it remains effective for both experienced Members and
new Members
Further discussion was held during Item 5 of the agenda.
Objective 3 – Provision of an Annual Member Development Programme
The Member Development Programme for 2022-23 was approved by the Fire
Authority on 22nd June 2022. Further discussion was held during Item 4 of the
agenda.
Objective 4 – Delivery of a comprehensive and effective Induction process for
new Members

Page 49

1

Minutes
Member Training and Development Group
Tuesday, 5 July 2022

Four new Members joined the Fire Authority for 2022-23. All new Members had a
meeting scheduled with the Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive. A meeting would
also be arranged with their officer buddies once buddy appointments had been
confirmed by the Service Management Team. All Members were sent an electronic
copy of the Member Induction Handbook 2022-23 and a hard copy would be
provided at the Members’ Planning Day on Friday 8th July.
Objective 5 – Member Champions
Following the conclusion of the Review of the Member Champion arrangements, all
Member Champion were expected to liaise with lead officers to create role profiles of
their champion role. Champion and lead officer meetings would take place once lead
officer appointments had been finalised by the Service Management Team. A further
review of the Member Champion arrangements for 2022-23 would take place later in
the year by the Governance and Constitution Committee.
Objective 6 – Continuous Improvement
The Member Satisfaction Survey 2021-22 had concluded. Further discussion was
held during Item 6 of the agenda.
RESOLVED: That
[1]
4

the Member Development Strategy 2022-24 Implementation – Quarterly
Monitoring be noted.Quarterly Monitoring be noted.

MEMBER DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME 2022-24 - QUARTERLY MONITORING
The Governance and Corporate Planning Manager presented a quarterly update on
the Member Development Programme 2022-23. She noted that the postponed
events from 2021-22 were included within the Programme as well as generic annual
training. The Programme had been approved by the Fire Authority on 22nd June.
Members welcomed the fact that more training and development opportunities such
as the Members’ Planning Day were taking place in person. It was also noted that
some training sessions were virtual for added convenience to Members.
The Governance and Corporate Planning Manager advised that the Internal Audit
Training session had recent taken place; however, attendance was low. She advised
that officers had recorded the training session and the recording was available to
Members upon request.
The Group queried what equality, diversity and inclusion webinars were available to
Members. The Governance and Corporate Planning Manager advised that the
Equality and Inclusion Advisor was due to leave post, and this would be arranged
when his successor was appointed.
A Member requested that a training and development session on the outcome of the
2

Page 50

Minutes
Member Training and Development Group
Tuesday, 5 July 2022

White Paper on Fire Reform be available once a decision had been made by the
Government. Officers explained the matter would likely be considered at an
appropriate Members’ Planning Day.
RESOLVED: That
[1]
5

the progress on the delivery of the Member Development Programme
2022-23 be noted.

DISCUSSION ITEM - MEMBER PERSONAL DEVELOPMENT REVIEW
PROCESS
The Governance and Corporate Planning Manager introduced the discussion item
which sought the views of the Group on the current Member Personal Development
Reviews. She explained the current process for existing and new Members and
highlighted the Personal Development Plan Template attached as Appendix 1.
The Group advised they were satisfied with the process in place and believed it
worked well. The Leadership Development Advisor provided an update on the
process taking place this year. She confirmed that 14 Members had their Personal
Development Reviews scheduled and the team were awaiting confirmation of dates
for the remaining Members.

6

OUTCOMES FROM THE MEMBER SATISFACTION SURVEY 2021-22
The Governance Officer advised that the Member Satisfaction Survey 2021-22 had
received 5 responses. Due to the lack of responses, the Group agreed to extend the
survey submission deadline and the item be postponed until the next meeting.
RESOLVED: That

7

[1]

the Member Satisfaction Survey 2021-22 be extended; and

[2]

the Outcomes from the Member Satisfaction Survey 2021-22 be reported
to the Member Training and Development Group at its meeting on
Tuesday 4th October 2022.

DRAFT MEMBER TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT WORK PROGRAMME 202223
The Governance Officer provided a draft copy of the Member Training and
Development Work Programme 2022-23. Members noted the content for the
meetings and requested that a further discussion around the Member Satisfaction
Survey results was needed in October.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

subject to minor amendments, the draft Work Programme for the
Member Training and Development Group be approved.
3

Page 51

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1M
Minutes
Local Pension Board - Firefighters Pension Scheme
Tuesday, 9 August 2022

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE LOCAL PENSION BOARD - FIREFIGHTERS
PENSION SCHEME held on Tuesday, 9 August 2022 at Fire Conference Room,
Clemonds Hey, Cheshire at 2.00 pm
PRESENT: Councillors David Brown (Chair), Lee Shears (Employer), Neil McElroy (FOA)
and George Peers (FBU)
OFFICERS: Andrea Harvey (Pension Scheme Manager), Graeme Hall (Governance and
Communications Manager, XPS Administration) Emily Purslow (Pension Coordinator), Jill
Swift (Pensions Manager) and Donna Linton (Governance and Corporate Planning
Manager)
1

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
There were no apologies for absence received.

2

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
There were no declarations of interest received.

3

NOTES FROM THE PREVIOUS MEETING
RESOLVED: That
[1]

4

the minutes of the Local Pension Board held on 10th November 2021 be
confirmed as a correct record.

XPS ADMINISTRATION CHESHIRE FIRE BOARD REPORT QUARTER 1 20222023
Graeme Hall, Governance and Communications Manager from XPS Administration,
was in attendance and presented the Cheshire Fire Pension Board Report Quarter 1
of 2022-23 which contained the following information:-

Overview of Regulations and Guidance
Member Self Service
Common Data
Completed Cases Overview / by Month
Membership
Complaints

The Pensions Manager advised that additional commentary outlining the reason for
missed service level agreements had been requested in future quarterly
performance reporting. This had been included in the Risk Register as part of the

Page 53

1

Minutes
Local Pension Board - Firefighters Pension Scheme
Tuesday, 9 August 2022

‘Administration Failure / Maladministration’ Risk.
An outstanding action from the last meeting was a request for XPS Administration to
circulate the ‘In the Loop’ document to the Pension Board. Graeme Hall advised that
going forward he would send this to the Pensions Manager who would then circulate
the document to the Pensions Board, for information.
The Pension Scheme Manager referred to the ‘Completed Cases by Month’ with
specific reference to the low performance target for estimates. In response, Graeme
Hall advised the team were currently in the process of training more staff members
on how to process estimates and this would then improve the performance. At the
present time estimates were processed manually due to the McCloud Immediate
Detriment the service level agreement was 10 days. However, due to the backlog
people were now being told that this would take a few weeks. The Pension Scheme
Manager requested an improvement on the estimate target by the next meeting.
Graeme Hall provided an update on the ‘Pension Dashboard Programme’. It was
explained that the data was only provided to XPS on an annual basis, therefore any
information provided to the Dashboard was not in real-time. However, XPS were
exploring the potential to provide services with the facility to report on a monthly
basis in the future.
RESOLVED: That

5

[1]

the XPS Cheshire Fire Pension Board Report Q1 2022-23 be noted;

[2]

XPS Administration to send the ‘In the Loop’ document to the Pensions
Manager for circulation to the Pension Board; and

[3]

XPS Administration to improve the estimates performance target by the
next quarter.

FIREFIGHTER PENSION SCHEME UPDATE
The Pensions Manager presented a report which provided an overview of the
current issues relating to the Firefighters’ Pension Schemes, including updates on
the following:-

Member Statistics
McCloud – Immediate Detriment Update
McCloud – Prospective Remedy
McCloud – Data Collection Exercise
McCloud Remedy Self-Assessment Survey
Retained Firefighters Modified Pension Scheme – Matthews Remedy
Changes to Pensions Tax Legislation
Cost Cap Mechanism
Pension Dashboard Programme
XPS Business Continuity
Pensions Abatement
2

Page 54

Minutes
Local Pension Board - Firefighters Pension Scheme
Tuesday, 9 August 2022

- Managing Pension Schemes Online
- General Updates
The Pensions Manager provided a detailed update on ‘McCloud – Immediate
Detriment’. The Pension Board were advised that whilst the withdrawal of the Home
Office guidance did not impact the Memorandum of Understanding or Immediate
Detriment Framework (IDF), it did raise concerns for services who had elected to
adopt the IDF and further legal advice was sought from the LGA. As a result of the
uncertainty for members and schemes, immediate detriment had been paused until
further clarification had been received on the potential risks. Anyone in scope for
immediate detriment would therefore retire under the current rules and their case
would be reviewed and recalculated in the future.
It was reported that CFRS held a list of all retirees in scope for Immediate Detriment.
Whilst the IDF was paused national intelligence suggested that interest may be
payable in the future for each case. The costs associated with this were currently
unknown. Graeme Hall advised that the order in which different types of cases would
be prioritised was still under discussion.
As part of the LGA’s McCloud project plan, a suite of member tools and
communications had been produced including a mythbuster document and member
benefit illustrations to assist members to better understand the remedy and how it
might impact them. These tools were all available on the staff intranet and also on
www.fpsmembers.org and had been widely communicated through the Green
Bulletin.
The Pension Scheme Manager advised that the HR department would be coming
back in-house in the autumn that would provide an in-house pensions team. This
information was well received by the Pensions Board.
RESOLVED: That
[1]
6

the Firefighter Pension Scheme update be noted.

FIREFIGHTER PENSION SCHEME RISK REGISTER
The Pensions Manager presented the Firefighter Scheme Risk Register (the
Register) that had been reviewed and updated in July 2022. Updates since the last
meeting were highlighted in blue in the document.
The Pensions Manager provided an update on each of the risks and made specific
reference to the following:McCloud/Sargeant – Lack of resources to complete any remedy actions: This risk
had been included on the ‘Corporate Risk Register’ the risk was currently reviewed
every three months and the risk would be updated accordingly
Failure to migrate data from unsupported legacy HR system to supported IT
platform: This risk had been included on the ‘Corporate Risk Register’
3

Page 55

Minutes
Local Pension Board - Firefighters Pension Scheme
Tuesday, 9 August 2022

Failure to offer split pensions to all eligible staff at point of retirement: The Pensions
Manager asked the Pension Board’s permission to remove this risk from the Risk
Register as there had been no further issues or complaints regarding split pensions
and this was now business as usual. The Board were in agreement.
McCloud Immediate Detriment – Failure to remove discrimination in the work place.
This was a new risk and had also been included on the ‘Corporate Risk Register’
RESOLVED: That

7

[1]

the Firefighter Scheme Risk Register be noted; and

[2]

the ‘Failure to offer split pensions to all eligible staff at a point of
retirement be removed from the Risk Register.

JCNP PENSIONS UPDATE
The Pension Scheme Manager reported that the main issues raised at the last
meeting of the JCNP on 26th May 2022 by the FBU was in relation to the service’s
position on Immediate Detriment.
The Pension Scheme Manager confirmed that the position remained unchanged and
due to the ongoing risks to both the service and members of the scheme, no
immediate detriment payments were being processed. She advised that at the point
where the situation was clearer in respect of taxation and costs with a resolution to
mitigate the risks, that the service would reconsider its stance. The FBU Pension
Board Member confirmed his understanding and agreement with the service’s
decision to pause the payment at this time.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

8

the update be noted.

PENSION BOARD TRAINING UPDATE
The Pension Scheme Manager reminded Board Members that the LGA Pension
Team would be hosting the ‘annual wrap-up’ training session on Wednesday 10th
August 2022 via Zoom and all Board Members and Officers were encouraged to
attend.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

the update be noted.

4

Page 56

Agenda Item 2
CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY
MEETING OF:
DATE:
REPORT OF:
AUTHOR:

SUBJECT:

CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY
28 SEPTEMBER 2022
GRANT THORNTON, EXTERNAL AUDITORS
HEAD OF FINANCE

EXTERNAL AUDIT FINDINGS REPORT 2021-22

Purpose of Report
1.

To present the 2021-22 audit findings of the external auditors Grant Thornton.

Recommended that:
[1]

the content of the Audit Findings Report 2021-22 be noted.

Information
2.

Under the International Standards of Auditing (UK) (ISAs), External Audit is
required to report whether, in its opinion:
•

the Authority's financial statements give a true and fair view of the
Authority's financial position and of the group and Authority's
expenditure and income for the year; and

•

have been properly prepared in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC
code of practice on local authority accounting and prepared in
accordance with the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.

3.

External Audit also reports on the value for money arrangements, though this
will not occur until later this financial year.

4.

The Audit Findings Report 2021-22, attached as Appendix 1 to this report, sets
out the processes and checks Grant Thornton has undertaken together with its
findings and opinions. There are some outstanding items to be completed and
which are noted in the Appendix. Should Grant Thornton become aware of any
issues which have an adverse impact on its audit opinion a further report will
be provided to Members.

5.

Representatives from Grant Thornton will attend the meeting to present the
report and deal with questions from Members.

CONTACT: DONNA LINTON, GOVERNANCE AND CORPORATE PLANNING
MANAGER
TEL: [01606] 868804
BACKGROUND PAPERS: NONE

Page 57

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1 to Item 2
Cheshire Fire Authority
28 September 2022

Page 59

Commercial in confidence

Page 60

Commercial in confidence

•

•
•

Page 61

•

•
•
•
•
•

Commercial in confidence

Page 62
•

•

Commercial in confidence

•

Page 63

•

Commercial in confidence

Page 64

Commercial in confidence

•
•
•

Page 65

•

•

Commercial in confidence

•
•

•

Page 66

•
•
•
•
•

Commercial in confidence

•
•
•
•
•

Page 67

•
•

•

Commercial in confidence

Land and
Building
valuations –
£95m

•

Page 68

•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•






Commercial in confidence

Net pension liability
– £604m

•

•

Page 69















Commercial in confidence

Net pension liability –
£602m (continued)

•
•
•
•

Page 70





•

Commercial in confidence

Page 71

Commercial in confidence

Page 72

Commercial in confidence

•

Page 73

•

•
•
•
•
•
•

Commercial in confidence

Page 74

•
•
•

Commercial in confidence

Page 75

Commercial in confidence

Page 76

Commercial in confidence

Page 77

Commercial in confidence

Page 78
Transparency report 2020
(grantthornton.co.uk)

Page 79

Commercial in confidence

Page 80




Commercial in confidence

✓

Page 81
✓

Commercial in confidence

Page 82

Commercial in confidence

Page 83

Commercial in confidence

Independent auditor's report to the members of Cheshire Fire Authority
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion on financial statements
We have audited the financial statements of Cheshire Fire Authority (the ‘Authority’) for the year ended 31 March 2022, which comprise the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement, the Movement in Reserves Statement, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies
and include the firefighters' pension fund financial statements comprising the Fund Account and the Net Assets Statement. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their
preparation is applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of practice on local authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22.
In our opinion, the financial statements:

Page 84
•

give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Authority as at 31 March 2022 and of its expenditure and income for the year then ended;

•

have been properly prepared in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of practice on local authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22; and

•

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law, as required by the Code of Audit Practice (2020) (“the Code of Audit
Practice”) approved by the Comptroller and Auditor General. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the Authority in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including
the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. W e believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Conclusions relating to going concern
We are responsible for concluding on the appropriateness of the Treasurer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the auditor’s opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Authority to cease to continue as a going concern.
In our evaluation of the Treasurer’s conclusions, and in accordance with the expectation set out within the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of practice on local authority accounting in the United
Kingdom 2021/22 that the Authority’s financial statements shall be prepared on a going concern basis, we considered the inherent risks associated with the continuation of services provided
by the Authority. In doing so we had regard to the guidance provided in Practice Note 10 Audit of financial statements and regularity of public sector bodies in the United Kingdom (Revised
2020) on the application of ISA (UK) 570 Going Concern to public sector entities. We assessed the reasonableness of the basis of preparation used by the Authority and the Authority’s
disclosures over the going concern period.

Commercial in confidence

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the
Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Treasurer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. The
responsibilities of the Treasurer with respect to going concern are described in the ‘Responsibilities of the Authority, the Treasurer and Those Charged with Governance for the financial
statements’ section of this report.
Other information
The Treasurer is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the Statement of Accounts, other than the financial statements, and our
auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Page 85

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Other information we are required to report on by exception under the Code of Audit Practice
Under the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office in April 2020 on behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General (the Code of Audit Practice) we are required to
consider whether the Annual Governance Statement does not comply with ‘delivering good governance in Local Government Framework 2016 Edition’ published by CIPFA and SOLACE or is
misleading or inconsistent with the information of which we are aware from our audit. We are not required to consider whether the Annual Governance Statement addresses all risks and
controls or that risks are satisfactorily addressed by internal controls.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Opinion on other matters required by the Code of Audit Practice
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial statements and our knowledge of the Authority, the other information published together with the
financial statements in the Statement of Accounts for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if:
•

we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or

•

we make a written recommendation to the Authority under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or

Commercial in confidence

•

we make an application to the court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary to law under Section 28 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at
the conclusion of the audit; or;

•

we issue an advisory notice under Section 29 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or

•

we make an application for judicial review under Section 31 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit.

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters.

Responsibilities of the Authority, the Treasurer and Those Charged with Governance for the financial statements

Page 86

As explained in the Statement of Responsibilities [set out on page 16], the Authority is required to make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure that
one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs. In this authority, that officer is the Treasurer. The Treasurer is responsible for the preparation of the Statement of
Accounts, which includes the financial statements, in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of practice on local authority accounting in the United Kingdom
2021/22, for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Treasurer determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Treasurer is responsible for assessing the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless there is an intention by government that the services provided by the Authority will no longer be provided.
The Authority is Those Charged with Governance. Those Charged with Governance are responsible for overseeing the Authority’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This
description forms part of our auditor’s report.
Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material
misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that material misstatements in the financial statements may
not be detected, even though the audit is properly planned and performed in accordance with the ISAs (UK).

Commercial in confidence

The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below:
•

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the Authority and determined that the most significant, which are directly relevant to
specific assertions in the financial statements, are those related to the reporting frameworks (international accounting standards as interpreted and adapted by the CIPFA/LASAAC
Code of practice on local authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22, The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 and the Local
Government Act 2003. We also identified the following additional regulatory frameworks in respect of the firefighters pension fund, the Public Service Pensions Act 2013, the
Firefighters’ Pension Scheme (England) Regulations 2014 and the Firefighters’ Pension Scheme (England) Order 2006.

•

We enquired of senior officers and the Authority, concerning the Authority’s policies and procedures relating to:

•

Page 87
•

•

−

the identification, evaluation and compliance with laws and regulations;

−

the detection and response to the risks of fraud; and

−

the establishment of internal controls to mitigate risks related to fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations.

We enquired of senior officers, internal audit and the Authority, whether they were aware of any instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations or whether they had any
knowledge of actual, suspected or alleged fraud.

We assessed the susceptibility of the Authority’s financial statements to material misstatement, including how fraud might occur, by evaluating officers’ incentives and opportunities for
manipulation of the financial statements. This included the evaluation of the risk of management override of controls. We determined that the principal risks were in relation to:
−

non-routine journal entries, and key accounting estimates around the valuation of land and buildings and the pension liability.

Our audit procedures involved:
−

evaluation of the design effectiveness of controls that the Treasurer has in place to prevent and detect fraud;

−

journal entry testing, with a focus on non-routine transactions;

−

challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in its significant accounting estimates in respect of the valuation of land and buildings and the pension
liability;

−

assessing the extent of compliance with the relevant laws and regulations as part of our procedures on the related financial statement item.

•

These audit procedures were designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements were free from fraud or error. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error and detecting irregularities that result from fraud is inherently more difficult than detecting those that result
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, deliberate concealment, forgery or intentional misrepresentations. Also, the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is
from events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely we would become aware of it.

•

Our assessment of the appropriateness of the collective competence and capabilities of the engagement team included consideration of the engagement team's.
−

understanding of, and practical experience with audit engagements of a similar nature and complexity through appropriate training and participation

−

knowledge of the local government sector

Commercial in confidence

−

•

understanding of the legal and regulatory requirements specific to the Authority including:
−

the provisions of the applicable legislation

−

guidance issued by CIPFA/LASAAC and SOLACE

−

the applicable statutory provisions.

In assessing the potential risks of material misstatement, we obtained an understanding of:
−

the Authority’s operations, including the nature of its income and expenditure and its services and of its objectives and strategies to understand the classes of transactions,
account balances, expected financial statement disclosures and business risks that may result in risks of material misstatement.

−

the Authority's control environment, including the policies and procedures implemented by the Authority to ensure compliance with the requirements of the financial reporting
framework.

Page 88

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources
Matter on which we are required to report by exception – the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, we have not been able to satisfy ourselves that the Authority has made proper arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2022.
Our work on the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources is not yet complete. The outcome of our work will be reported in our
commentary on the Authority’s arrangements in our Auditor’s Annual Report. If we identify any significant weaknesses in these arrangements, these will be reported by exception in a further
auditor’s report. We are satisfied that this work does not have a material effect on our opinion on the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022.
Responsibilities of the Authority
The Authority is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and
governance, and to review regularly the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources
We are required under Section 20(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the Authority has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the Authority's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively.

Commercial in confidence

We undertake our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the guidance issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in December 2021. This guidance sets
out the arrangements that fall within the scope of ‘proper arrangements’. When reporting on these arrangements, the Code of Audit Practice requires auditors to structure their commentary
on arrangements under three specified reporting criteria:
•

Financial sustainability: how the Authority plans and manages its resources to ensure it can continue to deliver its services;

•

Governance: how the Authority ensures that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its risks; and

•

Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness: how the Authority uses information about its costs and performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services.

We document our understanding of the arrangements the Authority has in place for each of these three specified reporting criteria, gathering sufficient evidence to support our risk
assessment and commentary in our Auditor’s Annual Report. In undertaking our work, we consider whether there is evidence to suggest that there are significant weaknesses in
arrangements.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Delay in certification of completion of the audit

Page 89

We cannot formally conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate for Cheshire Fire Authority for the year ended 31 March 2022 in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice until we have completed:
•

our work on the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources and issued our Auditor’s Annual Report’

•

the work necessary to issue our Whole of Government Accounts (WGA) Component Assurance statement for the Authority for the year ended 31 March 2022.

We are satisfied that this work does not have a material effect on the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022.
Use of our report
This report is made solely to the members of the Authority, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 [and as set out in paragraph 43 of the
Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited]. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the
Authority’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the Authority and the Authority's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Signature:
Michael Green, Key Audit Partner
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Local Auditor

Manchester
Date: TBC

Commercial in confidence

Page 90

Commercial in confidence

vii.

Except as disclosed in the financial statements:
a.

there are no unrecorded liabilities, actual or contingent

b.

none of the assets of the Authority has been assigned, pledged or mortgaged

c.

there are no material prior year charges or credits, nor exceptional or non-recurring items requiring separate disclosure.

Page 91

viii.

Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards
and the Code.

ix.

All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which International Financial Reporting Standards and the Code require adjustment or disclosure have been
adjusted or disclosed.

x.

We have considered the adjusted misstatements, and misclassification and disclosures changes schedules included in your Audit Findings Report. The Authority’s financial
statements have been amended for these misstatements, misclassifications and disclosure changes and are free of material misstatements, including omissions.

xi.

Actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards.

xii.

We have no plans or intentions that may materially alter the carrying value or classification of assets and liabilities reflected in the financial statements.

xiii.

We have updated our going concern assessment. We continue to believe that the Authority’s financial statements should be prepared on a going concern basis and have not
identified any material uncertainties related to going concern on the grounds that :
a.

the nature of the Authority means that, notwithstanding any intention to cease its operations in their current form, it will continue to be appropriate to adopt the going concern
basis of accounting because, in such an event, services it performs can be expected to continue to be delivered by related public authorities and preparing the financial
statements on a going concern basis will still provide a faithful representation of the items in the financial statements

b.

the financial reporting framework permits the entry to prepare its financial statements on the basis of the presumption set out under a) above; and

c.

the Authority’s system of internal control has not identified any events or conditions relevant to going concern.

We believe that no further disclosures relating to the Authority's ability to continue as a going concern need to be made in the financial statements

Information Provided
xiv.

We have provided you with:
a.

access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation of the Authority’s financial statements such as records, documentation and other matters;

b.

additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of your audit; and

access to persons within the Authority via remote arrangements from whom you determined it necessary to obtain audit evidence.

Commercial in confidence

xv.

We have communicated to you all deficiencies in internal control of which management is aware.

xvi.

All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial statements.

xvii.

We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud.

xviii.

We have disclosed to you all information in relation to fraud or suspected fraud that we are aware of and that affects the Authority and involves:

Page 92

a.

management;

b.

employees who have significant roles in internal control; or

c.

others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements.

xix.

We have disclosed to you all information in relation to allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the financial statements communicated by employees, former employees,
analysts, regulators or others.

xx.

We have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered when preparing
financial statements.

xxi.

We have disclosed to you the identity of the Authority's related parties and all the related party relationships and transactions of which we are aware.

xxii.

We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be considered when preparing the financial statements.

Annual Governance Statement
xxiii.

We are satisfied that the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) fairly reflects the Authority's risk assurance and governance framework and we confirm that we are not aware of any
significant risks that are not disclosed within the AGS.

Narrative Report
xxiv.

The disclosures within the Narrative Report fairly reflect our understanding of the Authority's financial and operating performance over the period covered by the Authority’s financial
statements.

Approval
The approval of this letter of representation was minuted by the Authority at its meeting on 28 September 2022.

Commercial in confidence

Councillor Rudd
Chair of Cheshire Fire Authority
28 September 2022
Dear Sir

Page 93

Under the 2020 Code of Audit Practice, for relevant authorities other
than local NHS bodies we are required to issue our Auditor’s Annual
Report no later than 30 September or, where this is not possible, issue
an audit letter setting out the reasons for delay.
As a result of the ongoing pandemic, and the impact it has had on both
preparers and auditors of accounts to complete their work as quickly as
would normally be expected, the National Audit Office has updated its
guidance to auditors to allow us to postpone completion of our work on
arrangements to secure value for money and focus our resources firstly
on the delivery of our opinions on the financial statements. This is
intended to help ensure as many as possible could be issued in line
with national timetables and legislation.
As a result, we have therefore not yet issued our Auditor’s Annual
Report, including our commentary on arrangements to secure value for
money. We now expect to publish our report no later than 31 December
2022.
For the purposes of compliance with the 2020 Code, this letter
constitutes the required audit letter explaining the reasons for delay.
Yours faithfully
Michael Green
Director

Page 94

Agenda Item 3
CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY
MEETING OF:
DATE:
REPORT OF:
AUTHOR:

SUBJECT:

CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY
28 SEPTEMBER 2022
TREASURER
PAUL VAUGHAN

FINAL ACCOUNTS 2021-22 AND ANNUAL
GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

Purpose of Report
1.

Current regulations require the Authority to approve its audited Statement of
Accounts for publication on or before 30th September 2022. This report
summaries the changes that have been made to the draft Statement of
Accounts.

2.

The Statement of Accounts includes the Annual Governance Statement that the
Authority is also required to approve and publish within the same timeframe as
the Statement of Accounts.

Recommended: That;
[1]

The 2021-22 Annual Governance Statement be approved;

[2]

The 2021-22 Statement of Accounts, contained in Appendix 1 to this
report, be approved and the Chair, Treasurer, Chief Fire Officer and
Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer be authorised to sign the
Statement of Accounts and Annual Governance Statement upon receipt
of the finalised audit opinion: and

[3]

The Letter of Representation, as detailed at Appendix 2 to this report, be
approved for signature by the Chair and Chief Fire Officer and Chief
Executive on behalf of the Authority.

Background
3.

The draft Statement of Accounts were reported to an informal meeting of
members of Performance and Overview Committee, which acts as the Closure
of Accounts Committee, on 20th July 2022. The 2021-22 Annual Governance
Statement was also considered at the meeting. This provided an opportunity
for Member scrutiny before its inclusion with the accounts.

Page 95

Statutory Requirements
4.

The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 (the Regulations) set out the
requirements for the production and publication of the annual Statement of
Accounts. The Regulations were amended because of the Covid-19 Pandemic
and the deadlines remain 31st July for draft accounts and 30th September for
audited accounts for 2021-22. To comply with the Regulations the draft
Statement of Accounts were approved by the Treasurer following consideration
by the Closure of Accounts Committee and submitted to the External Auditors.

5.

The Regulations, as amended, require the audited Statement of Accounts,
including an updated Treasurer’s Certificate, to be approved by the Authority on
or before 30 September 2022. At the time of writing this report, the audit had
nearly been completed, but some queries remained and a verbal update will be
given at the meeting.

6.

The Regulations stipulate that the accounts must be prepared in accordance
with “proper practices”. The CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority
Accounting is relied upon to describe proper practices. It is based on
International Financial Reporting Standards. The Code requires a great deal of
financial information to be produced, including a comprehensive set of notes
supporting the main financial statements, which are: a Comprehensive Income
and Expenditure Statement, a Movement in Reserves Statement, a Balance
Sheet, a Cash Flow Statement and a Firefighter Pension Fund Statement.

7.

The Regulations also contain the requirements for the preparation and
publication of the Annual Governance Statement (AGS). The AGS sets out how
the Authority has reviewed the effectiveness of its system of internal controls
and the assurance provided by the Governance Framework, as set out in
Section 2 of the AGS. The inclusion of the AGS in the Statement of Accounts
and approval by the Authority provides compliance with the Regulations. The
AGS commences on page 88 of the Statement of Accounts.

Changes to the Statement of Accounts
8.

Since the draft accounts were approved there have been a few minor changes
made in relation to areas raised by External Audit. The revised version is
attached as Appendix 1 to this report. The changes are set out below:
•
•

A minor change in the wording of accounting policy 1.15 relating to Inventory
to update the policy
A change to note 23 to incorporate the date on which the new Treasurer
started in role.

Page 96

Letter of representation
9.

Each year, the Authority is required to sign a Letter of Representation
addressed to the Auditors. The Letter explains the Authority’s responsibilities
in relation to the audit, and a copy is attached as Appendix 2 to this report. It is
recommended that the Authority approves the letter and authorises the Chair
and the Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive to sign it. It should be noted that
at the time of writing there were some audit work to be completed that may need
to be reflected in the letter, as will be explained by the auditors at the meeting.
Should this be the case a revised letter will be prepared for signature.

Financial Implications
10.

This report deals with financial matters.
implications as a result of the report.

There are no direct budgetary

Legal Implications
11.

The approval and publication of the accounts is a legal requirement.

Equality and Diversity Implications
12.

There are no equality and diversity implications arising from this report.

Environmental Implications
13.

Copies of the accounts will be made available in electronic format, with the
number of hard copies published kept to a minimum in recognition of the
environmental impact.

CONTACT: DONNA LINTON, GOVERNANCE AND CORPORATE PLANNING
MANAGER
TEL [01606] 868804
BACKGROUND PAPERS: NONE

Page 97

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1 to Item 3
Cheshire Fire Authority
28 September 2022

Cheshire Fire Authority
Statement of Accounts
2021-22

Page 99

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS
Contents

Page

Narrative Report

4

Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts

16

Expenditure and Funding Analysis Note

17

Financial Statements
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

19

Movement in Reserves Statement

20

Balance Sheet

21

Cash Flow Statement

22

Firefighter Pension Fund Statement

23

Notes to the Financial Statements (including accounting policies)
List of the notes

26

Note 1: Accounting Policies

27

Note 2 onwards

43

Glossary of terms

81

Annual Governance Statement

88

87

Page 100
2|Page

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

For further information please contact:
Paul Vaughan
Treasurer, Cheshire Fire Authority
Clemonds Hey, Winsford
Cheshire CW7 2UA

Page 101
3|Page

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

NARRATIVE REPORT
1.

Introduction

1.1

Welcome to the 2021-22 Cheshire Fire Authority Statement of Accounts. Cheshire Fire
Authority (“the Authority”) is the publicly accountable body that manages the Fire and
Rescue Service (“the Service”) on behalf of local communities. The Authority is
responsible for providing an efficient and effective fire and rescue service that protects
the communities of Cheshire. The Authority consists of twenty-three elected Members
appointed by Cheshire East Borough Council; Cheshire West and Chester Borough
Council; Halton Borough Council; and Warrington Borough Council.

1.2

The Authority is dedicated to providing the communities of Cheshire with a fire and
rescue service that is committed to saving lives, changing lives and protecting lives to
achieve its vision of a Cheshire where there are no deaths, injuries or damage from fires
and other emergencies.

1.3

The Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive and the Service Management Team lead
Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service. The service operates from twenty-eight fire stations
across Cheshire, staffed in a number of different ways to reflect local risks and demands.
The Service also operates three community safety teams; three fire protection offices; a
joint headquarters with Cheshire Constabulary; an operational training centre; Safety
Central - the safety and life skills centre in Lymm; and fleet workshops.

2.

Financial Statements

2.1

The accounts include a note called the ‘Expenditure and Funding Analysis’ which is shown
on pages 16 and 17 before the main financial statements. This note shows how annual
expenditure is used and funded from Government grants, council tax and business rates
by the Authority in comparison with those resources consumed or earned by the
Authority in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices. It also shows how
this expenditure is allocated for decision-making purposes between the Authority’s
services and departments. Income and expenditure accounted for under generally
accepted accounting practices is presented more fully in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement on page 18.

2.2

The Movement in Reserves Statement shows the movement from the start to the end of
the year on the different reserves held by the Authority. This is analysed into ‘usable
reserves’ (i.e. those that can currently be used to fund expenditure or reduce local
taxation) and other ‘unusable’ reserves (technical accounting adjustment accounts
reflecting the difference between the outcome of applying proper accounting practices
and the statutory requirements for funding expenditure within the public sector). It shows
how the movements in year of the Authority’s reserves are broken down between gains
and losses incurred in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices and the
statutory adjustments required to return to the amounts chargeable to council tax for the
year. This Statement has a strong link to the Expenditure and Funding Analysis and
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Page 102
4|Page

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

2.3

The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement shows the resources consumed
or earned by the Authority in accordance with generally accepted accounting practice.

2.4

The Balance Sheet is a statement showing the Authority’s assets and liabilities i.e. what is
owned and what is owed as at 31st March.

2.5

The final primary statement is the Cashflow Statement. This shows the changes in cash
and cash equivalents of the Authority during the financial year. The statement shows how
the Authority generates and uses cash by classifying cash flows as operating, investing and
financing activities. The amount of net cashflows arising from operating activities is a key
indicator of the extent to which the operations of the Authority are funded by way of
taxation and grant income or from the recipients of services provided by the Authority.
Investing activities represent the extent to which cash outflows have been made for
resources, which are intended to contribute to service delivery.

2.6

During 2021-22, the Authority maintained an average cash balance of around £18m
(2020-21 £16m) each month with fluctuations dependent on payroll and paying creditors
versus when grants, precept, business rates and income were received. The main impact
on these balances going forward is the funding of capital expenditure such as fire station
refurbishment, vehicles, equipment and IT as agreed by the Authority. Two Public Works
Loan Board (PWLB) loans were taken out during the year (£4m in July 2021 and £3m in
November 2021) with maturity dates of 30th September 2069 and 2071. As at 31st March
2022, the Authority’s PWLB debt stood at £12m.

3.

Financial Performance 2021-22

3.1

Where does the Authority get its revenue funding from?

3.1.1. The Authority receives over half of its revenue funding from its share of the council tax
(called the precept), which is collected by the four constituent local authorities. The
2021-22 precept approved by the Authority increased by 1.99% (£80.87 compared to
£79.29 in 2020-21 for a Band D property). In addition to the precept, the Authority
receives its share of any surplus or deficit on the council tax collection funds. For
2021-22, this amounted to a surplus allocation (council tax only) of £0.2m (deficit
allocation in 2020-21 of £0.3m).

Page 103
5|Page

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

3.1.2. The majority of the balance of revenue funding comes from the Government and the four
local authorities in the form of the Settlement Funding Assessment. This can be broken
down into two elements – Revenue Support Grant and Baseline Funding Level. Revenue
Support Grant is determined by the Government and allocated based on a formula. Baseline
Funding Level is the amount, which the Government determines, should be receivable by the
Authority for its share of business rates as collected by the four local authorities. However,
the amount of business rates due is not sufficient to meet the Baseline Funding Level so the
Government also pays the Authority a ‘top-up’ grant to meet the shortfall. The 2021-22
funding amounts for the Authority were:
Fire Authority’s Funding 2021-22
Council Tax
Council Tax – collection fund surplus
Revenue Support Grant
Business Rates
'Top-up' Grant

£000
(4,013)
(4,507)
(5,190)

£000
(30,789)
(177)

%
69.21
0.40
9.02
10.13
11.67

(13,710)
Business Rates – collection fund deficit
Business Rates – Section 31 Grant
Local Tax Income Guarantee/ compensation
- business rates element (2020-21 adjustment)
Local council tax support grant

774
(1,643)

(1.74)
3.69

36

(0.08)

(505)

Appropriation to Collection Fund Adjustment Account
- council tax element
- business rates element

260
1,257

1.14
(0.58)
(2.83)

1,517
Transfer to / (from) reserve
Total
3.2

14
(44,483)

(0.03)
100.00

What does the Authority spend its money on?

3.2.1. The majority of the Authority’s expenditure relates to employee costs. The following chart
shows a breakdown of what was spent by the Authority in 2021-22 by expenditure type.
Expenditure by type 2021-22 £m
Other costs,
£1.08m, 2%

Capital & other
adjustments,
£14.47m, 24%

Agency and
contracted
services,
£5.17m, 8%
Supplies &
Services,
£3.88m, 6%
Transport,
£1.1m, 2%

Employee
Related,
£32.76m, 54%

Premises,
£2.61m, 4%

Page 104
6|Page

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

3.2.2. On 10th February 2021, the Authority approved the 2021-22 revenue budget of £46m
together with a capital programme of £8m. Budget monitoring reports are presented to
the Performance and Overview Committee on a quarterly basis focusing on the forecast
outturn position and revisions to the overall budget in response to changes in-year.
3.2.3. At the end of the financial year the Authority’s outturn included an underspend of £314k
which has been transferred to the capital reserve. Details are shown in the table below.
2021-22
Budget
£000
28,236

2021-22
Actual
£000
29,091

Protection

1,826

1,672

65

(89)

Prevention

2,374

2,061

9

(304)

10,539

10,022

270

(247)

Unitary Performance Groups

100

36

64

-

Finance resources

376

(378)

-

(754)

-

-

-

-

2,752

-

1,474

(1,278)

(46,203)

(44,497)

14

1,720

-

1

-

1

314

314

1,992

-

Fire Authority’s Service Area
Firefighting & Rescue Operations

Support Services

Contributions to/(from) provisions
Contributions to/(from) reserves
Funding
Roundings
2021-22 Surplus transferred to capital reserve

-

Cheshire Fire Total

(1,992)

Reserve Revised
Funding Variance
£000
£000
(218)
637

3.2.4. The main reasons for variances were reported during the year to the Performance and
Overview Committee and a final report was presented to the Authority at its meeting in
June 2022.
3.2.5. Some of the key variances during the year resulted from:
▪

Overspends in pay costs on Service Delivery as a result of running over
establishment to ensure continuity at a time of high turnover, allied to the impact
of unbudgeted pay awards, and the continuing impact of Covid on Service
Delivery.

▪

Underspends resulting from the impact of Covid including a reduction in
Prevention activity and delays in the delivery of operational and corporate training

▪

Some in year reduction in IT costs

▪

Additional Government grant, which has offset some of the additional Covid costs.

Page 105
7|Page

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

3.3

Capital

3.3.1. During 2021-22 the Authority spent almost £5m on capital as follows:
Authority’s Capital Expenditure
Training Centre
Fire Station Builds & Modernisation Programme
Fire Houses
Fire Appliances
Rapid Response Rescue Units and equipment
Other Vehicles
Equipment
Total

2021-22
£000
22
2,611
237
1,148
387
216
346
4,967

3.3.2. The fire station modernisation programme includes investment at Audlem, Holmes
Chapel, Northwich and Widnes fire stations.
3.3.3. As well as the standard capital spending on fire appliances, support vehicles and equipment,
a new Scorpion High Reach extending turret appliance was delivered in September 2021. The
telehandler for use at the operational training centre was delivered in January 2022.
4.

Non-financial performance

4.1

The Service’s Performance and Programme Board receives a quarterly review of performance
against the Service’s Key Performance Indicators (KPIs). The Board is responsible for
monitoring and reviewing progress against performance targets and ensuring that action to
improve performance is taken wherever possible if targets are not being met. The quarterly
reviews are presented to the Performance and Overview Committee.

4.2

The 2021-22 Corporate Performance Scorecard for the year is shown below.

Page 106
8|Page

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

4.3

During 2021-22, the Authority received its second inspection from Her Majesty’s
Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS). This examined how
the Authority had built on the findings of the first inspection in 2018. The report from this
latest inspection was published in December 2021 and can be viewed here:
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/frs-assessment-2021-22cheshire/.

4.4

The Service is pleased to have been graded as “Good” across each of the main inspection
criteria: effectiveness; efficiency; and how the staff are looked after. An action plan will be
developed to address the findings of the inspection and drive further improvement.

4.5

Collaborative working

4.5.1. During 2021-22, the Service continued to strengthen its collaborative working with other
emergency services and organisations and undertook a number of initiatives to the
benefit of the community.
4.5.2. On the 9th September 2021, the Service joined forces with Cheshire Constabulary to
celebrate 999 Day, also known as Emergency Services Day. The special day celebrates all
of the emergency services' hard work and dedication. Across the UK, all emergency
services from the likes of police, fire and ambulance support and mark the day, along with
HM The Queen; HRH The Prince of Wales; HRH The Duke of Cambridge; the Prime
Minister; and the First Ministers of Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales.

4.5.3. A team of young people from the Macclesfield Prince’s Trust programme raised money to
buy life-saving equipment for the community. They completed 300,000 steps between
them over five days, amongst other fundraising challenges, to raise £950 to help buy a
much-needed defibrillator for St John’s Ambulance, which is based in Macclesfield.

Page 107
9|Page

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

4.6

Other achievements

4.6.1. Two firefighters from Cheshire have been honoured with a Queen’s Commendation for
Bravery. Nigel Quarmby and Colin Burgess were recognised with the commendation for
their efforts in rescuing a woman from the River Mersey in 2018. They were both
nominated for the accolade and received their commendation following approval of the
George Cross Committee. A gallantry award recognises those who have put their lives in
danger to save the life of someone else.

4.6.2. The Service is the most inclusive LGBT+ inclusive emergency service and the second most

inclusive workplace in the UK. According to Stonewall for the first time ever, the Service is
the highest performing public sector organisation. It is also the top performing emergency
service in the Stonewall Top 100 employers list in the UK for the sixth year in a row. For
this year’s 2022 index, Stonewall also graded organisations with gold, silver and bronze
standards in recognition of the quality of their inclusion work. The Service was awarded
gold and the Service’s LGBT network, Firepride, received a Highly Commended Network
accolade.

4.6.3. The Authority welcomed HRH The Earl of Wessex to Winsford to officially open the new
state-of-the-art training centre at Sadler Road. Firefighters demonstrated how the
training centre will be used to ensure the Service’s firefighters have the expertise and
knowledge to keep residents safe.

Page 108
10 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

4.6.4. The Authority invested in new technology with the purchase of ‘The Scorpion’, a high
reach fire engine, also known as a High-Reach Extendable Turret (HRET). It operates as a
normal fire engine, but also houses a large extendable boom, which has the ability to
deliver water and foam from height, which is crucial when dealing with building fires and
fires in industrial yards. Following training and familiarisation for crews, it become
operational in early 2022.

4.6.5. More than 45 firefighters tackled a blaze covering over a square kilometre of marsh at
Parkgate on the evening of Saturday 19th March 2022. It created what onlookers called ‘a
wall of flames’ across the Neston Reedbed, home to a large variety of wildlife. There were
two areas of fire spreading around the Reedbed, part of the Royal Society for the
Protection of Birds nature reserve.

Page 109
11 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

4.6.6. The effects of climate change mean that the Service needs to adapt to more frequent
occurrences of wildfire, particularly in the remote moorland areas of Cheshire. The
Authority has worked with staff to procure specialist protective equipment and tools to
improve capability to fight wildfires. The service has also procured a specialist all-terrain
vehicle, which will be housed at Poynton Fire Station. This will enable firefighters to tackle
fires on difficult or inaccessible terrain such as exposed moorland. The vehicle purchased
is an Argocat 8x8 with an all-terrain trailer and on-board fogging system. The vehicle will
allow transport of crews and equipment over all areas of a wildfire incident that would be
inaccessible to the Service’s existing fleet of vehicles. The water tanks on board the
vehicle and high misting lances allow 270 litres of water to be transported easily to the
scene of operations and used to attack a fire by dampening areas to strengthen the
firebreaks.
5.

Pension Liability

5.1

The Authority as a responsible employer encourages its employees to participate in a
pension scheme. Firefighters have access to four schemes dependent upon when they
joined. These are the 1992 Firefighter Pension Scheme; the 2006 Firefighter Pension
Scheme; a modified version of the 2006 scheme; and the Firefighter Pension Scheme
2015. For non-firefighters, the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) is available.

5.2

Under the International Accountings Standards (IAS19), the way in which pensions are
reported within these accounts must reflect the full liability incurred for future pension
costs in the year it is earned. Therefore, each year the value of the liability is calculated by
the Authority’s actuaries and is shown on the balance sheet as a long-term liability. The
large pension liability shows what the Authority would owe if it had to pay all the
pensions for all the existing and retired firefighters and staff in the pension schemes on
31st March. This would not happen as the actual payment of such pensions is made over
many years and is funded by future contributions from firefighters and staff, together
with Government funding.

5.3

Two employment tribunal cases were brought against the Government in relation to
possible discrimination in the implementation of transitional protection following the
introduction of the reformed 2015 public service pension schemes from 1st April 2015.
Transitional protection enabled some members to remain in their pre-2015 schemes after
1st April 2015 until retirement or the end of a pre-determined tapered protection period.
The claimants challenged the transitional protection arrangements on the grounds of
direct age discrimination, equal pay and indirect gender and race discrimination.

5.4

The first case (McCloud) relating to the Judicial Pension Scheme was ruled in favour of the
claimants, while the second case (Sargeant) in relation to the Fire scheme was ruled
against the claimants. Both rulings were appealed and as the two cases were closely
linked, the Court of Appeal decided to combine the two cases. In December 2018, the
Court of Appeal ruled that the transitional protection offered to some members as part of
the reforms amounts to unlawful discrimination. On 27th June 2019, the Supreme Court
denied the Government’s request for an appeal in the case.

Page 110
12 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

5.5

On 16th July 2020, the Government published a consultation on the proposed remedy to
be applied to Firefighters’ Pension Schemes and LGPS benefits in response to the McCloud
and Sargeant cases. The consultation closed on 8th October 2020 and the Treasury
published its response to the consultation on 4th February 2021, confirming its approach
to remedying age discrimination.

6.

North West Fire Control / NW Fire Control Limited (NWFC)

6.1

NW Fire Control Limited is a company limited by guarantee, which was incorporated in
July 2007 and was established to operate a Regional Control Centre with the responsibility
for Fire and Rescue Service call handling and mobilisation for the North West region. It has
operated successfully since 2019, dealing with calls for Cheshire, Cumbria, Greater
Manchester and Lancashire fire and rescue services.

6.2

During 2018-19, a further detailed assessment for Group Accounting requirements took
place in respect of NWFC. This is in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom based on International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS 10, 11 & 12). It was determined that the company is governed by Joint
Control due to the fact that unanimous consent exists for key decisions and that each
Authority (including Cheshire) has equal voting rights. Based on materiality, i.e. would it
significantly change any individual balance within the accounts, the requirement for the
Authority to show their share of the joint operation in their accounts became necessary.
Further details can be found in the NWFC note on page 66

6.3

These accounts include the Authority’s 25% share of the 2021-22 results of North West
Fire Control Limited based on their unaudited accounts.

7.

Coronavirus (Covid-19) Pandemic

7.1

During the Coronavirus Pandemic, the Authority’s top priorities were to maintain the best
service to the public, protect firefighters and staff and support the national response.

7.2

The Pandemic saw a significant change in the way that the Service operated in order to
keep staff safe, minimise the risk of infection and help the community. The Service
undertook a huge amount of work in supporting partner agencies to help communities
stay safe during the Pandemic. This has included a wide range of activities to support both
residents and front-line colleagues, such as:
▪

Providing over 100,000 Covid vaccines across Cheshire to date.

▪

Delivering prescription medicines to vulnerable residents.

▪

Using FireBikes to help transport vital blood.

▪

Supporting the mass distribution of personal protection equipment to health
and care colleagues.

▪

Helping local authority partners identify extremely vulnerable people so that
necessary support could be put in place.

Page 111
13 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

7.3

As the country moves out of the Pandemic and the Service returns to a more normal way of
working, it will review activities to take account of learning during the Pandemic. This has
already resulted in the introduction of an agile working policy, enabling staff to undertake
more remote and home working where appropriate. However, there is wider learning that
the Service will look to incorporate into areas such as training; staff engagement and
prevention work in the community.

7.4

The Pandemic has had an impact on Local Authority Council Tax collection funds. The
Authority’s share of Council Tax is included in these accounts with both debtors and
creditors based on the position as at 31st March 2022. The estimated deficit position of
£84k was built into the 2021-22 budget, agreed by the Authority in February 2021. The
outturn position showed an improvement over the budgeted estimate for all four
constituent authorities with an actual surplus of £177k.

7.5

The Government announced various support for business rates during the Pandemic. The
collection funds for business rates and the Authority’s 1% share are also included in these
accounts, again with both debtors and creditors based on data as at 31st March 2022. The
Government anticipated the deficit positions on the business rates element of the
collection fund, and amended secondary legislation to allow authorities to spread deficits
over three financial years 2021-22 to 2023-24.

Page 112
14 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

8.

Future Developments and Plans

8.1

At the Authority meeting in February 2022, members approved the Annual Action Plan for
2022-2023. The Plan sets out the key aims and objectives for the Service for the year
ahead. It outlines plans to address new and emerging fire and rescue related risks, as well
as updating on the progress of the existing projects in place that are contained within the
Authority’s Integrated Risk Management Plan (which covers the period up to 2024), see
descriptions below:
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

8.2

Moving the second fire engine at Ellesmere Port Fire Station to Powey Lane and
moving the current fire engine at Powey Lane back to Chester.
Reviewing our firefighting water provision and our response to water incidents.
Reviewing our Risk Based Inspection Programme and implementing the outcomes.
Expanding our ‘Sprinklers Save Lives’ campaign, promoting the use of sprinklers in
business premises and high rise residential properties.
Changing our approach to how we manage heritage risks.
Replacing the aerial appliance and a fire engine at Macclesfield with a High-Reach
Fire Engine.
Providing Rapid Response Rescue Units on all of our primary on-call fire stations.
Developing our wildfire capability.
Reviewing the need for new equipment to improve the effectiveness of our
response.
Launching a Cheshire-wide campaign aimed at owners and occupiers of Houses in
Multiple Occupation.
Extending Safe and Well home visits to focus interventions for a broader range of
vulnerable people.
Reviewing our specialist resources.
Working with partners to develop a strategic road safety plan.

In addition, the Plan outlines further projects that the Authority will commence in the
coming year:
▪
▪

▪
▪
▪
▪

Introduction of the day crewing duty system at Wilmslow Fire Station.
Working to develop an emergency cardiac response capability. Due to the absence
of a resolution to national discussions, the Authority will now focus on a locally
developed capability within Cheshire.
Developing further prevention work to raise awareness of water safety.
Reviewing its range of fire safety education programmes to ensure content is
consistent, engaging and relevant to the intended audience.
Working to reduce the number of false alarms within domestic premises.
Commencing work on a review of fire cover across Cheshire to inform the
development of the Authority’s next IRMP, which will cover the period from April
2024 onwards.

Page 113
15 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES
Responsibilities of Cheshire Fire Authority
Cheshire Fire Authority is required to:
▪

Make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to ensure
that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs. In
Cheshire Fire Authority that officer is the Treasurer;

▪

Manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and
safeguard its assets; and

▪

Approve the Statement of Accounts

Statement from Cheshire Fire Authority
I hereby approve the Statement of Accounts for Cheshire Fire Authority for the year ended
31st March 2022
Councillor Bob Rudd
Cheshire Fire Authority
28th September 2022
Responsibilities of the Treasurer to the Cheshire Fire Authority
The Treasurer is responsible for the preparation of the Authority’s Statement of Accounts in
accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (‘the Code of Practice’).
In preparing this Statement of Accounts, the Treasurer has ensured that:
▪

Suitable accounting policies have been selected and applied consistently;

▪

Judgements and estimates made were reasonable and prudent; and

▪

The Code of Practice was complied with.

The Treasurer has also:
▪

Kept proper accounting records which were up to date; and

▪

Taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Treasurer’s Certificate
I certify that the Statement of Accounts present a true and fair view of the financial position of
Cheshire Fire Authority at the reporting date and its income and expenditure for the year ended
31st March 2022 and that events after this date and prior to the formal approval of the Accounts
have been properly considered.
Paul Vaughan
Treasurer, Cheshire Fire Authority
28th September 2022

Page 114
16 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS NOTE 2021-22

Page 115

Firefighting and Rescue operations
Protection
Prevention
Support Services
UPGs
Corporate / Finance resources
Actuarial pension cost - McCloud Judgement
Net Cost of Services
Net cost of service - 25% share of NWFC
Other Income & Expenditure
Other Income & Expenditure -25% share of NWFC
(Surplus) or Deficit
Opening General Fund at 31 March 2021
Less/Plus (Surplus) Deficit on General Fund in Year

As reported for
Resource
Management
£000

Adjust for
Earmarked
Reserve
Movements
£000

Net Expenditure
Chargeable to the
General Fund
£000

Adjustments
between the
Funding and
Accounting Basis
(a)
£000

28,874
1,738
2,071
10,293
100
3,322
46,398
(2)
(46,396)
-

217
(65)
(10)
(270)
(64)
(1,866)
(2,058)
1
520
(1,537)

29,091
1,673
2,061
10,023
36
1,456
44,340
(1)
(45,876)
(1,537)

1,847
121
203
108
(454)
1,825
164
9,797
38
11,824

(22,475)
Fire
NWFC (25%)

(1,538)
1

Closing General Fund at 31 March 2022
(a) See Note 5, for further details on the adjustments between funding and accounting basis.
This analysis is not a Primary Financial Statement and forms part of the Notes to the Accounts.

17 | P a g e

(1,537)
(24,012)

Net Expenditure
Comprehensive
Income and
Expenditure
Statement
£000

30,938
1,794
2,264
10,131
36
1,002
46,165
163
(36,079)
38
10,287

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS NOTE 2020-21

Page 116

Firefighting and Rescue operations
Protection
Prevention
Support Services
UPGs
Corporate / Finance resources
Actuarial pension cost - McCloud Judgement
Net Cost of Services
Net cost of service - 25% share of NWFC
Other Income & Expenditure
Other Income & Expenditure -25% share of NWFC
(Surplus) or Deficit
Opening General Fund at 31 March 2020
Less/Plus (Surplus) Deficit on General Fund in Year

As reported for
Resource
Management
£000

Adjust for
Earmarked
Reserve
Movements
£000

Net Expenditure
Chargeable to
the General
Fund
£000

Adjustments
between the
Funding and
Accounting Basis
(a)
£000

29,437
1,936
2,277
10,163
100
3,623
47,536
(47,536)
-

(52)
(144)
(43)
(891)
(42)
2,864
1,692
(2)
(2,622)
(932)

29,385
1,792
2,234
9,272
58
6,487
49,228
(2)
(50,158)
(932)

(2,583)
(157)
(219)
(46)
(5,306)
(8,311)
52
14,308
16
6,065

(21,542)
Fire
NWFC (25%)

(930)
(2)

Closing General Fund at 31 March 2021
(a) See Note 5, for further details on the adjustments between funding and accounting basis.
This analysis is not a Primary Financial Statement and forms part of the Notes to the Accounts.

18 | P a g e

(932)
(22,475)

Net Expenditure
Comprehensive
Income and
Expenditure
Statement
£000

26,802
1,635
2,015
9,226
58
1,181
40,917
50
(35,850)
16
5,133

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT

£000

27,032
1,848
2,525
10,054
58
1,181
42,698
998

(230)
(213)
(510)
(828)
(1,781)
(948)

26,802
1,635
2,015
9,226
58
1,181
40,917
50

21
11,993
55,710

(49)
(47,799)
(50,577)

21
11,944
(47,799)
5,133

(8,152)
74,691
66,539

Note

Firefighting and Rescue operations
Protection
Prevention
Support Services
UPGs
Corporate / Finance resources
Cheshire Fire Authority - Cost of Services
North West Fire Control – Cost of Services (25%)
Other operating expenditure:
(Gains)/losses on the disposal of non-current assets
Financing & investment income & expenditure
Taxation & non-specific grant income & expenditure
Taxation (NWFC 25%)
(Surplus)/Deficit on Provision of Services
Surplus or deficit on revaluation of property, plant & equipment assets
Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability/(asset)
Other comprehensive income & expenditure

71,672 Total Comprehensive Income & Expenditure

9
9
9

10
32

Net
Expenditure

£000

Gross
Income

£000

Gross
Expenditure

Net
Expenditure

Page 117

Gross
Income

2021-22

Gross
Expenditure

2020-21

£000

£000

£000

31,178
1,992
2,864
10,857
36
1,004
47,931
899

(240)
(198)
(600)
(726)
(2)
(1,766)
(736)

30,938
1,794
2,264
10,131
36
1,002
46,165
163

2
12,226
1
61,059

(16)
(41)
(48,213)
(50,772)

(14)
12,185
(48,213)
1
10,287

(2,696)
(8,638)
(11,334)
(1,047)

19 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

Collection
Fund
Adjustment

Accumulated
Absences

Capital
Adjustment
Account

Total
Unusable
Reserves

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

(2,290)

(18,391)

(333)

(162)

(1,299)

(22,475)

(285)

(22,760)

602,218

(35,189)

2,429

604

(51,821)

518,241

495,481

-

10,287

-

10,287

-

-

-

-

-

-

10,287

-

-

-

-

(8,638)

(2,696)

-

-

-

(11,334)

(11,334)

-

10,287

-

10,287

(8,638)

(2,696)

-

-

-

(11,334)

(1,047)

Page 118


Depreciation etc.



Pensions
Reserve

UPGs

Surplus/Deficit on provision of
10,287
services
Other Comprehensive income
and expenditure
Total Comprehensive Income &
10,287
Expenditure
Adjustments between accounting basis & funding basis under regulations:

Total All
Reserves

(Usable)
Capital
Receipts

£000

Revaluation
Reserve

Total
General
Fund

£000

Total Usable
Reserves

Community
Risk
Reduction

£000

Capital
Reserve

Resource
Centre Mgs

Balance at 1 April 2021

General
Fund

MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT 2021-22

(4,291)

-

-

-

-

(4,291)

-

(4,291)

-

1,201

-

-

3,090

4,291

-

Gain/loss on disposal

(213)

-

-

-

-

(213)

-

(213)

-

-

-

-

213

213

-



Revaluation gain/loss

570

-

-

-

-

570

-

570

-

-

-

-

(570)

(570)

-




(10,752)

-

-

-

-

(10,752)

-

(10,752)

10,752

-

-

-

-

10,752

-

454

-

-

-

-

454

-

454

-

-

-

-

(454)

(454)

-



Pension costs
Capital expenditure
charged to revenue
Cash sale proceeds

228

-

-

-

-

228

(228)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-



Use of capital receipts

-

-

-

-

-

-

513

513

-

-

-

-

(513)

(513)

-



Use of capital grants

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-



Collection Fund

1,517

-

-

-

-

1,517

-

1,517

-

-

(1,517)

-

(1,517)

-



Accumulated Absences

(5)

-

-

-

-

(5)

-

(5)

-

-

-

5

-

5

-

668

-

-

-

-

668

-

668

-

-

-

-

(668)

(668)

-

(1,537)

-

-

-

-

(1,537)

285

(1,252)

2,114

(1,495)

(1,517)

5

1,098

205

(1,047)

1,538

9,914

(38)

(64)

(11,350)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(Increase)/Decrease in year

1

9,914

(38)

(64)

(11,350)

(1,537)

285

(1,252)

2,114

(1,495)

(1,517)

5

1,098

205

(1,047)

Balances at 31 March 2022

(2,289)

(8,477)

(371)

(226)

(12,649)

(24,012)

-

(24,012)

604,332

(36,684)

912

609

(50,723)

518,446

494,434

Statutory provision for the
repayment of debt (MRP)
Net increase/decrease before
earmarked reserve transfers
Transfers to/from earmarked
reserves


20 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

Collection
Fund
Adjustment

Accumulated
Absences

Capital
Adjustment
Account

Total
Unusable
Reserves

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

(2,288)

(14,523)

(345)

(120)

(4,266)

(21,542)

-

(21,542)

522,587

(28,013)

(350)

599

(49,472)

445,351

423,809

-

5,133

-

5,133

-

-

-

-

-

-

5,133

-

-

-

-

74,691

(8,152)

-

-

-

66,539

66,539

-

5,133

-

5,133

74,691

(8,152)

-

-

-

66,539

71,672

Depreciation etc.

(4,020)

-

-

-

-

(4,020)

-

(4,020)

-

976

-

-

3,044

4,020

-



Gain/loss on disposal

(720)

-

-

-

-

(720)

-

(720)

-

-

-

-

720

720

-



Revaluation gain/loss

(23)

-

-

-

-

(23)

-

(23)

-

-

-

-

23

23

-




(4,940)

-

-

-

-

(4,940)

-

(4,940)

4,940

-

-

-

-

4,940

-

5,306

-

-

-

-

5,306

-

5,306

-

-

-

-

(5,306)

(5,306)

-



Pension costs
Capital expenditure
charged to revenue
Cash sale proceeds

699

-

-

-

-

699

(699)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-



Use of capital receipts

-

-

-

-

-

-

414

414

-

-

-

-

(414)

(414)

-



Collection Fund

(2,779)

-

-

-

-

(2,779)

-

(2,779)

-

-

2,779

-

2,779

-



Accumulated Absences

(5)

-

-

-

-

(5)

-

(5)

-

-

-

5

-

5

-

416

-

-

-

-

416

-

416

-

-

-

-

(416)

(416)

-

(933)

-

-

-

-

(933)

(285)

(1,218)

79,631

(7,176)

2,779

5

(2,349)

72,890

71,672

931

(3,868)

12

(42)

2,967

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(Increase)/Decrease in year

(2)

(3,868)

12

(42)

2,967

(933)

(285)

(1,218)

79,631

(7,176)

2,779

5

(2,349)

72,890

71,672

Balances at 31 March 2021

(2,290)

(18,391)

(333)

(162)

(1,299)

(22,475)

(285)

(22,760)

602,218

(35,189)

2,429

604

(51,821)

518,241

495,481

Page 119



Pensions
Reserve

UPGs

Surplus/Deficit on provision of
5,133
services
Other Comprehensive income
and expenditure
Total Comprehensive Income &
5,133
Expenditure
Adjustments between accounting basis & funding basis under regulations:

Total All
Reserves

(Usable)
Capital
Receipts

£000

Revaluation
Reserve

Total
General
Fund

£000

Total Usable
Reserves

Community
Risk
Reduction

£000

Capital
Reserve

Resource
Centre Mgs

Balance at 1 April 2020

General
Fund

MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT 2020-21

Statutory provision for the
repayment of debt (MRP)
Net increase/decrease before
earmarked reserve transfers
Transfers to/from earmarked
reserves


21 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

Page 120
22 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

BALANCE SHEET
31 Mar 2021
£000
£000
91,331
6,171
2,062
307
99,871

Land and Buildings
Vehicles and Equipment
Assets under Construction
Intangible Assets
Total Long-term Assets

7,002
819
6,230

Short-term investments
Inventories
Short-term debtors

1,297

Amount due from pension fund

155
6,985

Assets held for sale
Cash and Cash Equivalents
22,488 Total Current Assets

Note
10
10
10
11
12
14
15
Pension
Fund
13
16

31 Mar 2022
£000
£000
95,180
7,310
959
275
103,724
12,510
750
4,453
1,588
6,297
25,598

122,359 Total Assets
(9,745)
(867)

129,322

Short-term Borrowing
Short-term Creditors
Provisions
(10,612) Total Current Liabilities

12
17
18

(6,637)
(776)
(7,413)

111,747 Total Assets less Current Liabilities
(5,012)
(602,216)

Long-term borrowing
Net Pension Liability (IAS 19)
(607,228) Total Long-term Liabilities

121,909
12
32

(616,343)

(495,481) Net Assets / (Liabilities)

(494,434)

(22,760) Usable reserves
518,241 Unusable reserves

19
20

495,481 Total Reserves

(24,012)
518,446
494,434

Paul Vaughan, Treasurer, Cheshire Fire Authority
Date: 28th September 2022

Page 121
23 | P a g e

(12,012)
(604,331)

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
2020-21
£000
5,133 Net (surplus)/deficit on the provision of services
(9,424)

Adjustment to the net (surplus)/deficit on the provision
of services for non-cash movements

Adjustment to for items included in the net
699 (surplus)/deficit on the provision of services that are
investing and financing activities

Note

2021-22
£000

CI&E

10,287

21

(14,274)

21

228

(3,592) Net cash flows from Operating Activities

(3,759)

6,929 Investing Activities

21

11,447

(4,000) Financing Activities

21

(7,000)

(663) Net (increase)/decrease in cash and cash equivalents

688

6,322

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the beginning of the
reporting period

16

6,985

6,985

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of the
reporting period

16

6,297

(663) Net (increase)/decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Page 122
24 | P a g e

688

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

FIREFIGHTER PENSION FUND
2020-21
£000

£000

(322)
(104)
(4,578)
(5,004)
(7)
(150)
(5,161)
(131)
(88)
(2,033)

Contributions receivable
Fire Authority contributions:
1992 Firefighter Pension Scheme
2006 Firefighter Pension Scheme 1
2015 Firefighter Pension Scheme

2021-22
£000
(206)
(65)
(4,738)

(5,009)
-

Pension abatement costs
Actuarial charges for early and ill
health retirements
Firefighters’ contributions:
1992 Firefighter Pension Scheme
2006 Firefighter Pension Scheme 1
2015 Firefighter Pension Scheme

(219)
(5,228)
(83)
(71)
(2,109)

(2,252)
(91) Transfers in from other pension funds
(7,504) Total amount receivable
14,072
2,070
16,142
16,142

Benefits payable
Pensions
Commutation of pensions and lump
sum retirement benefits
Lump sum death benefits
Total benefits payable
Transfers out to other schemes
Administrative expenses
Total amount payable

(Surplus)/Deficit for the year before
‘Top-up’ Government grant
(8,638) ‘Top-up’ Government grant
- Net amount for the year
8,638

£000

(2,263)
(73)
(7,564)
14,234
2,380
16,614
83
16,697
9,133
(9,133)
-

NET ASSETS STATEMENT
31 Mar 21
£000 Current Assets
1,329 ‘Top-up’ Government grant
- Employee arrears
Current Liabilities
- Contributions received in advance
(32) Benefits outstanding
(1,297) Amount due to General Fund
- Net Assets

31 Mar 22
£000
1,588
(1,588)
-

Note 1 - these rows include the Modified Firefighter Pension Scheme
For further details please see note 32 on page 70

Page 123
25 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
Note Description
Expenditure and Funding Analysis note
1
Accounting Policies
2
Accounting Standards, issued but not yet adopted
Assumptions made about the future and other major sources of estimation
3
uncertainty
4
Events after the Balance Sheet date
5
Supporting information for the Expenditure and Funding Analysis note
6
Expenditure and Income analysed by nature
7
Adjustment between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under regulations
8
Movement in Earmarked Reserves
9
Notes to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
10 Property, Plant and Equipment
11 Intangible Assets
12 Financial Instruments
13 Assets held for sale
14 Inventories
15 Debtors
16 Cash and Cash Equivalent
17 Creditors
18 Provisions
19 Usable Reserves
20 Unusable Reserves
21 Notes to the Cash flow Statement
22 Members’ Allowances
23 Officer Remuneration
24 Termination Benefits
25 External Audit Costs
26 Grant Income
27 Related Parties
28 NW Fire Control Limited (NWFC)
29 Fire and Rescue Indemnity Company Limited (FRIC)
30 Capital Expenditure and Financing
31 Leases
32 Employee Benefits (Pensions)
33 Contingent Assets and Liabilities

Page 124
26 | P a g e

Page
17
27
43
44
44
45
46
46
46
47
48
51
51
56
56
57
57
57
58
58
59
61
62
63
64
65
65
66
68
70
71
71
72
80

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
1.

Accounting Policies

1.1

General Principles

The Statement of Accounts summarises the Authority's transactions for the 2021-22 financial
year and its position at the year end of 31st March 2022. The Authority is required to prepare an
annual Statement of Accounts by the Accounts and Audit Regulations (England) 2015 which state
that accounts need to be prepared in accordance with proper accounting practices. These
practices primarily comprise the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United
Kingdom 2021-22, supported by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and
International Accounting Standards (IAS).
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, modified by
the revaluation of certain categories of non-current assets and where material, financial
instruments as determined by the relevant accounting standard.
In addition, this Statement of Accounts assumes the Fire Authority will continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future under the ‘Going Concern’ concept as a statutory body
under legislation.
1.2

Accruals of Income and Expenditure

Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are made
or received. In particular:
▪

Revenue from contracts with service recipients, whether for services or the provision of
goods, is recognised when (or as) the goods are transferred to the service recipient in
accordance with the performance obligations in the contract.

▪

Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed - where there is a gap
between the date supplies are received and their consumption, they are carried as
inventories on the Balance Sheet.

▪

Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by employees) are
recorded as expenditure when the services are received rather than when payments are
made.

▪

Interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings is accounted for
respectively as income and expenditure on the basis of the effective interest rate for the
relevant financial instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or determined by the
contract.

▪

Where revenue and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been received or
paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the Balance Sheet.
Where debts may not be settled, the balance of debtors is written down and a charge
made to revenue for the income that might not be collected.

Exceptions to this principle are immaterial items of income and expenditure such as cash income
and some small elements of employee pay, which are recorded on a receipts and payments basis
rather than being apportioned between financial years.

Page 125
27 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

1.3

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without
penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments that
mature in one month or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Authority's cash management.
1.4

Exceptional Items

When items of income and expenditure are material and exceptional, their nature and amount is
disclosed separately, either on the face of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement or in the Notes to the Accounts, depending on how significant the items are to the
understanding of the Authority’s financial performance.
1.5

Prior Period Adjustments, Changes in Accounting Policies, Estimates and Errors

Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to correct a
material error. Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for prospectively, i.e. in the
current and future years affected by the change, and do not give rise to a prior period
adjustment.
Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practices or
the change provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect of transactions, other
events and conditions on the Authority's financial position or financial performance. Where a
change is made, it is applied retrospectively (unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening
balances and comparative amounts for the prior period as if the new policy had always been
applied.
Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by amending
opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior period.
Items are material if they could, individually or collectively, influence the decisions or
assessments of users made on the basis of the financial statements. Materiality depends on
the nature and/or size of the omission or misstatement judged in the surrounding
circumstances.
1.6

Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets

Services, support services and trading accounts are debited with the following amounts to record
the cost of holding non-current assets during the year:
▪

Depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service;

▪

Revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there are no
accumulated gains in the Revaluation Reserve against which the losses can be written off;

▪

Amortisation of intangible fixed assets attributable to the service.

Page 126
28 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

The Authority is not required to raise council tax to fund depreciation, revaluation and
impairment losses or amortisation. However, it is required to make an annual contribution from
revenue towards the reduction in its overall borrowing requirement equal to an amount
calculated on a prudent basis determined by the Authority in accordance with statutory
guidance. Depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses and amortisation are therefore
replaced by the contribution in the General Fund Balance [Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)],
by way of an adjusting transaction with the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in
Reserves Statement for the difference between the two.
1.7

Council Tax and Non-domestic Rates

The four local authorities within Cheshire act as agents, collecting council tax and non-domestic
rates on behalf of the major preceptors – including the Fire Authority. The authorities are
required by statute to maintain a separate fund (called the Collection Fund) for the collection
and distribution of amounts due in respect of council tax and non-domestic rates. Under the
legislative framework for the Collection Fund, the local authorities, preceptors (including the Fire
Authority) and central Government share proportionately the risks and rewards should the
amount collected be more or less than predicted.
The council tax income included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES)
is the Authority’s share of the accrued income for the year. However, regulations determine the
amount of council tax that must be included in the Authority’s General Fund. Therefore, the
difference between the income included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement and the amount required by regulation to be credited to the General Fund is taken to
the Collection Fund Adjustment Account (an unusable reserve) and included as a reconciling item
in the Movement of Reserves Statement.
The Balance Sheet includes the Authority’s share of the end of year balances held by the four
local authorities in respect of council tax and non-domestic rates. It takes into account arrears,
impairment allowances for doubtful debts, overpayments and prepayments together with
appeals.
Where debtor balances for the above are identified as impaired because of likelihood arising
from a past event that payments due under the statutory arrangements will not be made (fixed
or determinable payments), the asset is written down and a charge made to the Financing and
Investment Income and Expenditure in the CIES. The impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the carrying amount and the revised future cash flows.
1.8
1.8.1.

Employee Benefits
Benefits Payable during Employment

Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled wholly within 12 months of the yearend. They include such benefits as wages and salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave,
bonuses and non-monetary benefits (e.g. cars) for current employees and are recognised as an
expense for services in the year in which employees render service to the Authority. An accrual is
made for the cost of holiday entitlements (or any form of leave, e.g. time off in lieu) earned by
employees but not taken before the year-end which employees can carry forward into the next
financial year. The accrual is made at the wage and salary rates applicable in the following
accounting year, being the period in which the employee takes the benefit. The accrual is
charged to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services, but then reversed out through the
Movement in Reserves Statement so that holiday benefits are charged to revenue in the financial
year in which the holiday absence occurs.

Page 127
29 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

1.8.2.

Termination Benefits

Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Authority to terminate
an officer's employment before the normal retirement date or an officer's decision to accept
voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits and are charged on an accruals basis to the
appropriate service in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, at the earlier of
when the Authority can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits or when the Authority
recognises costs for a restructuring.
Where termination benefits involve the enhancement of pensions, statutory provisions require
the General Fund balance to be charged with the amount payable by the Authority to the
pension fund or pensioner in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant
accounting standards. In the Movement in Reserves Statement, appropriations are required to
and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for pension
enhancement termination benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension
fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end.
1.8.3.

Post-Employment Benefits

Employees of the Authority are entitled to be members of the following pension schemes:
▪

The Local Government Pension Scheme, administered by Cheshire West and Chester
Council

▪

The Firefighter Pension Scheme (1992)

▪

The New Firefighter Pension Scheme (2006)

▪

The New Firefighter Pension Scheme (2006) (Modified)

▪

The Firefighter Pension Scheme (2015)

These schemes provide defined benefits to members (retirement lump sums and pensions)
earned as employees work for the Authority.
The Local Government Pension Scheme for non-uniformed staff
All non-uniformed staff, subject to certain qualifying criteria, are eligible to join the Local
Government Pension Scheme, which is administered by Cheshire Pension Fund. The scheme,
which is a funded, defined benefit statutory scheme, is administered by Cheshire West and
Chester Council in accordance with the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 and applicable Local
Government Pension Scheme Regulations.
In 2021-22 the Authority paid an employer's primary rate contribution of 19.1% of employees'
pensionable pay into the Cheshire Pension Fund. All pension payments to eligible staff are met
from this fund. The attributable assets of the scheme are measured at fair value. Assets are
valued at bid value.
Employer contribution rates are reviewed every three years. With the last review undertaken in
March 2019, which impacted from the beginning of 2020-21. Contributions are set at a level
intended to balance pension liabilities with the Authority's share of the Fund's investment assets.

Page 128
30 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

The liabilities of the Local Government Pension Scheme attributable to the Authority are
included in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method - an
assessment of the future payments which will be made in relation to retirement benefits earned
to date by employees, based on assumptions about mortality rates, employee turnover rates,
etc., and projections of earnings by current employees.
Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate, based on a
“Hymans Robertson” corporate bond yield curve based on the constituents of the iBoxx AA
corporate bond index.
The Firefighter Pension Schemes (FPS) for uniformed staff
These are unfunded schemes, meaning that there are no investment assets built up to meet their
liabilities. These liabilities now reside in a local pensions fund into which pension contributions
are made and from which pensions are paid. An original scheme commenced in 1992. An
additional scheme commenced in 2006 and a further Modified version of this scheme
commenced in 2014. A further scheme commenced in 2015; the new Regulations (The Firefighter
Pension Scheme (England) Regulations 2014) states that all current active members will move
into the new scheme from 1st April 2015 unless they qualify for protections that allow them to
remain in their current scheme.
Part of the transitional arrangements was to provide varying degrees of protection for those
members who were within 15 years of normal retirement age. This meant that some members
went straight into FPS 2015 from 1st April 2015, whilst others with tapered protection stayed in
the legacy scheme (FPS 2006 / FPS 1992) for longer, or would remain in the legacy scheme until
they retired if they were fully protected.
Following a legal challenge by judges and the Fire Brigade Union, known as the McCloud and
Sergeant cases respectively, the courts determined that the transitional arrangements were
discriminatory on the grounds of age. It is important to note that it was the transitional
arrangements that were discriminatory and not the 2015 scheme itself.
To remove discrimination from the scheme there will be a two-phase approach. This is know as
the ‘remedy’. The first phase will look to remove any future discrimination. The second phase will
look to resolve retrospective discrimination for the period 1st April 2015 to 31st March 2022 –
known as the ‘remedy period’.
The second phase of remedy to remove retrospective discrimination is still in progress and
further legislation and consultation will be needed. It is expected that this will be in place by
October 2023.
To remove future discrimination and ensure equal treatment, all remaining protected members
who are not currently members of FPS 2015 will transfer into this scheme on 1st April 2022. The
FPS 1992 and FPS 2006 will be closed to future accrual for all members.
All four firefighter pension schemes are administered through one fund. In 2021-22 Authority
paid an employer's contribution of 37.3% of employees' pensionable pay into the fund in respect
of the 1992 and 2006 Modified Schemes, 27.4% in respect of the 2006 scheme and 28.8% in
respect of the 2015 scheme. The balance on the local pensions account is funded by
Government grant.

Page 129
31 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

Firefighter Injury Scheme
Under the Firefighter Compensation Scheme (England) Order 2006, a firefighter receives an
injury award where they have retired and are permanently disabled because of an injury
received in the execution of their duty. Under IAS19 the Authority is required to account for
contingent future injury benefits. The liability is based on an estimate of future benefits earned
by members, and movements in this liability are treated in the same way as for the Firefighter
Pension Schemes.
The impact of these four pension schemes and the Firefighter Injury Scheme is identified in the
revenue account and balance sheet.
The change in net pension’s liability is analysed into the following components:
a) Service cost comprising:
▪

Current service cost - the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service earned
this year - allocated in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to the
services for which the employees worked.

▪

Past service cost - the increase in liabilities as a result of a scheme amendment or
curtailment whose effect relates to years of service earned in earlier years - debited
to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income
and Expenditure Statement as part of Non Distributed Costs.

▪

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset) i.e. net interest expense for the
Authority - the change during the period in the net defined benefit liability (asset) that
arises from the passage of time charged to the Financing and Investment Income and
Expenditure line of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement - this is
calculated by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit
obligation at the beginning of the period to the net defined liability (asset) at the
beginning of the period - taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit
liability (asset) during the period as a result of contribution and benefit payments.

b) Re-measurements comprising:
▪

▪

c)

The return on plan assets - excluding amounts included in net interest on the net
defined benefit liability (asset) - charged to the Pensions Reserve as Other
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.
Actuarial gains and losses - changes in the net pensions liability that arise because
events have not coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial valuation or
because the actuaries have updated their assumptions - charged to the Pensions
Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.

Contributions paid to the pension funds
▪

Cash paid as employer's contributions to the pension funds in settlement of liabilities;
not accounted for as an expense.

Page 130
32 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund balance to be
charged with the amount payable by the Authority to the pension fund or directly to pensioners
in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant Accounting Standards. In the
Movement in Reserves Statement, this means that there are transfers to and from the Pensions
Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for retirement benefits and replace them with
debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but
unpaid at the year end. The negative balance that arises on the Pensions Reserve thereby
measures the beneficial impact to the General Fund of being required to account for retirement
benefits on the basis of cash flows rather than as benefits are earned by employees.
Discretionary Benefits
The Authority also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement benefits in
the event of early retirements. Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result of an award to any
member of staff are accrued in the year of the decision to make the award and accounted for
using the same policies as are applied to the Local Government Pension Scheme.
1.9

Events after the Reporting Period

Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that
occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when the Statement of Accounts is
authorised for issue. Two types of event can be identified:
▪

Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period;
the Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events.

▪

Those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period; the
Statement of Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a category of
events would have a material effect, disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the
events and their estimated financial effect.

Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Statement of
Accounts.
1.10 Financial Instruments
Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Authority becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value and
are carried at their amortised cost. Annual charges to the Financing and Investment Income and
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for interest payable
are based on the carrying amount of the liability, multiplied by the effective rate of interest for
the instrument. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash payments over the life of the instrument to the amount at which it was originally
recognised.
The Authority's borrowings presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal repayable
(plus any accrued interest). Interest charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement is the amount payable for the year according to the loan agreement.

Page 131
33 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

Where premiums and discounts have been charged to the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement, regulations allow the impact on the General Fund Balance to be
spread over future years. The Authority has a policy of charging the full effect of premiums
and discounts to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year in which
they are incurred.
Financial Assets
Financial assets are classified based on a classification and measurement approach that reflects
the business model for holding the financial assets and their cash flow characteristics. These
three main classes of financial assets are measured at:
▪
▪
▪

Amortised cost;
Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL); and
Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVCOI).

The Authority’s business model is to hold investments to collect contractual cash flows. Financial
assets are therefore classified at amortised cost.
Financial assets measured at amortised cost
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the
Authority becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument. They are
initially measured at fair value and subsequently at their amortised cost. Annual credits to the
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement for interest receivable are based on the carrying amount of the asset
multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. For any loan that the Authority
makes, this means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal
receivable (plus accrued interest) and interest credited to the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement is the amount receivable for the year in the loan agreement.
Any gains and losses that arise on the de-recognition of an asset are credited or debited to the
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement.
Expected credit loss model
The authority recognises expected credit losses on all of its financial assets held at amortised
at cost, either on a 12-month or lifetime basis. The expected credit loss model also applies to
lease receivables and contract assets. Only lifetime losses are recognised for trade receivables
(debtors) held by the Authority.
Impairment losses are calculated to reflect the expectation that the future cash flows might
not take place because the borrower could default on their obligations. Credit risk plays a
crucial part in assessing losses. Where risk has increased significantly since an instrument was
initially recognised, losses are assessed on a lifetime basis. Where risk has not increased
significantly or remains low, losses are assessed on the basis of 12-month expected losses.

Page 132
34 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

Fair value through Profit or Loss (FVPL)
Financial assets that are measured at FVPL are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the
Authority becomes a party to a contractual provision of a financial instrument and are initially
measured and carried at fair value. Fair value gains and losses are recognised as they arrive in
the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services.
The fair value measurements of the financial assets are based on the following techniques:
•
•

Instruments with quoted market prices – the market price
Other instruments with fixed and determinable payments – discounted cash flow
analysis

For measuring assets and liabilities at fair value, the authority categorises the inputs to valuation
techniques into 3 values as follows
• Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the authority can access at the measurement date
• Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly
• Level 3 – unobservable inputs for the asset or liability
1.11 Government Grants and Contributions
Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third party
contributions and donations are recognised as due to the Authority when there is reasonable
assurance that:
▪

The Authority will comply with the conditions attached to the payments and;

▪

The grants or contributions will be received.

Amounts recognised as due to the Authority are not credited to the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement until conditions attached to the grant or contribution have been satisfied.
Conditions are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits or service potential
embodied in the asset acquired using the grant or contribution are required to be consumed by
the recipient as specified, or future economic benefits or service potential must be returned to
the transferor.
Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied are
carried in the Balance Sheet as Creditors. Where conditions are satisfied, the grant or
contribution is credited to the relevant service line (attributable revenue grants and
contributions) or Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income (non-ring-fenced revenue grants and
all capital grants) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.
Where capital grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement,
they are reversed out of the General Fund balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.
Where the grant has yet to be used to finance capital expenditure, it is posted to the Capital
Grants Unapplied reserve. Where it has been applied, it is posted to the Capital Adjustment
Account. Amounts in the Capital Grants Unapplied reserve are transferred to the Capital
Adjustment Account once they have been applied to fund capital expenditure.

Page 133
35 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

1.12 Heritage Assets
Heritage assets are defined as tangible assets with historical, artistic, scientific, technological,
geophysical or environmental qualities that are held and maintained principally for their
contribution to knowledge and culture. The Authority does not consider that any of its assets fall
into the definition of a Heritage Asset.
1.13 Intangible Assets
Expenditure on non-monetary assets that do not have physical substance but are controlled by
the Authority as a result of past events (e.g. software licences) is capitalised when it is expected
that future economic benefits or service potential will flow from the intangible asset to the
Authority.
Intangible assets are measured initially at cost. Amounts are only revalued where the fair value
of the assets held by the Authority can be determined by reference to an active market. In
practice, no intangible asset held by the Authority meets this criterion, and they are therefore
carried at amortised cost. The depreciable amount of an intangible asset is amortised over its
useful life to the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement with charges commencing in the year of acquisition. An asset is tested for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the asset might be impaired - any losses recognised are
posted to the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or abandonment of an intangible asset is posted to the
Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.
Where expenditure on intangible assets qualifies as capital expenditure for statutory purposes,
amortisation, impairment losses and disposal gains and losses are not permitted to have an
impact on the General Fund Balance. The gains and losses are therefore posted out of the
General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted to the Capital
Adjustment Account and (for any sale proceeds greater than £10,000) the Capital Receipts
Reserve.
1.14 Interests in Companies and Other Entities (Group Accounts)
The Authority has an interest in NW Fire Control Ltd. Cheshire Fire Authority’s 25% share is
shown in the accounts. This is in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority
Accounting in the United Kingdom based on International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS 10,
11 & 12). See note 28 for more details.
During 2015-16 a company limited by guarantee, Safer Cheshire Limited, was established. There
was no business activity in 2021-22, except for the repayment to Cheshire Fire Authority of the
£5,000 donation made in 2016-17 in respect of the initial working capital that is no longer
required.
1.15 Inventory (Stock)
Inventory (stock) is included in the Balance Sheet at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
The cost is assigned using the First in First out (FIFO) costing formula.

Page 134
36 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

1.16 Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the property, plant or equipment from the lessor to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. Where a lease covers both land and
buildings, the land and buildings elements are considered separately for classification.
Arrangements that do not have the legal status of a lease but convey a right to use an asset in
return for payment are accounted for under this policy where fulfilment of the arrangement is
dependent on the use of specific assets.
The Authority as Lessee:
Finance Leases
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases is recognised on the Balance Sheet at
the commencement of the lease at its fair value measured at the lease's inception (or the
present value of the minimum lease payments, if lower). The asset recognised is matched by a
liability for the obligation to pay the lessor. Initial direct costs of the Authority are added to the
carrying amount of the asset.
Lease payments are apportioned between:
▪

A charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property, plant or equipment; applied to
write down the lease liability and;

▪

A finance charge (debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line
in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement).

Property, plant and equipment recognised under finance leases is accounted for using the
policies applied generally to such assets, subject to depreciation being charged over the lease
term if this is shorter than the asset's estimated useful life (where ownership of the asset does
not transfer to the Authority at the end of the lease period).
The Authority is not required to raise Council Tax to cover depreciation or revaluation and
impairment losses arising on leased assets. Instead, a prudent annual contribution is made from
revenue funds towards the deemed capital investment in accordance with statutory
requirements. Depreciation and revaluation and impairment losses are therefore substituted by
a revenue contribution in the General Fund Balance by way of an adjusting transaction with the
Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement for the difference between
the two.
Operating Leases
Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement as an expense of the services benefitting from use of the leased property, plant or
equipment. Charges are made on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease, even if this does
not match the pattern of payments (if, for example, there is a rent-free period at the beginning
of the lease).

Page 135
37 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

1.17 Overheads and Support Services
The cost of overheads and support services are charged to the service segments in accordance
with the Authority’s arrangements for accountability and financial performance.
1.18 Property, Plant and Equipment
Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes and that are expected to be used
during more than one financial year are classified as Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE).
Recognition
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment is
capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it is probable that the future economic benefits or
service potential associated with the item will flow to the Authority and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. Expenditure that maintains but does not add to an asset's potential to
deliver future economic benefits or service potential (i.e. repairs and maintenance) is charged as
an expense as it is incurred. The Authority does not treat any expenditure under £10,000 as
capital expenditure.
Measurement
Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising:
▪

The purchase price.

▪

Any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

▪

The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the
site on which it was located.

The Authority does not capitalise borrowing costs incurred whilst assets are under construction.
The cost of assets acquired other than by purchase is deemed to be its fair value, unless the
acquisition does not have commercial substance (i.e. it will not lead to a variation in the cash
flows of the Authority). In the latter case, where an asset is acquired via an exchange, the cost of
the acquisition is the carrying amount of the asset given up by the Authority.
Donated assets are measured initially at fair value. The difference between fair value and any
consideration paid is credited to the Taxation and Non-specific Grant Income line of the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, unless the donation has been made
conditionally. Until conditions are satisfied, the gain is held in the Donated Assets Account.
Where gains are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, they are
reversed out of the General Fund Balance to the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in
Reserves Statement.
Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement bases:
▪

Infrastructure, community assets and assets under construction - depreciated historical
cost.

▪

Surplus assets – fair value.

▪

All other assets - current value, determined as the amount that would be paid for the
asset in its existing use.

Page 136
38 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

Where there is no market-based evidence of current value because of the specialist nature of an
asset, depreciated replacement cost (DRC) is used as an estimate of current value.
Where non-property assets have short useful lives and/or low values, depreciated historical cost
basis is used as a proxy for current value.
Assets included in the Balance Sheet at current value are revalued sufficiently regularly to ensure
that their carrying amount is not materially different from their current value at the year-end,
but as a minimum every five years. Increases in valuations are matched by credits to the
Revaluation Reserve to recognise unrealised gains. Exceptionally, gains might be credited to the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement where they arise from the reversal of a loss
previously charged to a service.
Where decreases in value are identified, they are accounted for by:
▪

Where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve,
the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount
of the accumulated gains).

▪

Where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the
carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant service line(s) in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date
of its formal implementation. Gains arising before that date have been consolidated into the
Capital Adjustment Account.
Impairment
Assets are assessed at each year-end as to whether there is any indication that an asset may be
impaired. Where indications exist and any possible differences are estimated to be material, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and, where this is less than the carrying amount of
the asset, an impairment loss is recognised for the shortfall.
Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for by:
▪

Where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the
carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of
the accumulated gains).

▪

Where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the
carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant service line(s) in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Where an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the reversal is credited to the relevant
service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up to the amount of
the original loss, adjusted for the depreciation that would have been charged had the loss not
been recognised.

Page 137
39 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

Depreciation
Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets by the systematic
allocation of their depreciable amounts over their useful lives commencing in the year of
acquisition. An exception is made for assets without a determinable useful life (e.g. freehold
land) and assets that are not yet available for use (i.e. assets under construction).
Depreciation is calculated on the following bases:
▪

Dwellings and other buildings – straight-line allocation over the useful life of the property
as estimated by the valuer.

▪

Vehicles, plant and equipment - straight-line allocation over the asset's useful life:
appliances 13 to 20 years, and other vehicles and equipment 5 to 15 years, as advised in
each case by a suitably qualified officer.

Where an item of Property, Plant and Equipment has major components whose cost is significant
in relation to the total cost of the item, the components are depreciated separately.
Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference between current
value depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that would have been chargeable
based on their historical cost being transferred each year from the Revaluation Reserve to the
Capital Adjustment Account.
Disposals and Non-Current Assets Held for Sale
When it becomes probable that an asset will be sold it is reclassified as an Asset held for Sale.
The asset is re-valued immediately before reclassification and then carried at the lower of this
amount and fair value less costs to sell. Where there is a subsequent decrease to fair value less
costs to sell, the loss is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement. Gains in fair value are recognised only up to the amount
of any previous losses recognised in the Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Services. Depreciation
is not charged on Assets held for Sale.
If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as Assets held for Sale, they are reclassified
back to non-current assets and valued at the lower of their carrying amount before they were
classified as held for sale; adjusted for depreciation, amortisation or revaluations that would
have been recognised had they not been classified as held for sale and their recoverable amount
at the date of the decision not to sell.
Assets that are to be abandoned or scrapped are not reclassified as Assets held for Sale.
When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in the
Balance Sheet (whether Property, Plant and Equipment or Assets Held for Sale) is written off to
the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
as part of the gain or loss on disposal. Receipts from disposals (if any) are credited to the same
line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement also as part of the gain or loss on
disposal (i.e. netted off against the carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal). Any
revaluation gains accumulated for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve are transferred to the
Capital Adjustment Account.
Amounts received for a disposal in excess of £10,000 are categorised as capital receipts and
credited to the Capital Receipts Reserve to be used only for new capital investment or set aside
to reduce the Authority's underlying need to borrow (the capital financing requirement).
Receipts are appropriated to the Capital Receipts Reserve from the General Fund Balance in the
Movement in Reserves Statement.

Page 138
40 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

All assets with a net present value of £nil (i.e. fully depreciated) will be reviewed annually and
any unsubstantiated assets will be recorded as ‘disposed of or scrapped’.
The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against Council Tax, as the cost of non-current
assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. Amounts are
appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund Balance in the
Movement in Reserves Statement.
Componentisation
The Authority is required under International Financial Reporting Standards to recognise the
individual components of its non-current assets and depreciate them separately where
necessary. The Authority can also apply a de minimis level below which assets are not considered
to be material, and has set this level at £2m or approximately 5% of the total carrying value of
assets in the Balance Sheet.
The Authority will take components to be significant if they represent at least 20% of the total
cost of the asset. However, components only need to be recognised when they have different
useful lives and/or depreciation methods.
1.19 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
Provisions
Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Authority a legal or
constructive obligation that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic benefits or
service potential, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. For
instance, the Authority may be involved in a court case that could eventually result in the making
of a settlement or the payment of compensation.
Provisions are charged as an expense to the appropriate service line in the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement in the year that the Authority becomes aware of the
obligation, and are measured at the best estimate at the Balance Sheet date of the expenditure
required to settle the obligation, taking into account relevant risks and uncertainties.
When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the Balance
Sheet. Estimated settlements are reviewed at the end of each financial year; where it becomes
less than probable that a transfer of economic benefits will now be required (or a lower
settlement than anticipated is made), the provision is reversed and credited back to the relevant
service.
Where some or all of the payment required to settle a provision is expected to be recovered
from another party (e.g. from an insurance claim), this is only recognised as income for the
relevant service if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the Authority
settles the obligation.
Provisions for business efficiency exit packages are charged to the appropriate service line in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure, in the year that the Authority is committed to the new
structure.

Page 139
41 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

Contingent Liabilities
A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the Authority a possible
obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Authority. Contingent liabilities also arise in
circumstances where a provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that an
outflow of resources will be required or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured
reliably.
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the
accounts.
Contingent Assets
A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the Authority a possible
asset whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the Authority.
Contingent assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts
where it is probable that there will be an inflow of economic benefits or service potential.
1.20 Reserves
The Authority sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to cover
contingencies. Reserves are created by appropriating amounts out of the General Fund Balance
in the Movement in Reserves Statement. When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is
incurred, it is charged to the appropriate service in that year to score against the Surplus or
Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.
The reserve is then appropriated back into the General Fund Balance in the Movement in
Reserves Statement so that there is no net charge against council tax for the expenditure.
Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets, financial
instruments and retirement and employee benefits and do not represent usable resources for
the Authority. These reserves are explained in the relevant policies.
1.21 VAT
VAT payable is included as an expense only to the extent that it is not recoverable from Her
Majesty's Revenue and Customs. VAT receivable is excluded from income.

Page 140
42 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

2.

Accounting Standards that have been issued but have not yet been adopted

The Code of Practice for Local Authority Accounting in the UK (the Code) requires changes in
accounting policy to be applied retrospectively unless alternative transitional arrangements are
specified in the Code. The Code requires an authority to disclose information relating to the
impact of an accounting change that will be required by a new standard that has been issued but
not yet adopted for the relevant financial year. The additional disclosures that will be required in
the 2021-22 financial statements in respect of accounting changes introduced in the 2022-23
Code are:

▪ Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018–2020. The annual IFRS improvement
programme notes 4 changed standards:

▪

IFRS 1 (First-time adoption) – amendment relates to foreign operations of acquired
subsidiaries transitioning to IFRS

▪

IAS 37 (Onerous contracts) – clarifies the intention of the standard

▪

IFRS 16 (Leases) – amendment removes a misleading example that is not referenced
in the Code material

▪

IAS 41 (Agriculture) – one of a small number of IFRSs that are only expected to apply
to local authorities in limited circumstances.

The above changes have no impact on these accounts but will be reviewed during 2022-23 and
any amendments required will be clearly shown in the 2022-23 Statement of Accounts.
IFRS 16 - Accounting treatment of Leases - The aim of the standard is to provide increased
visibility of lease commitments and to ensure more consistent financial reporting of leased
assets. The current distinction between assets held under finance leases, which go on the
balance sheet, and assets held under operating leases that are expensed in the CIES will largely
be removed with most leases now being classified as finance leases and put on the balance
sheet. The standard was originally due to be implemented on 1st April 2020 i.e. for the 2020-21
Accounts but this was postponed for one year. Then, in December 2020, in light of Covid-19
pressures, the CIPFA LASAAC Local Authority Accounting Code Board agreed to defer the
implementation of IFRS 16 Leases in the Code of Practice until the 2022-23 financial year.
In spring 2022, CIPFA/LASAAC agreed to defer the implementation of IFRS 16 until 1st April 2024.
However, both the 2022-23 and the 2023-24 Codes will allow for adoption should an authority
consider that it is able to do so as of 1st April 2022 or 2023.
Under the new standard, a right-of-use asset and lease liability will be recognised on the balance
sheet. The depreciation of leased assets and interest on lease liabilities will go through the
CIES. The process of collating information on leased assets is well underway. These are
accounting changes and have no impact on the cost of leasing to the organisation.

Page 141
43 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

3.

Assumptions made about the future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty

The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions made by
the Authority about the future or that are otherwise uncertain. Estimates are made taking into
account historical experience, current trends and other relevant factors. However because
balances cannot be determined with certainty, actual results could be materially different from
the assumptions and estimates.
The items in the Authority’s Balance Sheet at 31st March 2022 for which there is a significant risk
of material adjustments in the forthcoming finance year are set out below.
Item

Uncertainties

Property, Plant
and
Equipment
(see Note 10)

Assets are depreciated over useful lives
and are dependent on assumptions about
the level of repairs & maintenance that
will be incurred. The current economic
climate makes it uncertain that the
Authority will be able to sustain current
spending on repairs and maintenance,
bringing into doubt the useful lives
assigned to assets.

Pension
Liability (see
Note 32)

Estimation of the net liability to pay
pensions depends on a number of complex
judgements relating to the discount rate
used, the rate at which salaries are
projected to increase, changes in
retirement age, mortality rates and
expected returns on pension fund assets.
A firm of consulting actuaries is engaged to
provide the Authority with expert advice
about the assumptions to be applied for
firefighter pensions and Cheshire West &
Chester Council provide information on
the Local Government Pension Scheme.

Effect if actual results differ from
assumptions
Each 5% change in the value of Land &
Buildings assets would have an impact
of £4.8m on their Net Book Value at
31st March 2022.

The effects on the net pension liability
of changes in individual assumptions
can be measured. Sensitivity analyses
in respect of the Firefighter and Local
Government Pension schemes are
shown in Note 32, together with the
monetary value that would result if
they came to fruition.

The sensitivities regarding the principal assumptions used to measure the pension scheme
liabilities are shown in Note 32.
4.

Events after the Balance Sheet date

The Statement of Accounts was authorised for issue by the Treasurer on the 28th September
2022. Events taking place after this date are not reflected within the financial statements or
notes. Where events taking place prior to this date provided information about conditions
existing at 31st March 2022, the figures in the financial statements and notes have been adjusted
in all material respect to reflect the impact of this information.

Page 142
44 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

5.

Supporting information for the Expenditure and Funding Analysis note
Adjustments from General
Fund (GF) to arrive at the
Comprehensive Income &
Expenditure Statement
2021-22
Firefighting & rescue operations

Net Change
Total
for the
Other
Adjustments
Pensions Differences 2
2020-21
Adjustments
£000
£000
£000
£000
3,015
(1,171)
3
1,847

Adjustments
for Capital
Purposes 1

Protection

197

(77)

1

121

Prevention

332

(129)

-

203

Support Services

177

(69)

-

108

-

-

-

-

(454)

-

-

(454)

-

-

-

-

3,267

(1,446)

4

1,825

-

164

-

164

(682)

11,996

(1,517)

9,797

-

38

-

38

UPGs
Corporate/Finance Resources
Actuarial pension cost McCloud Judgement
Net cost of services
NWFC 25%
Other income & expenditure
from the funding analysis
NWFC 25%

Difference between GF surplus/
2,585
10,752
(1,513)
11,824
deficit and CIES surplus/ deficit
Note 1 – in general this column contains depreciation, impairment and revaluation gains and losses.
It also adjusts for profit/loss on asset disposals and capital grants. There are two items, minimum
revenue provision and capital expenditure which are not chargeable under generally accepted
accounting practices.
Note 2 – these include the timing differences relating to the cost of outstanding employee leave and
variations in the amount chargeable for business rates and council tax under statute and the Code
of Practice.
Adjustments from General
Net Change
Adjustments
Total
Fund (GF) to arrive at the
for the
Other
for Capital
Adjustments
Comprehensive Income &
Pensions Differences 2
Purposes 1
2019-20
Expenditure Statement
Adjustments
2020-21
£000
£000
£000
£000
Firefighting & rescue operations
3,477
(6,064)
4
(2,583)
Protection

211

(369)

1

(157)

Prevention

295

(514)

-

(219)

59

(105)

-

(46)

-

-

-

-

(5,306)

-

-

(5,306)

-

-

-

-

(1,264)

(7,052)

5

(8,311)

-

52

-

52

(395)

11,924

2,779

14,308

-

16

-

16

(1,659)

4,940

2,784

6,065

Support Services
UPGs
Corporate/Finance Resources
Actuarial pension cost McCloud Judgement
Net cost of services
NWFC 25%
Other income & expenditure
from the funding analysis
NWFC 25%
Difference between GF surplus/
deficit and CIES surplus/ deficit

Page 143
45 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

6.

Expenditure and Income analysed by nature
2020-21
£000
32,850
463
601
2,482
985
3,700
4,609
4,872
4,117
137
(120)
54,696
1,014
55,710

Expenditure:
Employee pay
Other Employee expenses
Pensions
Premises
Transport
Supplies, Services & other expenses
Agency & Contracted Services
Net change for the Pension adjustments
Capital Charges & Finance Resources
Members’ Allowances
Provisions
Total Expenditure
25% NWFC expenditure
Total Financial reporting entity Expenditure

Income:
(1,620)
Fees & Other Service Income
(17)
Sales
(49)
Interest
(47,942)
Government Grants & local taxation
(49,628)
Total Income
(949)
25% NWFC income
(50,577) Total Financial reporting entity Income
5,133 Net (surplus)/deficit provisions of services
7.

2021-22
£000

£000

31,912
509
336
2,608
1,103
3,883
5,167
10,550
3,915
138
60,121
938
61,059
(1,681)
(43)
(41)
(48,271)
(50,036)
(736)
(50,772)
10,287

Adjustment between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under regulations

Please refer to the Movement in Reserves Statement for details on the adjustments that are
made to the total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The adjustments reflect
items recognised by the Authority in year in accordance with proper accounting practice and are
further analysed in the Expenditure and Funding Analysis on page 16.
8.

Movement in Earmarked Reserves

For details on all earmarked reserves and any in-year movement, please refer to Note 19.

Page 144
46 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

9.

Notes to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

Within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statements there are three summary lines which are
explained in more detail within the next two tables.

Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure
Interest and Investment Income
Interest Payable and Similar Charges
Pension Net Interest
Total

Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income
Council Tax Income
Non-domestic Rates/Business Rates Retention Scheme
Non-specific Government Grants
Capital Grants and Contributions
NWFC – taxation (25%)
Total

2021-22
£000
(41)
192
12,034
12,185

2021-22
£000
(30,966)
(8,923)
(8,324)
(48,213)
1
(48,212)

2020-21
£000
(49)
53
11,940
11,944

2020-21
£000
(29,887)
(7,392)
(10,520)
(47,799)
(47,799)

Note that council tax and non-domestic rates income has been adjusted to reflect the surpluses
and deficits on Collection Fund accounts, as reflected in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

Page 145
47 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

10. Property, Plant and Equipment
The following table shows the movement of assets classified as property, plant and equipment including work in progress (WIP).

Cheshire Fire Authority

2021-22

Page 146

Cost or Valuation
At 1 April 2021
Additions
Revaluations: charged to reserve
Revaluations: charged to CIES
Disposals
Reclassifications
At 31 March 2022
Depreciation
At 1 April 2021
Charge in year
Written out to reserve
Written out to CIES
Disposals
Reclassifications
At 31 March 2022

48 | P a g e

£000
111,277
4,967
(415)
398
(508)
115,719

Fixtures &
Fittings
£000
62
62

Computer
equipment
£000
157
157

-

(11,742)
(4,282)
3,111
172
449
(12,292)

(52)
(52)

2,062
959

99,535
103,427

10
10

Land &
Buildings

Vehicles

Plant &
Equipment

Assets Under
construction

CFA Total

£000
91,331
2,339
(415)
398
1,527
95,180

£000
14,138
1,397
(337)
461
15,659

£000
3,746
346
(171)
3,921

£000
2,062
885
(1,988)
959

(3,283)
3,111
172
-

(8,694)
(845)
278
(9,261)

(3,048)
(154)
171
(3,031)

5,444
6,398

698
890

Net Book Value at 1 April 2021
91,331
Net Book Value at 31 March 2022
95,180
Note (a) see Asset held for sale note for more detail on page 54

Financial
reporting
entity

NWFC (25%)
NWFC Total

TOTAL

£000
219
219

£000
111,496
4,967

(138)
(7)
(145)

(190)
(7)
(197)

(11,932)
(4,289)

19
12

29
22

99,564
103,449

(415)
398
(508)
115,938

3,111
172
449
(12,489)

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

10. Property, Plant and Equipment
The following table shows the movement of assets classified as property, plant and equipment including work in progress (WIP).

Cheshire Fire Authority

2020-21

Page 147

Cost or Valuation
At 1 April 2020
Additions
Revaluations: charged to reserve
Revaluations: charged to CIES
Disposals
Reclassifications
At 31 March 2021
Depreciation
At 1 April 2020
Charge in year
Written out to reserve
Written out to CIES
Disposals
Reclassifications
At 31 March 2021

49 | P a g e

£000
94,766
12,122
5,564
(591)
(584)
111,277

Fixtures &
Fittings
£000
62
62

Computer
equipment
£000
157
157

-

(11,471)
(4,011)
2,587
569
584
(11,742)

(50)
(2)
(52)

(131)
(7)
(138)

(181)
(9)
(190)

(11,652)
(4,020)

10,190
2,062

83,295
99,535

12
10

26
19

38
29

83,333
99,564

Land &
Buildings

Vehicles

Plant &
Equipment

Assets Under
construction

CFA Total

£000
66,211
1,775
5,564
(591)
18,372
91,331

£000
14,568
63
(493)
14,138

£000
3,797
40
(91)
3,746

£000
10,190
10,244
(18,372)
2,062

(3,156)
2,587
569
-

(8,442)
(745)
493
(8,694)

(3,029)
(110)
91
(3,048)

6,126
5,444

768
698

Net Book Value at 1 April 2020
66,211
Net Book Value at 31 March 2021
91,331
Note (a) see Asset held for sale note for more detail on page 54

Financial
reporting
entity

NWFC (25%)
NWFC Total

TOTAL

£000
219
219

£000
94,985
12,122
5,564
(591)
(584)
111,496

2,587
569
584
(11,932)

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

Revaluations
Property (land and buildings) assets included in the Balance Sheet are revalued in detail every
five years. The Fire Authority’s property portfolio had a full valuation on 31st March 2022,
prepared by Martin Wilson BSc (Hons) MRICS who was awarded the Certificate in Asset Valuation
by CIPFA in March 2017 with assistance from Hardeep Saini BSc (Hons). The valuation was
supervised by Ian S Pitt BSc (Hons) FRICS IRRV (Hons), Partner and Head of the Valuation Faculty
within Bruton Knowles.
This Asset Valuation has been provided in accordance with the RICS Valuation – Global Standards
that came into effect on the 31st January 2022, Valuation Information Paper 10, CIPFA Code of
Practice on Local Authority Accounting, the International Financial Reporting Standards and the
RICS professional standards and guidance, UK, depreciated replacement cost method of
valuation for financial reporting, 1st edition, November 2018.
The basis of the valuations is as follows:
▪

Day Crewed housing/ residential properties – Existing Use Value

▪

Fire Stations. Training Centre and Safety Centre – Depreciated Replacement Cost

▪

Surplus Assets – Fair Value

Surplus assets, measured for their economic benefits at fair value under IFRS13 – Fair Value
Measurement. The Authority holds just over two acres of land next to Hallwood Link Road,
Runcorn that it has deemed as a surplus asset. It is valued at £0.385m at 31st March 2022
(£0.35m March 2021).
Other non-current assets are valued at depreciated historical cost in line with the Authority’s
accounting policies.
Capital Commitments
At 31st March 2022, the Authority had capital commitments of £0.703m (31st March 2021
£2.971m).
The appliance replacement programme had two new specialist pumping appliances in the build
phase at 31st March 2022, delivery received April 2022, along with a further three chassis
ordered. Two operational vehicles, one support vehicle and a number of computer hardware
items had been ordered but not delivered at 31st March 2022.
The Authority has approved a replacement fire station in Crewe however, at 31st March 2022 the
project remained in its design stage. A design and build contract for a value of £6.75m has since
been entered into turning this into a commitment on 26th May 2022.
These commitments are detailed as follows:
Fire station modernisation programme
Appliance replacement programme
Specialist and Support vehicles/Equipment
Total capital commitments

Page 148
50 | P a g e

31 March 22
£000
552
151

31 March 21
£000
2,109
515
347

703

2,971

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

11. Intangible Assets
The Authority accounts for software as intangible assets, to the extent that the software is not an
integral part of a particular IT system and accounted for as part of the hardware item in plant and
equipment. The intangible assets reflect the purchased software and licences.
All software is given a finite useful life, based on assessments of the period that the software is
expected to be of use to the Authority. The useful lives generally assigned to the major software
suites used by the Authority is five years. The movement on intangible assets during the year is as
follows:
2021-22
2020-21
CFA NWFC Total
CFA NWFC Total
(25%)
(25%)
£000 £000 £000
£000 £000 £000
Carrying Amount
Balance at start of year
192
917 1,109
192
915 1,107
Reclassification
10
10
Additions
31
31
2
2
Disposals
Balance at end of year
192
958 1,150
192
917 1,109
Amortisation
Balance at start of year
(174) (628) (802)
(165) (525) (690)
Charge for the year
(9)
(64)
(73)
(9) (103) (112)
Disposals
Balance at end of year
(183) (692) (875)
(174) (628) (802)
Net Book Value at 1 April
18
289
307
27
390
417
Net Book Value at 31 March
9
266
275
18
289
307
12. Financial Instruments
The definition of a financial instrument is “any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one
entity and a financial liability, or equity instrument of another entity”. The term ‘financial
instrument’ covers both financial assets and liabilities. These range from straightforward debtors
and creditors to more complex investments and borrowings. The following categories of financial
instruments are carried in the Balance Sheet; current is deemed to be under one year and longterm over one year.

Page 149
51 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

Investments
- Investments
- Imprest and cash
Total Investments
Debtors
- Debtors at amortised costs
- Plus items not classed as
Financial Instruments
Total Debtors
Borrowings
Financial Liabilities at amortised costs
- PWLB
Total Borrowings
Creditors
- Financial liabilities at amortised costs

Long-term
31 March 31 March
2022
2021
£000
£000
-

-

12,510
6,297
18,807

7,002
6,985
13,987

-

-

838

1,511

-

-

3,615

4,719

-

-

4,453

6,230

(12,012)
(12,012)

(5,012)
(5,012)

-

-

-

-

(3,166)

(4,989)

-

-

(3,471)

(4,756)

-

-

(6,637)

(9,745)

- Plus items not classed as Financial
Instruments

Total Creditors
Income, Expense, Gains and Losses
2021-22

Interest Expense
Impairment losses (bad debt provision)
Total expense in Surplus/Deficit on the
Provision of Services
Interest Income
Total income in Surplus/Deficit on the
Provision of Services
Net Gain/(Loss) for the year

Current
31 March 31 March
2022
2021
£000
£000

Financial
Liabilities at
amortised
costs
£000
(192)
-

Financial
Assets;
Loans and
Receivables
£000
-

TOTAL

(192)

-

(192)

-

41

41

-

41

41

(192)

41

(151)

(53)
-

11

(53)
11

(53)

11

(42)

-

49

49

-

49

49

(53)

60

7

£000
(192)
-

2020-21
Interest Expense
Impairment losses (bad debt provision)
Total expense in Surplus/Deficit on the
Provision of Services
Interest Income
Total income in Surplus/Deficit on the
Provision of Services
Net Gain/(Loss) for the year

Page 150
52 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

Fair Values of Assets and Liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities represented by loans and receivables and long-term debtors and
creditors are carried in the Balance Sheet at amortised cost. Their fair value can be assessed by
calculating the present values of the cash flows that will take place of the remaining term of the
instrument, making the following assumptions:
▪

For PWLB, interest rates prevailing at 31st March 2022;

▪

No early repayment or impairment is recognised;

▪

Where an instrument will mature in the next 12 months, the carrying amount is assumed
to be an approximate to fair value; and

▪

The fair value of trade and other receivables is taken to be the invoiced or billed amount.

Financial Liabilities
PWLB
TOTAL

31 March 2022
Carrying
Fair
Amount
Value
£000
£000
(12,012)
(10,105)
(12,012)
(10,105)

31 March 2021
Carrying
Fair
Amount
Value
£000
£000
(5,012)
(5,135)
(5,012)
(5,135)

Short-term debtors and creditors are carried at cost with bank deposits and short-term
investments also carried at cost as this is deemed a fair approximation of their value.
The Authority’s activities in relation to financial instruments expose it to a variety of financial risks:
▪

Credit Risk – the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the
Authority.

▪

Liquidity Risk – the possibility that the Authority might not have funds available to meet
its commitments and payments.

▪

Re-financing Risk – the possibility that the Authority might be requiring to renew a
financial instrument on maturity at disadvantageous interest rates or terms.

▪

Market Risk – the possibility that financial loss might arise for the Authority as a result of
changes in measures such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates or stock market
movements.

The Treasury Management Strategy is approved annually by the Fire Authority when it approves
the budget. It includes a section on risks associated with Treasury Management and identifies
the Head of Finance (Fire and Police) as being responsible for managing them. The overarching
principle is to seek to maximise financial benefit from Treasury Management activities within a
control framework which mitigate against the high risk attached to these activities. The
Authority’s principal objectives for investments are security first, liquidity next and finally yield.
Credit Risk
Credit Risk arises from deposits with banks and financial institutions as well as credit exposure to
the Authority’s customers. This risk is minimised through the Annual Investment Strategy, which
requires that deposits are not made with financial institutions unless they meet identified
minimum credit criteria, in accordance with the Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s Credit

Page 151
53 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

Ratings Services. The Annual Investment Strategy also considers maximum amounts and time
limits with a financial institution located in each category. It imposes a maximum sum of £10
million to be invested at any one time with any single institution or group.
The Fire Authority uses the creditworthiness service provided by Link Asset Services. This service
uses a sophisticated modelling approach with credit ratings from all three rating agencies - Fitch,
Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s, forming the core element. However, it does not rely solely on
the current credit ratings of counterparties but also uses the following as overlays:
▪
▪
▪

credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies
credit Default Swaps to give early warning of likely changes in credit ratings
sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy countries

This modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit watches and credit overlooks in a
weighted scoring system, which is then combined with an overlay of CDS spreads for which the
end product is a series of colour coded bands which indicate the relative standing of
counterparties. These colour codes are used by the Authority to determine the suggested
duration of investments.
As this methodology uses a wide range of information beyond basic credit ratings, it ensures that
no one source of information is given undue credence. All ratings and colour codes are
monitored weekly via Link’s credit listings and in-between via business press.
Customers of goods and services are assessed taking into account their financial position, past
experience and other factors to produce an individual credit limit in accordance with the
parameters set by the Authority.
The Authority’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its investments in banks and
building societies of £12.5m (2020-21 £7.0m) cannot be assessed generally as the risk of any
institution failing to make interest payments or repay the principal sum will be specific to each
institution. Recent experience has shown that it is rare for such organisations to be unable to
meet their commitments. A risk of non-recovery applies to all of the Authority’s deposits but no
evidence exists at 31st March 2022 to indicate any material likelihood of this occurring.
The following analysis summarises the Authority’s potential maximum exposure to credit risk on
other financial assets based on historic experience of default and non-collection and
demonstrates that the risk is clearly not material at 31st March 2022:

Deposits with banks
and financial
institutions

Amount at
31/03/2022
£000
A

Historical Risk of
Default at
31/03/2022
%
B

Estimated maximum
exposure to default
and uncollectability at
31/03/2022
£000
(A x B)

12,510

0.015

1.877

During 2021-22, there were no breaches of the approved credit limits set within the Annual
Investment Strategy. The Authority does not expect any losses from non-performance by any of
its counter-parties in relation to deposits but continues to invest in a prudent manner.
The Authority does not generally allow credit for customers.

Page 152

54 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

The level of debt held which is past its due date is analysed by age as follows:
Analysis of the Fire Authority’s
system debtors
Less than three months
Three to six months
Six months to one year
More than one year
TOTAL

31 March 2022 31 March 2021
£000
£000
268
181
1
7
12
275
194

Liquidity Risk
The Authority has a comprehensive cash flow management system that seeks to ensure that cash
is available as needed. If unexpected cash demands occur the Authority has ready access to
borrowings from the money markets and the Public Works Loan Board. There is no significant
risk that it will be unable to raise the necessary funding to meet its commitments under financial
instruments. Instead the risk is that the Authority will be bound to replenish a significant
proportion of its borrowings at a time of unfavourable interest rates.
The Authority set limits on the proportion of it fixed rate borrowing maturing during specified
periods. The maturity analysis of the current financial liabilities is as follows:

Less than one year
Between one and two years
Between two and five years
Between five and ten years
Between ten and fifteen years
Between fifteen and twenty years
More than twenty years
TOTAL

31 March 2022
£000
426
586
11,000
12,012

31 March 2021
£000
893
119
4,000
5,012

The analysis above shows PWLB borrowing. The Authority took out two new loans with PWLB
during 2021-22, one in July 2021 for £4m that matures in 2069-70 and the other one for £3m in
November 2021 maturing in 2071-72. Last financial year 2020-21, in March 2021 the Authority
took out a new loan with PWLB for £4m which matures in 2070-71.
All trade and other payables are due to be paid in less than one year.
Market Risk
If interest rates had been 1% higher (with all other variables held constant), the financial effect
would have been as follows:
2021-22
£000
Daily average investment balance (average rate of interest 0.22%)
18,434
Additional interest assuming such rates were 1% higher than actual
184
Decrease in fair value of fixed rate borrowing liabilities (no impact on CIES)
3,330
The Authority aimed to minimise interest rate risk by working with its Treasury Management
advisers during 2021-22, Link Asset Services, to agree a strategy in relation to investment and
debt portfolios, which is reflected within the overall Treasury Management Strategy. The

Page 153
55 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

Authority’s policy is to maximise the percentage of borrowings and investments at fixed rates as
this provides cost certainty for budget purposes, especially in the current economic climate. In
addition, the Authority has relatively small portfolios of loans and investments, which makes it
more difficult to offset risk through a mixed portfolio.
The Authority does not have any investment in equity shares and is therefore, not exposed to
price risk. The Authority has very low levels of transactions in foreign currencies and therefore
has minimal exposure to exchange rate risk.
13. Assets held for sale (AHFS)
2021-22
Cost or Valuation
At 1 April
Newly classified as AHFS:
• Property, Plant and Equipment
• Other Assets

£000

-

Revaluations gains/(losses)
Impairment losses
Assets sold
At 31 March

2020-21

£000
155

155
(155)
-

£000

-

£000
875

875
(720)
155

At 31st March 2022, there was no assets held for sale. At 31st March 2021, one of the day crewed
houses was held as an asset held for sale, this sold in June 2021.
14. Inventories
2021-22
Balance at 1 April 2021
Purchases in year
Distributed in year (expended)
Write-off in year
Balance at 31 March 2022

2020-21
Balance at 1 April 2020
Purchases in year
Distributed in year (expended)
Write-off in year
Balance at 31 March 2021

Workshops

Uniform

£000
74
38
(36)
76

£000
671
204
(259)
616

Workshops

Uniform

£000
71
25
(22)
74

£000
580
288
(197)
671

Page 154
56 | P a g e

Firefighters
& General
£000
74
176
(192)
58

TOTAL

Firefighters
& General
£000
72
203
(201)
74

TOTAL

£000
819
418
(487)
750

£000
723
516
(420)
819

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

15. Debtors (Amounts due to the Authority)

Central Government bodies
Other Local Authorities
NHS bodies
Other Entities and Individuals
Princes Trust related debtors
Collection Fund – Council Tax payers
Collection Fund – Business Rate payers
Total for Cheshire Fire
Cheshire Fire share of NWFC debtors (25%)
Financial reporting entity Total
16. Cash and Cash Equivalent

Cash held by the Authority
Bank Current Accounts
Total for Cheshire Fire
Cheshire Fire share of NWFC cash (25%)
Financial reporting entity Total

17. Creditors (Amounts payable by the Authority)

Central Government bodies
Other Local Authorities
Public Corporations
Other Entities and Individuals
Collection Fund – Council Tax payers
Collection Fund – Business Rate payers
Total for Cheshire Fire
Cheshire Fire share of NWFC creditors (25%)
Financial reporting entity Total

31 Mar 22
£000
1,728
301
31
514
128
1,257
235
4,194
259
4,453

31 Mar 21
£000
3,754
194
66
448
124
1,253
232
6,071
159
6,230

31 Mar 22
£000
35
6,146
6,181
116
6,297

31 Mar 21
£000
33
6,804
6,837
148
6,985

31 Mar 22
£000
(1,866)
(1,550)
(1,956)
(571)
(110)
(6,053)
(584)
(6,637)

31 Mar 21
£000
(1,909)
(3,230)
(3,420)
(557)
(84)
(9,200)
(545)
(9,745)

Page 155
57 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

18. Provisions
The Authority is subject to the fluctuations of the business rates collection funds of the four
unitary councils in Cheshire. A provision has been created to reflect the likely costs of a deficit
on the funds and the Authority’s share of the cost of business rate appeals.

Balance as at 1 April 2021
Additions to provision in year
Amounts used in year
Reduction to provision in year
Balance as at 31 March 2022

Collection
Fund
£000
(867)
(776)
867
(776)

Total
provision
£000
(867)
(776)
867
(776)

19. Usable Reserves
Usable reserves are those reserves that can be used to fund general expenditure or reduce local
taxation. Usable reserves held by the Authority are set out below.

General Fund
Capital Receipts
Earmarked Reserves
- Resource Centre Managers
- Community Risk Reductions
- Unitary Performance Groups
Capital Reserve
TOTAL
NWFC (25%) general fund balance
Financial reporting entity Total

31 Mar 22
£000
(2,210)
-

31 Mar 21
£000
(2,210)
(285)

31 Mar 20
£000
(2,210)
-

(8,476)
(371)
(226)
(12,649)
(23,932)
(80)
(24,012)

(18,392)
(333)
(162)
(1,299)
(22,681)
(79)
(22,760)

(14,523)
(345)
(120)
(4,266)
(21,464)
(78)
(21,542)

General Fund: The general fund represents resources available to meet the potential financial
consequences of the Authority’s risk profile and other unforeseen circumstances. On a separate
line, 25% of North West Fire Control Ltd is also shown.
Capital Receipts: Capital receipts holds the proceeds from the sale of fixed assets and can only
be used to fund capital expenditure or repay debt.
Resource Centre Managers: This earmarked reserve is set aside to meet future identified
commitments within the respective Resource Managers’ areas.
Community Risk Reduction: This funding has been earmarked to support the cost of the
Authority’s home safety assessments and other community safety activities.
Unitary Performance Groups: This earmarked reserve is set aside for facilitating partner
engagement in community safety activities.
Capital Reserve: This reserve is earmarked to fund future capital expenditure.

Page 156
58 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

20. Unusable Reserves
The Authority also holds unusable reserves (technical accounting adjustment accounts reflecting
the difference between the outcome of applying proper accounting practices and the statutory
requirements for funding expenditure within the public sector). This note shows the movements
in year.
31 Mar 22
31 Mar 21
31 Mar 20
£000
£000
£000
Revaluation Reserve
(36,684)
(35,189)
(28,013)
Capital Adjustment Account
(50,723)
(51,821)
(49,472)
Pensions Reserve
604,332
602,218
522,587
Collection Fund Adjustment Account
912
2,429
(350)
Accumulated Absences Account
609
604
599
TOTAL
518,446
518,241
445,351
Revaluation Reserve
The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains made by the Authority arising from increases in the
value of its non-current assets. The balance is reduced when assets with accumulated gains are:




Re-valued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost;
Used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through depreciation; or
Disposed of and the gains are realised.

The Reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 1st April 2007, the date that the
Reserve was created. Accumulated gains arising before that date are consolidated into the
balance on the Capital Adjustment Account.
2021-22 2020-21
Revaluation Reserve
£000
£000
Balance at 1 April
(35,189) (28,013)
Upward revaluation of assets

(6,597)

(8,506)

Downward revaluation of assets and impairment losses

3,901

354

Difference between fair value depreciation & historical cost depreciation

1,201

976

(36,684)

(35,189)

Balance at 31 March

Capital Adjustment Account
The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the different
arrangements for accounting for the consumption of non-current assets and for financing the
acquisition, construction or additions to those assets under statutory provisions. The Account is
debited with the cost of acquisition, construction or subsequent costs as depreciation,
impairment losses and amortisations are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement (with reconciling postings from the Revaluation Reserve to convert fair value figures
to a historical cost basis). The Account is credited with the amounts set aside by the Authority as
finance for the costs of acquisition, construction and subsequent costs.
The Capital Adjustment Account contains revaluation gains accumulated on Property, Plant and
Equipment before 1st April 2007, the date that the Revaluation Reserve was created to hold such
gains.

Page 157
59 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

2021-22
£000
(51,821)

2020-21
£000
(49,472)

Charges for depreciation and impairment on non-current assets

4,282

4,011

Revaluation gains /(losses) on property, plant and equipment

(570)

23

9

9

213

720

(1,201)

(976)

(49,088)

(45,685)

(454)

(5,306)

-

-

(513)

(414)

Capital financing – charged against Capital Grants – unapplied

-

-

Statutory provision for financing of capital expenditure (MRP)

(668)

(416)

(50,723)

(51,821)

Capital Adjustment Account
Balance at 1 April

Amortisation of intangible assets
Impact of disposal or sale of non-current assets
Adjusting amounts written out of the revaluation reserve
Capital financing – charged against the General Fund
Capital financing – funding from Capital Grants and Contributions
Capital financing – charged against Capital Receipts

Balance at 31 March

Pensions Reserve
The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for
accounting for post-employment benefits and for funding benefits in accordance with statutory
provisions. The Authority accounts for post-employment benefits in the Comprehensive Income
and Expenditure Statement as the benefits are earned by employees accruing years of service,
updating the liabilities recognised to reflect inflation, changing assumptions and investment
returns on any resources set aside to meet the costs.
However, statutory arrangements require benefits earned to be financed as the Authority makes
employer's contributions to pension funds or eventually pays any pensions for which it is directly
responsible. The debit balance on the Pensions Reserve therefore shows a substantial shortfall
in the benefits earned by past and current employees and the resources the Authority has set
aside to meet them. The statutory arrangements will ensure that funding will have been set
aside by the time the benefits come to be paid.
2021-22
£000
602,218

2020-21
£000
522,587

Re-measurement of the net defined benefit liability/(asset)

(8,638)

74,691

Reversal of pension accounting entries in the CIES

25,804

20,344

Employer’s pension contributions and payments to pensioners in
year

(15,051)

(15,404)

Balance at 31 March

604,332

602,218

Pensions Reserve
Balance at 1 April

Page 158
60 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

Collection Fund Adjustment Account
The Collection Fund Adjustment Account manages the differences arising from the recognition of
council tax and non-domestic rates income in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement as it falls due from council tax payers and business rates payers compared with the
statutory arrangements for paying across amounts to the General Fund from the Collection Fund.
Collection Fund Adjustment Account
Balance at 1 April
Amount by which the council tax and non-domestic rates income
credited to the CIES is different to the income calculated under
statute.
Balance at 31 March

2021-22
£000
2,429

2020-21
£000
(350)

(1,517)

2,779

912

2,429

Accumulated Absences Account
The Accumulated Absences Account absorbs the differences that would otherwise arise on the
General Fund Balance from accruing for compensated absences earned but not taken in the year,
e.g. annual leave entitlement carried forward at 31st March. Statutory arrangements require that
the impact on the General Fund balance is neutralised by transfers to or from the Account.
2021-22
£000
604

2020-21
£000
599

(604)

(599)

Amounts accrued at the end of the current year

609

604

Balance at 31 March

609

604

Accumulated Absences Account
Balance at 1 April
Settlement or cancellation of accrual made at the end of the
preceding year

21. Notes to the Cash Flow Statement
Cash Flow Statement - Operating Activities - adjustment for non-cash movements charged to the
net (surplus)/deficit on the provision of services:
2021-22 2020-21
£000
£000
Depreciation
(4,289)
(4,020)
Impairment and downward revaluation
570
(23)
Amortisation
(73)
(112)
11
Movement in impairment provision for bad debts
Movement in creditors
1,948
(505)
Movement in debtors
(1,777)
1,410
Movement in amount due from pension fund
291
(607)
Movement in stock/inventories
(69)
96
Movement in pension liability
(10,752)
(4,940)
Carrying amount of non-current assets and non-current assets held
(214)
(720)
for sale, sold or de-recognised
Other non-cash items charged to the net surplus or deficit on the
91
(14)
provision of services
Total adjustment for non-cash movements
(14,274)
(9,424)

Page 159
61 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

The cash flows for operating activities include the following items:
Interest received
Interest paid
Cash Flow Statement - Investment Activities
Purchase of non-current assets
Purchase of short-term and long-term investments
Proceeds from sale of non-current assets
Proceeds from short-term and long-term investments
Other receipts from investing activities
Net cash flows from investing activities
Cash Flow Statement - Financing Activities
Cash receipts of short-term and long-term borrowing
Cash payments for the reduction of the outstanding liabilities
relating to finance leases
Repayment of short-term and long-term borrowing
Net cash flows from financing activities

2021-22
£000
41
(192)

2020-21
£000
49
(53)

2021-22
£000
6,167
21,008
(228)
(15,500)
11,447

2020-21
£000
13,639
12,989
(699)
(19,000)
6,929

2021-22
£000
(7,000)

2020-21
£000
(4,000)

-

-

(7,000)

(4,000)

Adjustments for items included in the net surplus or deficit on the provision of services that are
investing and financing activities:
2021-22 2020-21
£000
£000
Reverse - Other receipts from investing activities
Reverse - Proceeds from sale of non-current assets
228
699
Reverse - Cash payments for the reduction of the outstanding
liabilities relating to finance leases
Total
228
699
22. Members’ Allowances
The Authority paid the following amounts to Members during the year:

Members' allowances
Travel and subsistence, training and conferences
Total

Page 160
62 | P a g e

2021-22
£000
141
4
145

2020-21
£000
139
1
140

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

23. Officers’ Remuneration
2021-22
Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive
Mark Cashin
Deputy Chief Fire Officer
Alex Waller
Assistant Chief Fire Officer
Paul Binyon
Assistant Chief Fire Officer
Director of Governance and Commissioning
Director of Transformation

Page 161

Treasurer (Section 151 Officer) (e)
Total 2021-22
2020-21
Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive
Mark Cashin
Assistant Chief Fire Officer (d)
Gus O’Rourke
Assistant Chief Fire Officer (d)
Alex Waller
Director of Governance and Commissioning
Director of Transformation
Treasurer (Section 151 Officer)
Total 2020-21

Notes:

Dates in
Post

Gross Annual Salary and
Salary (a)
Allowances
£
£

Benefits in Compensation
Pension
kind (b)
for loss of office Contribution
£
£
£

Total
£

Full year

168,993

166,870

-

-

47,781

214,651

Full year

135,194

133,659

5,200

-

38,216

177,075

15/05/202131/03/2022

126,744

109,090

3,584

-

40,691

153,365

101,588
80,938

883
109,220
87,049

-

-

20,833
16,599

883
130,053
103,648

59,840

18,902

-

-

3,513

22,415

£

625,673
£

8,784
£

£

167,633
£

802,090
£

Full year

161,646

159,828

-

-

45,759

205,587

01/04/202026/03/2021

121,234

123,128

3,412

-

43,840

170,380

Full year

121,234

120,108

4,555

-

34,319

158,982

Full year
Full year
Full year

97,626
77,745
59,840

102,820
81,944
24,571
612,399

7,967

-

19,579
15,592
4,634
163,723

122,399
97,536
29,205
784,089

Left26/03/2021

Full year
Full year
01/04/202103/01/2022

a) Gross annualised salary represents the gross full time equivalent salary applicable to the post at 31st March, or when the person left post if earlier.

b) Benefits in kind consist of taxable benefits relating to car lease and mileage payments.
c) All members of the Leadership Team above are excluded from the remuneration banding figures shown on next page.
d) Officers are in different pension schemes.
e) Role fulfilled by Deputy Section 151 Officer under Joint Corporate Services arrangement with Cheshire Constabulary from 04/01/2022 to 20/04/2022. Treasurer post filled 20/04/2022.

63 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

Of the Authority's remaining employees, the following numbers received more than £50,000
remuneration for the year (excluding employer's pension contributions):
No of Employees
2021-22 2020-21
28
26
19
19
13
11
10
5
1
3
1
3
2
1
1*

Remuneration Band
£50,000 - £54,999
£55,000 - £59,999
£60,000 - £64,999
£65,000 - £69,999
£70,000 - £74,999
£75,000 - £79,999
£80,000 - £84,999
£85,000 - £89,999
£145,000 - £149,999

* includes redundancy
During 2021-22, a number of staff worked additional hours to assist with the coronavirus vaccine
programme.
The number of exit packages with total cost per band and the total cost of the compulsory and
other redundancies are set out in the table below.
Exit package
cost band
(including special
payments)

Number of
compulsory
redundancies

Number of
other
departures
agreed

2021-22
£0 - £20,000
2
Total
2
Amounts provided for in CI&E in 2021-22 to be released
in 2022-23
Total cost included in 2021-22 CI&E Statement
2020-21
£100,000 - £149,999
1
1
Total
1
1
Amounts provided for in CI&E in 2019-20 released in
2020-21
Total cost included in 2020-21 CI&E Statement

Total number of
exit packages by
cost band

Total cost of
exit packages
in each band
£

2
2

2,790
2,790

-

2,790

2
2

267,703
267,703

(1)

(120,000)

24. Termination Benefits
During 2021-22 two members of staff received termination benefits due to the end of a
temporary increase to prevention services delivered.
See Note 23 for the number of exit packages and total cost per band.

Page 162
64 | P a g e

147,703

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

25. External Audit Costs
The Authority has incurred the following costs in relation to the audit of the Statement of
Accounts, certification of grant claims and statutory inspections and to non-audit services
provided by the Authority's external auditors:

Fees payable to Grant Thornton with
2019-20
regard to external audit services carried
2020-21
2021-22
out by the appointed auditor for the year.
Total paid/ to be paid in financial year

2022-23
£000
11
11

2021-22
£000
12
26
38

2020-21
£000
4
26
30

Shown in the 2022-23 column are £11,650 of additional fees anticipated for 2021-22 but not paid
as at 31st March 2022.
26. Grant Income
The Authority credited the following grants, contributions and donations to the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement during the year:
2021-22
2020-21
£000
£000
Credited to Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income and Expenditure
Revenue Support Grant
(4,013)
(3,991)
Business rates - central government top up grant
(5,190)
(5,190)
Business rates - levy account surplus
S31 grant - Business rates / NDR
(1,643)
(2,773)
Local council tax support grant
(505)
Transparency grant
(8)
(8)
Fire Pension grant
(2,104)
(2,104)
Covid-19 emergency funding / NHS support grant
(73)
(1,327)
Tax income guarantee/ compensation scheme
36
(263)
Sales, Fees and Charges compensation grant
(2)
(54)
(13,502)
(15,710)
Credited to Services
Fire Revenue Grant - New Dimensions Fund
(7)
(6)
Fire Revenue Grant - FireLink
(145)
(178)
Grenfell Infrastructure Fund
(83)
Building Risk Review Fund
(60)
Protection Uplift Programme
(190)
(117)
Accreditation of Fire Protection Officers grant
(31)
Pension admin grant
(62)
(61)
Emergency Services Mobile Communications Programme (ESMCP)
(59)
(144)
Apprenticeship Levy
(54)
(86)
Other Grants
(12)
Donations
(1)
(6)
Other contributions
(29)
(13)
(547)
(797)

Page 163
65 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

27. Related Parties
The Authority is required to disclose material transactions with related parties - bodies or
individuals that have the potential to control or influence the Authority or to be controlled or
influenced by the Authority. Disclosure of these transactions allows readers to assess the extent
to which the Authority might have been constrained in its ability to operate independently or
might have secured the ability to limit another party's ability to bargain freely with the Authority.
Central Government
Central Government has significant influence over the general operations of the Authority - it is
responsible for providing the statutory framework within which the Authority operates, provides
a substantial part of its funding in the form of grants and prescribes the terms of many of the
transactions that the Authority has with other parties.
Grants received from Government Departments are set out in note 26, Grant Income.
The Authority has utilised the borrowing facilities operated by the Debt Management Office
(PWLB loans).
Members
Members of the Authority have direct control over the Authority's financial and operating
policies. The total of members' allowances paid in the year is shown in Note 22 (Members'
Allowances). There were no transactions during the year in which members were required to
declare an interest.
Officers
Mark Cashin, Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive of Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service is a
Trustee for ‘Classroom in the Clouds’. Mark joined the team of Trustees in 2014. Mark has been
integral in supporting the work of the Cheshire Fire Cadets and Fire Apprentices who have been
magnificent in raising money to build many classrooms in Nepal.
Alex Waller, Deputy Chief Fire Officer, became a Director of Fire and Rescue Indemnity Company
(FRIC) on 10th June 2021. This is a mutual set up on behalf of 12 organisations. For more
information see note 29.
There were no other transactions during the year in which officers were required to declare an
interest.
Entities Controlled or Significantly Influenced by the Authority
The Authority was one of four Fire and Rescue Authorities that together set up NW Fire Control
Limited (NWFC). NWFC is a company limited by guarantee, which was incorporated in July 2007
and was established to operate a Regional Control Centre with the responsibility for Fire and
Rescue Service mobilisation for the North West region. It has been determined that the company
is governed by Joint Control due to the fact that unanimous consent exists for key decisions and
that each Authority has equal voting rights. This joint arrangement has been deemed to be a
Joint Operation as the parties have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities relating
to the arrangement. More details on NWFC can be found in the next note.

Page 164
66 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

Safer Cheshire Limited, a company limited by guarantee, was established by the Authority on
15th December 2015, with the object of reducing accidental death, injury and harm by educating
those most at risk about staying safe at home, on the road and in the community. An application
to register this company with the Charity Commission has been unsuccessful. There was no
activity in 2021-22, except for the repayment of the £5k donation back from Safer Cheshire
Limited to Cheshire Fire Authority in respect of initial working capital, which was not utilised and
is no longer required.
Firefighters Pension Fund
The Fire Authority administers the Firefighter Pensions Schemes. The account for the schemes is
included in the Statement of Accounts. See note 32 for more details.
Other Public Bodies (subject to common control by central government)
The Fire Authority consists of 23 members, who are nominated by the constituent local
authorities (the unitary councils of Cheshire West and Chester, Cheshire East, Halton and
Warrington). All transactions between the Authority and these authorities are included in the
accounts. The principal transactions between the Authority and the constituent authorities are
in respect of precept of council tax and the baseline funding (the Fire Authority's share of
Business Rates raised in its four constituent authorities).
These are as follows:
Billing Authority
[a] Council Tax
Cheshire East Council
Cheshire West and Chester Council
Halton Borough Council
Warrington Borough Council
Total
Billing Authority
[b] Business Rates
Cheshire East Council
Cheshire West and Chester Council
Halton Borough Council
Warrington Borough Council
Total

2021-22
£000

2020-21
£000

(12,458)
(10,068)
(2,905)
(5,535)
(30,966)

(12,004)
(9,720)
(2,866)
(5,297)
(29,887)

2021-22
£000

2020-21
£000

(1,182)
(1,264)
(504)
(783)
(3,733)

(706)
(574)
(371)
(552)
(2,203)

Note that council tax / business rates income above; has been adjusted to reflect the surpluses
and deficits on Collection Fund accounts, as reflected in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

Page 165
67 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

As at 31st March the other local authorities net position due to Cheshire Fire was:

Billing Authority
Cheshire East Council
Cheshire West and Chester Council
Halton Borough Council
Warrington Borough Council
Total

31 Mar 22
£000

31 Mar 21
£000

(192)
47

592
651

136

18

(327)
(336)

413
1,674

28. NW Fire Control Limited (NWFC)
NW Fire Control Limited is a company limited by guarantee which was incorporated in July 2007
and was established to operate a Regional Control Centre with the responsibility for Fire and
Rescue Service mobilisation for the North West region.
During 2011-12, decisions were made about the future of the project following the closure of the
National Project announced in December 2011 by the Fire Minister. The Company has four
members, which are Cheshire Fire Authority, Cumbria County Council, Greater Manchester
Combined Authority and Lancashire Fire and Rescue Authority (FRAs). The liability of each
member in the event of the company being wound up is limited and shall not exceed £1. Each
member of the company has the right to appoint two directors. All directors have equal voting
rights.
During May 2014, all four services transferred their Control Room functions into the regionalised
service provided by NWFC. The cost of the service is charged out to the four FRAs on a pro rata
basis and provided in accordance with a Service Level Agreement. The implementation phase
continued to be funded by a section 31 grant from the Department for Communities and Local
Government plus an ongoing grant to fund 66% of the lease costs for the building. The grant is
paid to Greater Manchester Combined Authority as lead Authority for the North West region and
released to the company as required. From 8th May 2017 Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue
Service became the responsibility of the Greater Manchester Combined Authority. There have
also been contributions to the project from the FRAs.
It was determined during 2018-19 that the company (NWFC) is governed by Joint Control due to
the fact that unanimous consent exists for key decisions and that each Authority has equal voting
rights. This joint arrangement has been deemed to be a Joint Operation as the parties have rights
to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities relating to the arrangement. This is in accordance
with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom based on
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS 10, 11 & 12).
On the basis of materiality of the 25% share against the balances of Cheshire Fire Authority it has
been determined that Cheshire Fire Authority’s share of this joint operation are required to be
reported, and are therefore included in these accounts.

Page 166
68 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

Below shows the key information from the draft financial statements of NW Fire Control Ltd:

Total Assets less Current Liabilities
Net Assets *
Profits/(deficit) before taxation
Profits/(deficit) after taxation

2021-22
Pre-audit
£000

2020-21
Final
£000

2020-21
Draft
£000

321
(4,864)
(803)
(804)

316
(6,723)
(262)
(264)

317
(6,722)
(262)
(262)

*Net assets include £5.19m (£7.04m 2020-21) for the future pension liabilities under FRS17
reported by the Cheshire Pension Fund actuaries. All figures are shown net of VAT.
Changes between 2020-21 draft and final accounts are shown in the table below. These
adjustments reflect a reclassification of grants and grant funded expenditure. The overall impact
reflected in Cheshire Fire Authority’s 25% share is negligible (£368).
Draft
2020-21
CIES:
Taxation
Deficit
Balance Sheet:
Long term Assets
Current Assets
Current Liabilities
Reserves

Final Difference
2020-21
100%

£

£

£

Difference
25%(CFA
share)
£

262,252

1,472
263,724

1,472
1,472

368
368

1,272,620
1,174,106
(2,129,434)
(6,721,608)

1,313,639
1,474,024
(2,471,843)
(6,723,080)

41,019
299,198
(342,409)
(1,472)

10,255
74,979
(85,602)
(368)

2021-22 transactions between Cheshire Fire Authority and NWFC include invoices (£1,061k 202122 and £867k 2020-21) raised by NWFC to Cheshire Fire Authority. Invoices for the control room
service; additional costs linked to the Manchester Arena inquiry, offset slightly by 50%
reimbursement of costs relating to a network link; during 2021-22 there was some use of
facilities in the NWFC building, so £1k recharges (£nil 2020-21).
The NWFC company's 2020-21 financial statements can be obtained from Companies House, and
the 2021-22 financial statements will be available by the 31st December 2022 (standard deadline
for submission for the final audited 2021-22 accounts).

Page 167
69 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

29. Fire and Rescue Indemnity Company Limited (FRIC)
The service became a member of a mutual, the Fire and Rescue Indemnity Company Limited
(FRIC), on 1st November 2015. Eleven other Fire Authorities are also members. The mutual
provides discretionary protection against claims against the Authority and procures insurance
cover on its behalf. Consideration has been given to the nature of the relationship the Authority
has with the mutual.
The Authority has no right to appoint directors to the board of the mutual, and the relationship is
not therefore one of joint control. This means that under the Code of Practice on Local Authority
Accounting in England and International Financial Reporting Standards 10, 11 and 12 no liability
to complete group accounts in relation to the Authority and the mutual exists.
In 2021-22 Alex Waller, Deputy Chief Fire Officer, became a Director of Fire and Rescue
Indemnity Company (FRIC) on 10th June 2021.

Page 168
70 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

30. Capital Expenditure and Financing
The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table below,
together with the resources that have been used to finance it. Where capital expenditure is to
be financed in future years by charges to revenue as assets are used by the Authority, the
expenditure results in an increase in the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), a measure of the
capital expenditure incurred historically by the Authority that has yet to be financed. The CFR is
analysed below.

Opening Capital Financing Requirement
Capital Investment
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute
Sources of Finance
Capital receipts
Government grants and other contributions
Sums set aside from revenue
Revenue contributions (Cheshire Fire)
Minimum revenue provision (MRP)
Revenue contributions (NWFC 25%)
Closing Capital Financing Requirement
Explanation of movements in year

Increase/(decrease) in underlying need for borrowing (Supported)
Increase/(decrease) in underlying need for borrowing (Unsupported)

Increase/(decrease) in Capital Financing Requirement

2021-22
£000
12,792

2020-21
£000
6,806

4,967
31
-

12,122
2
-

(513)
-

(414)
-

(454)
(668)
(31)
16,124

(5,306)
(416)
(2)
12,792

(668)
4,000
3,332

(416)
6,402
5,986

31. Leases
Authority as Lessee
Finance Leases
The Fire Authority has no assets held under a finance lease.
Operating Leases
Expenditure on operating leases in 2021-22 totalled £287,210 (2020-21 £259,285). All
expenditure on leases relates to vehicles.
The future minimum lease payments due in future years are as follows:

Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
TOTAL

31 Mar 22
£000
(195)
(238)
(433)

31 Mar 21
£000
(154)
(218)
(372)

Page 169
71 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

32. Employee Benefits
Defined Benefit Pension Schemes
Participation in Pension Schemes
As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers, the Fire Authority makes
contributions towards the cost of post-employment benefits. Although these benefits will not
actually be payable until employees retire, the Authority has a commitment to make the
payments (for those benefits) that need to be disclosed at the time that employees earn their full
entitlement.
The Fire Authority participates in five post-employment schemes:


The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) for non-uniformed staff, administered
locally by Cheshire West and Chester Council. This is a funded defined benefit scheme,
meaning that the Authority and employees pay contributions into a fund, calculated at a
level intended to balance the pensions’ liabilities with investment assets. Up until 31st
March 2014 this was a final salary scheme. Since 1st April 2014 this has changed to a LGPS
benefit design career average revalued earning (CARE) scheme.



There are four pension schemes for uniformed staff.
The original scheme commenced in 1992 with the funding arrangements for uniformed
Firefighter pensions changing from 1st April 2006. Until that time, the net cost of
pensions (principally on-going payments to pensioners and lump sum commutations) was
met by the employer. The main source of income to offset the expenditure was the
contribution made by employees.
With effect from 1st April 2006, a new Firefighter Pension Fund for each English Fire
Authority was introduced. Firefighter and employer contributions are paid into a pension
fund, from which pension payments are made. The fund is balanced to nil each year by
receipt of top-up grant from Central Government if there is a deficit, or by paying over
the surplus to Central Government. Details of the pension fund for 2021-22 are shown in
the Pension Fund Statement. At this point members of the 1992 Scheme were given the
choice of staying with their existing Scheme or transferring to the 2006 Scheme.
The new arrangements remove the annual volatility for Fire Authorities that resulted
from fluctuations in firefighter retirements. However, there are still no investment assets
nor do the Fund’s financial statements take account of liabilities to pay pensions and
other benefits due after the end of the financial year.
A third scheme was introduced in April 2014 which is a modified version of the 2006
scheme and is available for on-call firefighters now entitled to participate in a pension
scheme from 2000 as a result of the decision to backdate part-time workers’ rights.
The 1st April 2015 saw the introduction of a new 2015 scheme. The new Regulations (The
Firefighter Pension Scheme (England) Regulations 2014) states that all current active
members will move into the new scheme from 1st April 2015 unless they qualify for
protections that allow them to remain in their current scheme.

Page 170
72 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

All four Firefighter Pension Schemes are administered through one fund. These are
unfunded schemes, meaning that there are no investment assets built up to meet the
liabilities so that cash has to be generated to meet actual pension payments as they
become due.
FIREFIGHTER PENSION SCHEMES
- pension contribution rates on pensionable
pay
1992 Firefighter Pension Scheme
2006 Firefighter Pension Scheme (modified)
2006 Firefighter Pension Scheme
2015 Firefighter Pension Scheme
(a)

Employee

Employer (a)

%
11% - 17%
11% - 17%
8.5% - 12.5%
11% - 14.5%

%
37.3%
37.3%
27.4%
28.8%

The employers’ contribution consists of amounts shown in table above, together with
formula-based charges for the cost of ill-health and other early retirements.
In 2015, when the new career average pension scheme (FPS 2015) was implemented.
Along with the main scheme regulations, transitional arrangements were brought in. Part
of the transitional arrangements was to provide varying degrees of protection for those
members who were within 15 years of normal retirement age. This meant that some
members went straight into FPS 2015 from 1st April 2015, whilst others with tapered
protection stayed in the legacy scheme(FPS 2006/FPS 1992) for longer, or would remain
in the legacy scheme until they retired if they were fully protected.
Following a legal challenge (Judges and the McCloud and Sergeant cases), the courts
determined that the transitional arrangements were discriminatory on the grounds of
age. It’s important to note that it was the transitional arrangements that were
discriminatory and not the 2015 scheme itself.
To remove discrimination from the scheme there will be a two phase approach. This is
know as the ‘remedy’. The first phase will look to remove any future discrimination. The
second phase will look to resolve retrospective discrimination for the period 1st April 2015
to 31st March 2022 – known as the ‘remedy period’.
The second phase of remedy to remove retrospective discrimination is still in progress
and further legislation and consultation will be needed. It’s expected that this will be in
place by October 2023.
To remove future discrimination and ensure equal treatment, all remaining protected
members who are not currently members of FPS 2015 transferred into this scheme on 1st
April 2022. The FPS 1992 and FPS 2006 are closed to future accrual for all members.

Page 171
73 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

Local Government Pension Scheme assets comprised:
Local Government Pension
Scheme
Cash and cash equivalents:
• All
Equity instruments: by industry type
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Consumer
Manufacturing
Energy and utilities
Financial institutions
Health and care
Information technology
Other

Sub-total equity
Bonds: by sector
•
•
•

Corporate
Government
Other

Sub-total bonds
Property: by type *
•
•

United Kingdom
Overseas

Sub-total property
Private equity:
•

All

Sub-total private equity
Other investment funds:
•
•
•
•
•

Equities
Bonds
Hedge Fund
Infrastructure
Other

Sub-total other investment funds
Derivatives:
•

All

Total Assets

Cheshire Fire
Fair value of scheme
assets
31 Mar 22
31 Mar 21
£000
£000
3,204.6

2,255.9

215.2

129.06

808.1
675.0
39.0
360.7
319.4
2,913.6
429.3
5,545.1

821.7
984.4
42.1
514.1
365.4
3,712.5
339.2
6,779.4

1,507.0

1,484.2

-

-

1,507.0

1,290.6

3,755.5
62.4
3,817.9

3,595.7
64.1
3,659.8

358.8

322.6

2,684.1
2,684.1

1,716.2
1,716.2

-

-

11,137.2
22,422.4
3,160.5
6.5
2,042.7
38,769.3

9,626.6
21,314.6
3,112.2
2,024.3
36,077.7

-

-

-

-

-

-

54,021.0

50,489.0

3,588.0

3,226.5

Page 172
74 | P a g e

NWFC (25%)
Fair value of scheme
assets
31 Mar 22
31 Mar 21
£000
£000

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

Transactions Relating to Post-employment benefits
The Authority recognises the cost of retirement benefits in the reported cost of services when they are earned by employees, rather than when the
benefits are eventually paid as pensions. However, the charge we are required to make against council tax is based on the cash payable in the year, so the
real cost of post-employment/retirement benefits is reversed out of the General Fund via the Movement in Reserves Statement. The following
transactions have been made in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the General Fund balance via the Movement in Reserves
Statement during the year:

Page 173

Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement (CIES)
Cost of Services:
 Current Service Costs
 Past Service Costs
Financing & Investment Income & Expenditure:
 Net interest expense
Total post-employment benefit charged to the Surplus or
Deficit on the Provision of Services

Local Government
Pension Scheme
(NWFC-25%)
2021-22 2020-21
£000
£000

Local Government
Pension Scheme
(CFA)
2021-22 2020-21
£000
£000

Firefighter Pension
Schemes
(CFA)
2021-22 2020-21
£000
£000

Total for all Schemes
2021-22
£000

2020-21
£000

295
-

179
-

1,895
-

1,320
75

11,580
-

6,830
-

13,770
-

8,329
75

38

16

216

54

11,780

11,870

12,034

11,940

333

195

2,111

1,449

23,360

18,700

25,804

20,344

(161)

(398)

(2,497)

(6,012)

-

-

(2,658)

(6,410)

(29)

80

(349)

844

-

(280)

(378)

644

(485)

1,368

(4,550)

13,535

(7,190)

88,240

(12,225)

103,143

9

(23)

134

(563)

6,480

(22,100)

6,623

(22,686)

(333)

1,222

(5,151)

9,253

22,650

84,560

17,166

95,035

Other post-employment benefits charges to the CIES
Re-measurement of the net defined pension liability comprising:





Return on plan assets (excluding the amount included in
the net interest expense)
Actuarial gains and losses arising on changes in
demographic assumptions
Actuarial gains and losses arising on changes in financial
assumptions
Other experience

Total post-employment benefit charged to the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

75 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

Local Government
Pension Scheme
(NWFC-25%)
2021-22 2020-21
£000
£000

Firefighter Pension
Schemes
Total for all Schemes
(CFA)
2021-22 2020-21 2021-22
2020-21
£000
£000
£000
£000

(2,111)

(1,449)

(23,360)

(18,700)

(25,804)

(20,344)

861

1,317

14,060

13,960

15,051

15,404

Page 174

Movement in Reserves Statement
 Reversal of net charges made to the Surplus or
Deficit on the Provision of Services for post(333)
(195)
employment benefits in accordance with the Code
Actual amount charged against the General Fund Balance for pensions in the year:
 Employers' contributions payable to scheme (gross
amount before the Authority's receipt of the
130
127
Firefighter pension scheme top up grant)

Local Government
Pension Scheme
(CFA)
2021-22
2020-21
£000
£000

Pensions Assets and Liabilities Recognised in the Balance Sheet:
The amount included in the Balance Sheet arising from the Authority's obligation in respect of its defined benefit plans is as follows:
Local Government
Local Government
Firefighter Pension
Pension Scheme
Pension Scheme
Schemes
(NWFC-25%)
(CFA)
(CFA)
2021-22 2020-21
2021-22 2020-21
2021-22 2020-21
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000
Present value of the defined benefit obligation
4,884
4,986
58,267
60,747
598,790 590,200
Fair value of plan assets
Sub-total
Other movements in the liability (asset)
Net Liability arising from defined benefit obligation

Total for all
Schemes
2021-22
£000
661,941

2020-21
£000
655,933

(3,589)

(3,228)

(54,021)

(50,489)

-

-

(57,610)

(53,717)

1,295

1,758

4,246

10,258

598,790

590,200

604,331

602,216

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,295

1,758

4,246

10,258

598,790

590,200

604,331

602,216

These accounts do contain adjustments for the McCloud remedy as it has a material impact on the value of the liability shown in the balance sheet.

76 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

Reconciliation of the Movements in the Fair Value of Scheme (Plan) Assets:
Local Government
Pension Scheme
(NWFC-25%)
2021-22 2020-21
£000
£000
Reconciliation of the Movements in the Fair Value of Scheme (Plan) Assets:
Opening fair value of scheme assets
3,228
2,624
Interest income
67
62
Remeasurement gain/(loss):
The return on plan assets, excluding the amount
161
398
included in the net interest expense
Contributions from employer
130
127
Contributions from employees into the scheme
37
37
Benefits paid
(34)
(20)
Closing fair value of scheme assets
3,589
3,228

Local Government
Pension Scheme
(CFA)
2021-22 2020-21
£000
£000

Firefighter Pension
Schemes
(CFA)
2021-22 2020-21
£000
£000

Total for all
Schemes
2021-22
£000

2020-21
£000

42,926
993

-

-

53,717
1,076

45,550
1,055

2,497

6,012

-

-

2,658

6,410

861
243
(1,078)
54,021

1,317
261
(1,020)
50,489

14,060
2,330
(16,390)
-

13,960
2,350
(16,310)
-

15,051
2,610
(17,502)
57,610

15,404
2,648
(17,350)
53,717

Reconciliation of Present Value of the Scheme Liabilities (Defined Benefit Obligation):
Opening balance at 1 April
4,986
3,287
60,747
Current service cost
295
179
1,895
Interest cost
105
78
1,225
Contributions by scheme participants
37
37
243

45,248
1,320
1,047
261

590,200
11,580
11,780
2,330

519,600
6,830
11,870
2,350

655,933
13,770
13,110
2,610

568,135
8,329
12,995
2,648

Page 175

50,489
1,009

Remeasurement (gains) and losses:
Actuarial gains/losses arising from changes in demographic
assumptions
Actuarial gains/losses arising from changes in financial
assumptions
other experience
Past service cost
Benefits paid
Closing balance at 31 March

(29)

80

(349)

844

-

(280)

(378)

644

(485)

1,368

(4,550)

13,535

(7,190)

88,240

(12,225)

103,143

9
(34)
4,884

(23)
(20)
4,986

134
(1,078)
58,267

(563)
75
(1,020)
60,747

6,480
(16,390)
598,790

(22,100)
(16,310)
590,200

6,623
(17,502)
661,941

(22,686)
75
(17,350)
655,933

77 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

The Liabilities shown on the Firefighter Pension Schemes include liabilities in respect of injury pensions. Of the £598.8m liability, £7.9m related to injury
pensions (2020-21 £590.2m liability, £7.9m related to injury pensions).
Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method, an estimate of the pensions that will be payable in future years
dependent on assumptions about mortality rates, salary levels, etc. In 2020-21 and 2021-22 and the Firefighter Pension Schemes were assessed by the
Government Actuary’s Department (GAD) and both of the LGPS schemes were assessed by Hymans. Estimates for the Local Government Pension Schemes are
based on the latest full valuation of the scheme as at 31st March 2019. The significant assumptions used by the actuary have been:
Local Government
Local Government Pension
Firefighter Pension Schemes
Pension Scheme (NWFC)
Scheme (CFA)

Page 176

Long-term expected rate of return on assets in the scheme:
Equity investments
Bonds
Property
Cash
Mortality assumptions:
Longevity for current pensioners:
 Men
 Women
Longevity for future pensioners:
 Men
 Women
Rate of inflation (CPI)
Rate of increase in salaries
Rate of increase in pensions
Rate for discounting scheme liabilities

78 | P a g e

2021-22
%

2020-21
%

2021-22
%

2020-21
%

2021-22
%

2020-21
%

2.75
2.75
2.75
2.75

2.05
2.05
2.05
2.05

2.70
2.70
2.70
2.70

2.30
2.30
2.30
2.30

-

-

At age 65

At age 65

At age 65

21.2 years
23.8 years

21.4 years
24.0 years

21.2 years
23.8 years

21.4 years
24.0 years

21.5 years
21.5 years

21.4 years
21.4 years

22.1 years
25.5 years
3.15
3.85
3.15
2.75

22.4 years
25.7 years
2.80
3.50
2.80
2.05

22.1 years
25.5 years
3.20
3.90
3.20

22.4 years
25.7 years
2.85
3.55
2.85

23.2 years
23.2 years
3.00
4.75
3.00

23.1 years
23.1 years
2.40
4.15
2.40

2.70

2.00

2.65

2.00

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

The estimation of the defined benefit obligations is sensitive to the actuarial assumptions set out in the table above. The sensitivity analyses below have
been determined based on reasonably possible changes of the assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period and assumes for each change that
the assumption analysed changes while all the other assumptions remain constant. The assumptions in longevity, for example, assume that the life
expectancy increases or decreases for men and women. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be interrelated.
The estimations in the sensitivity analysis have followed the accounting policies for the scheme, i.e. on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit
method. The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis below did not change from those used in the previous period.
Impact on the Defined Benefit Obligation in the Scheme

Change in financial assumptions at year ended 31 March
2022

Local Government Pension
Scheme (NWFC)*
Approximate Approximate
monetary
increase to
amount
Employer
Liability
(NWFC 25%)

Local Government Pension
Scheme (CFA)
Approximate
monetary
amount

Firefighter Pension
Schemes

Approximate
increase to
Employer
Liability

Approximate
monetary
amount

%

£000

Approximate
increase to
Employer
Liability

%

£000

Longevity/ increase in member life expectancy (increase of 1
year)

195

4.0

2,331

4.0

21,000

3.5

Rate of increase in salaries (increase by 0.5%)
Rate of increase in pensions (increase by 0.5%)
Rate for discounting scheme liabilities (decrease by 0.5%)

88
565
658

1.0
10.0
15.0

365
5,795
6,205

1.0
10.0
10.0

8,000
46,000
56,000

1.5
7.5
9.5

Page 177

£000

%

Impact on the Authority's Cash Flows
The objectives of the scheme are to keep employers’ contributions at as constant a rate as possible. Cheshire West and Chester Council, the administering
body, has agreed a strategy with the scheme’s actuary to achieve a funding level of 100% over the forthcoming years. Funding levels are monitored on an
annual basis. The next triennial valuation is in 2022. The Authority anticipates paying £707,000 expected contributions to the Local Government Pension
scheme in 2022-23.

79 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

33. Contingent Assets and Liabilities
As a result of the insolvency of a historic insurer, the Authority is aware of the possibility of
future insurance claims which may lead to the Authority incurring liabilities which it is not
possible to quantify.

Page 178
80 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

GLOSSARY OF TERMS
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The specific principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices applied by the Authority in
preparing and presenting financial statements.
ACCRUALS
The concept that income and expenditure are recognised as they are earned or incurred, not as
money is received or paid.
APPROPRIATIONS
Amounts transferred to or from revenue or capital reserves.
BALANCE SHEET
The Balance Sheet is fundamental to the understanding of the Authority’s financial position at the
year-end. It shows the Authority’s balances and reserves, its long term indebtedness, and the noncurrent and current assets employed in the Authority’s operations, together with summarised
information on the non-current assets held.
BUDGET
A statement defining in financial terms the Authority's plans over a specified period. The budget is
prepared as part of the process of setting the precept.
CAPITAL ADJUSTMENT ACCOUNT
Provides a balancing mechanism between the different rates at which assets are depreciated
under the IFRS and are financed through the capital control systems.
CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
Expenditure on the acquisition of non-current assets such as land, buildings, vehicles and
equipment which are of long term value, or expenditure which adds to and not merely maintains
the value of existing assets.
CAPITAL FINANCING COSTS
Each service is charged with an annual capital charge to reflect the cost of non-current assets used
in the provision of services.
CAPITAL FINANCING REQUIREMENT
This measures the underlying need to borrow to finance capital expenditure.
CAPITAL RECEIPTS
Money received from the sale of capital assets such as vehicles, which may be used to repay
outstanding debt or to finance new assets.
CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Summarises the inflows and outflows of cash transactions and links the opening and closing
balance sheet with the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for the year.
COLLECTION FUND ADJUSTMENT ACCOUNT
The collection fund adjustment account provides a mechanism for recognising the Authority’s
share of the Collection Fund surplus/deficits at year end.

Page 179
81 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT (CI&E)
The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement reports the net cost of all of the activities
of the Authority for the year and demonstrates how the cost has been funded by income from
local taxpayers and grants from central government.
COMMUTATION
This is where a member of the pension scheme gives up part of their pension in exchange for an
immediate lump sum payment.
CORPORATE AND DEMOCRATIC CORE
The corporate and democratic core is concerned with the costs of corporate policy making and
member based activities. Other costs relate to the general running of the Authority including
corporate management, public accountability and treasury management.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
This is concerned with the Authority’s accountability for the stewardship of resources, risk
management, and relationship with the community. It also encompasses policies on whistle
blowing, fraud and corruption.
COUNCIL TAX
The means of raising money locally which pays for Fire Authority services. This is a property based
tax where the amount levied depends on the valuation of each dwelling.
CREDITORS
Amounts owed by the Authority for work done, goods received or services rendered, but for which
payment has not been made at the balance sheet date.
CURRENT ASSETS
Items from which the Authority derives a benefit but which will be consumed or realised during
the next accounting period, e.g. stocks, debtors, and cash.
CURRENT LIABILITIES
The sum of money owed by the Authority and due for payment during the next accounting period,
e.g. short term borrowing and creditors.
DEBTORS
Sums of money due to the Authority for work done, goods sold or services rendered but not
received at the balance sheet date.
DEFERRED LIABILITY
Amounts owed by the Authority for work done, goods received or services rendered, to be paid in
predetermined instalments over more than one accounting period.
DEFINED BENEFIT SCHEME
A pension or other retirement benefit scheme where the scheme rules define the benefits
independently of the contributions payable, and the benefits are not directly related to the
investments of the scheme. The scheme may be funded or unfunded.

Page 180
82 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

DEPRECIATION
The measure of the wearing out, consumption, or other reduction in the useful economic life of a
non-current asset, whether arising from use, passage of time, technological obsolescence or
changes in demand for the goods and services produced by the asset.
ESTIMATION TECHNIQUES
The methods adopted by an entity to arrive at estimated monetary amounts, corresponding to the
measurement bases selected, for assets, liabilities, gains, losses and changes to reserves.
Estimation techniques implement the measurement aspects of accounting policies. An accounting
policy will specify the basis on which an item is to be measured; where there is uncertainty over
the monetary amount corresponding to that basis, the amount will be arrived at by using an
estimation technique.
Estimation techniques include, for example:
(a) Methods of depreciation, such as straight-line and reducing balance, applied in the context of
a particular measurement basis, used to estimate the proportion of the economic benefits of a
tangible fixed asset consumed in a period.
(b) Different methods used to estimate the proportion of debts that will not be recovered,
particularly where such methods consider a population as a whole, rather than individual balances.
EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS
This links to the CIES and demonstrates how available funding has been used to provide services.
This follows accounting practice and reports in accordance with the management reporting
structure used for decision making purposes rather than legislative purposes.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
This is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity
of another. The term covers both financial assets (e.g. loans receivable) and financial liabilities (e.g.
borrowings).
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
Documents issued by the Accounting Standards Board, setting out approved accounting
treatment.
FINANCE LEASE
A finance lease is one that transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of a
non-current asset to the lessee. It should be presumed that such a transfer of risks and rewards
occurs if at the inception of a lease the present value of the minimum lease payments including
any initial payment amounts to substantially all of the fair value of the leased asset.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS ADJUSTMENT ACCOUNT
Provides a balancing mechanism between the different rates at which discounts on the early
repayment of debt are recognised under the SORP (statements of recommended practice) and are
required by statute to be met from the general fund. It should be noted this reserve is matched by
borrowings and investments within the Balance Sheet. They are not resources available to the
Authority.
FUNDED PENSION SCHEME
A funded pension scheme is one in which the future liabilities for pension benefits are provided
for by the accumulation of assets held externally to the employer's business.

Page 181

83 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

GOING CONCERN
The concept that the Authority will remain in operational existence for the foreseeable future, in
particular that the revenue accounts and Balance Sheet assume no intention to curtail significantly
the scale of operations.
GOVERNMENT GRANTS
Assistance by government and inter-government agencies and similar bodies, whether local,
national or international, in the form of cash or transfers of assets to an authority, in return for
past or future compliance with certain conditions relating to the activities of the Authority.
GROUP ACCOUNTS
Accounts prepared on a group basis where Local Authorities have interests in other bodies which
are material in aggregate.
HERITAGE ASSETS
Heritage Assets are defined as assets preserved in trust for future generations because of their
cultural, environmental or historical associations, which have historical, artistic, scientific,
geophysical or environmental qualities, and which are held and maintained by the Authority,
principally for the contribution to knowledge and culture.
IMPAIRMENT
A reduction in the value of a non-current asset below its carrying amount on the balance sheet.
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
These are assets that have no physical substance, for example, the purchase of computer software
licences.
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS)
These are the accounting standards that were adopted for 2010-11 onwards. IFRS are designed as
a common global language for financial reporting so that organisation’s accounts are
understandable and comparable across international boundaries.
INTEGRATED RISK MANAGEMENT PLAN (IRMP)
This is the Authority’s annual plan which is based on the current year of a four year strategy. The
Plan is premised on ensuring that the Authority recognises risk and manages its resources to
reduce potential impact on the communities which it serves.
INVENTORIES (formerly stocks)
The amount of unused or unconsumed stocks held in expectation for future use. When use will
not arise until a later period, it is appropriate to carry forward the amount to be matched to the
use or consumption when it arises.
LONG TERM BORROWING
Loans that are raised with external bodies, for periods greater than one year.
MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN (MTFP)
Budget plan for the Authority for the next few years.
MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION (MRP)
This is the amount which should be set aside from revenue as provision for debt repayment.

Page 182

84 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT
This statement shows the movement in year on the different reserves held and identifies both
usable and unusable. It links in with the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
through the impact of the surplus or deficit on provision of services on the General Fund.
NET BOOK VALUE (NBV)
The amount at which fixed assets are included in the balance sheet, i.e. their historical cost or
current cost, less the cumulative amounts provided for depreciation and/or impairment.
NET CURRENT REPLACEMENT COST
The cost of replacing or recreating the particular asset in its existing condition and in its existing
use, i.e. the cost of its replacement or of the nearest equivalent asset, adjusted to reflect the
current condition of the existing asset.
NON CURRENT ASSETS
Tangible assets yielding benefits to the Authority and its services for a period of more than one
year.
NON DISTRIBUTED COSTS
Costs incurred by the Authority which are excluded from service costs. These include past service
costs relating to changes in pension regulations, the costs associated with unused shares of ICT
facilities, and impairment losses relating to assets under construction.
NON-OPERATIONAL ASSETS
Non-current assets held but not directly occupied, used or consumed in the delivery of services.
OPERATIONAL ASSETS
Non-current assets held and occupied, used or consumed by the Authority in the direct delivery of
services for which it has either a statutory or discretionary responsibility or for the service or
strategic objectives of the Authority.
OPERATING LEASES
A lease other than a finance lease.
PENSION FUND ACCOUNT
The Fire and Rescue Authority is required to set up a separate fund from the rest of its operation
for transactions relating to firefighter pension arrangements. The Authority has a formal
responsibility for paying firefighter pensions. The fund is balanced to nil each year by the receipt
of a pensions top-up grant from the Department for Communities and Local Government.
PRECEPT
An amount of money levied by one Authority (the precepting authority) which is collected by
another Authority (the billing authority) as part of the council tax. The Fire Authority is the
precepting Authority and the East Cheshire Borough Council, Cheshire West and Chester Council,
Warrington Borough Council and Halton Borough Council are the billing authorities.

Page 183
85 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS
Those material adjustments applicable to prior years arising from changes in accounting policies
or from the correction of fundamental errors. A fundamental error is one that is of such
significance as to destroy the validity of the financial statements. They do not include normal
recurring corrections or adjustments of accounting estimates made in prior years.
PROVISIONS
An amount set aside to provide for a liability, which is likely to be incurred, but the exact amount
and date on which the liability is due is uncertain.
PUBLIC WORKS LOAN BOARD (PWLB)
The Public Works Loan Board is an independent and unpaid statutory body. PWLB consider loan
applications from local authorities and other prescribed bodies and, where loans are made collect
the repayments.
REVENUE EXPENDITURE FUNDED FROM CAPITAL UNDER STATUTE (REFFCUS)
Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory provision but that
does not result in the creation of a non-current asset that has been charged as expenditure to the
CIES.
REMUNERATION
All sums paid to or receivable by an employee and sums due by way of expenses allowances (as
far as those sums are chargeable to UK income tax) and the money value of any other benefits
received other than in cash. Pension contributions payable by the employer are excluded.
RESERVES
Amounts set aside to meet future obligations.
RETIREMENT BENEFITS
All forms of consideration given by the Authority in exchange for services rendered by employees
that are payable after the completion of employment. Retirement benefits do not include
termination benefits payable as a result of either:
(a) The Authority’s decision to terminate an employee’s employment before the normal
retirement date.
(b) An employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits,
because these are not given in exchange for services rendered by employees.
REVALUATION RESERVE
This reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date of its formal
implementation, from holding non-current assets.
REVENUE EXPENDITURE
This is the day to day running costs the Authority incurs in providing the service. It is usually of a
constantly recurring nature and produces no permanent asset.
REVENUE SUPPORT GRANT
This is Government grant in aid of the Authority’s services generally. It is based upon the
Government’s assessment of how much the Authority needs to spend in order to provide a
standard level of service.

Page 184
86 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

RIGHT OF USE ASSET
These are assets which are leased by the Authority who have control over their usage and are
represented as the Authority’s asset in the Balance Sheet.
THE HOME OFFICE
The Home Office is a ministerial department of the Her Majesty's Government of the United
Kingdom, which, from 5 January 2016 is responsible for Fire and Rescue Policy. This was a role
previously undertaken by the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG).
UNFUNDED PENSION SCHEME
A pension scheme in which liabilities for pension benefits are charged to the employer's revenue
account in the year in which they arise and are not financed from investments held. The
Authority operates such a scheme for its firefighters.

Page 185
87 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2021-22
1.

Scope of Responsibilities

1.1

Governance comprises the systems, processes, culture and values by which the Cheshire
Fire Authority (the Authority) and Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service (the Service) direct and
manage together, along with the activity through which they account to and engage with
the people of Cheshire.

1.2

The Authority covers the four unitary areas of Cheshire East, Cheshire West and Chester,
Halton and Warrington. The Authority is a separate legal body, with the power to set
council tax and to set its own policies and procedures, without seeking the approval of
these local councils. Each council appoints a number of elected Members to serve on the
Authority. As an Authority Member, councillors represent the whole of Cheshire and are
not just required to act as the formal representatives of their own council. The Authority
as the governing body ensures that the Service operates in a lawful, open, inclusive and
honest manner, making sure public money is safeguarded, properly accounted for and
spent wisely and has effective arrangements in place to manage risk.

1.3

Production of an Annual Governance Statement (AGS) is a requirement under the Accounts
and Audit Regulations (England) 2015 and helps to ensure that a reliable system of internal
controls can be demonstrated.

1.4

In March 2022, CIPFA published an advisory note setting out key messages surrounding
recent governance failures identified in statutory and non-statutory reviews and public
interest reports. While the Authority has not been part of these reviews or reports, there
are lessons to be learned for all organisations that take governance seriously. One key
message relates to the AGS which is a key document for any organisation, and when
completed correctly and with rigour, can be used to identify failings of governance and
provide an opportunity internally to improve and thereby reduce risk. It should normally
be approved at the same time or no later than the Statement of Accounts and should be
regarded as a vital tool by those charged with governance and the leadership team.

1.5

The AGS is a key corporate document for the Authority which provides an accurate
representation of the corporate governance arrangements and controls in place that have
supported the delivery of organisational objectives during the year. The AGS provides
information about where arrangements have been effective and notes where any
improvements are required.

2.

The Governance Framework

2.1

The Authority is responsible for ensuring that business is conducted in accordance with the
law, with openness and engagement with stakeholders and that risk is managed through
robust internal control and strong public finance management to deliver effective
accountability. The Authority’s Constitution sets out the governance framework which
assists in enabling the Authority and the Service to fulfil their statutory obligations. The
Constitution is reviewed on a regular basis to ensure it remains up to date and relevant
taking into account local and national changes in the way fire and rescue services operate.

Page 186
88 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22
2.2

The Authority’s Constitution:
▪

Explains the Authority’s decision-making arrangements;

▪

Sets out the responsibilities of elected Members and officers; and

▪

Contains details of rules and controls.

2.3

A copy of the Authority’s Constitution is available on the website
(www.cheshirefire.gov.uk).

2.4

The Governance Framework focuses on the Authority’s strategic aims and objectives and
includes:
Corporate
•
•
•
•

TheAuthority’s vision and purpose which drive the service planning, delivery, risk, project
and performance management frameworks
The Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP)
Consultation Engagement and Communications Strategies
A published set of core values

Committee Structure and Member Scrutiny
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The Authority’s Constitution
Established structure of Authority and Committee meetings, each with formal Terms of
Reference
Scrutiny by Members e.g. Performance and Overview Committee responsible for thematic
areas such as Finance, Equality & Diversity, Performance Management
Crisis Management Plan – owned and scrutinised by Risk Management Board
Local Code of Corporate Governance Action Plan reviewed by the Governance and
Constitution Committee
Published Anti-Fraud, Corruption, Whistle-blowing and Complaints policies and procedures
Medium term financial forecasting and budget management processes
Code of Conduct

Scrutiny and Reporting
•
•
•
•
•
•

Integrated Corporate and Financial planning processes with regular reporting
Treasury Management Strategy
Risk Management Board which is responsible for championing an effective Risk
Management Policy and Framework and regularly reviewing the Strategic Risk Register
Performance and Programme Board which is responsible for monitoring and reviewing
organisational performance including the Corporate Performance Scorecard, which sets
out the Authority’s key indicators, and scrutiny of key projects and programmes
Service Management Team which provides strategic direction for service delivery
Information governance arrangements

Page 187
89 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

People
•
•
•
•
2.5

Dynamic, intelligent training programme which is tailored to the development needs of the
Authority’s frontline staff
Appraisal system and personal development programmes
Established Health, Safety and Wellbeing policies monitored by the Health, Safety and
Wellbeing Committee
Health, Safety and Wellbeing Committee review of fitness performance

CIPFA published ‘The Financial Management Code’ (FM Code) in 2019. It is designed to
support good practice in financial management and to assist local authorities in
demonstrating their financial sustainability. The FM Code sets the standards of financial
management for local authorities. The FM Code is based on a series of principles
supported by specific standards which are considered necessary to provide the strong
foundation to:
▪
▪
▪

manage the short, medium and long-term finances of a local authority;
manage financial resilience to meet unforeseen demands on services; and
manage unexpected shocks in their financial circumstances.

2.6

Each organisation designated to apply the FM Code must demonstrate that the
requirements of the code are being satisfied. Demonstrating this compliance with the FM
Code is a collective responsibility of the Authority, the Treasurer and colleagues in the
leadership team.

2.7

In the External Audit Report for 2020-21, the auditors recommended that the Authority
consider the establishment of an audit committee. Their findings noted that the Authority
covered the general functions of an audit committee and upheld the Nolan principles.
However, they stated that a smaller more focused audit committee, with a membership
that had the necessary skills and experience, would enhance the appropriate scrutiny and
further support the principles outlined in the Redmond Review. A report was taken to the
Governance & Constitution Committee in early 2022 where approval was granted to create
an audit committee. This will be put in place during 2022-23, so the Authority continued to
cover the responsibilities to be assigned to the Audit Committee by other means during
2021-22.

2.8

The above paragraphs describe the arrangements in a normal year and were being
followed until the outbreak leading to the Coronavirus Pandemic. In response, the
Government passed the Coronavirus Act 2020 on 25th March 2020 and introduced the
‘lockdown’ restrictions. Within this Act, provision was been made for regulations to be
issued to amend the legislation around authority meetings. These regulations, The Local
Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority and
Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 2020 , allowed
meetings to be held virtually.

2.9

In response to the above, the Authority amended and supplemented its constitution to
enable virtual meetings to take place. The first such meeting was the Fire Authority which
took place in this way was on 1st July 2020. This format of meetings continued for the rest
of 2020/21, and into 2021/22 until June 2021, at which point in-person meetings
recommenced.

Page 188
90 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22
3.

Internal Financial Controls

3.1

The objective of the internal financial controls is to: maintain sound and proper financial
arrangements; to explain why safeguards and controls are important and necessary; and to
profile a framework for financial management, which will enable, wherever possible,
managerial and financial responsibilities to be aligned, safeguarding all Members and
officers.

3.2

The key documents that set out the internal financial controls are:
▫

Financial Regulations as set out in the Constitution

▫

Scheme of Delegation as set out in the Constitution

▫

Treasury Management Strategy, which is approved by the Authority each year which
sets out the Annual Investment Strategy, Borrowing Strategy, and the Minimum
Revenue Provision Statement

▫

Treasury Management Practices which set out the detailed processes and practices
to be followed in order to deliver the Treasury Management Strategy

3.3

In addition to the above, there are a series of governance checks and controls carried out
through the Finance and Human Resources teams to ensure financial systems are operating
effectively. These are supported by periodic Internal and External Audit reviews and with
the production of action plans where necessary to provide appropriate assurance to those
charged with governance.

3.4

Further assurance is now provided through HM Inspectorate of Constabularies and Fire &
Rescue Services (HMICFRS), which carried out its second inspection of the Service in
2021/22. The HMICFRS examines the Service’s effectiveness, efficiency and how well it
looks after its people. It is designed to give the public information about how their local
fire and rescue service is performing in several important areas, in a way that is
comparable with other services across England. The high-level ratings for the Service are
shown below with further details available on the HMICFRS website
(www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs).

3.5

In the commentary, HMICFRS stated that ‘overall, the service is effective and efficient at
keeping people safe and secure from fire. And, on balance, it looks after its people well. It
has made an impressive investment to promote culture and values, and equality, inclusion
and diversity throughout its organisation. We are pleased to see the service working on
the areas for improvement identified in our 2018 inspection. There has been good
progress, for example, to increase protection resource and capability.’

Page 189
91 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22
3.6

In addition, it was noted that the Service worked in line with government and National Fire
Chiefs Council guidelines to provide prevention and protection activities throughout the
Pandemic. More than 100 staff were trained to administer the vaccine and support the
vaccination programme. Staff also visited vulnerable members of the community to
encourage vaccine take up.
Good Governance in the Fire Service

3.7

In 2016, CIPFA, in association with various groups including representation of fire and
rescue services, issued best practice guidance on Delivering Good Governance. It sets out
seven principles of good governance which are illustrated below:

3.8

The ethos of the above is for principles A and B to permeate the implementation of
principles C to G. It also illustrates that good governance is dynamic and that an
organisation as a whole should be committed to continually improving through a process of
evaluation and review. Each principle is considered from the Authority and Service’s
perspectives.

4.

Principle A: Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values
and respecting the rule of law

4.1

Core Values inspire and guide how teams behave. They set out a platform to guide our
current and future activities and help achieve our organisational priorities. Staff were at
the heart of the development of the Core Values through conferences, the staff
engagement forum and staff survey. This engagement was vital to ensure the Core Values
remain relevant so that the Service and individuals are able to identify with them.

Page 190
92 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22
4.2

As a result, the Core Values are:
▪

Be inclusive – by acting fairly, with integrity, respect and without prejudice

▪

Do the right thing – by holding each other to account for ensuring high standards of
professionalism in everything we do

▪

Act with compassion – by being understanding and offering help to each other and
to our communities with warmth, patience and kindness

▪

Make a difference – by making an impact in our organisation and in our
communities in whatever ways we can, for as many people as we can

4.3

The Director of Governance and Commissioning is the Authority’s Monitoring Officer as set
out in section 5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, whose role is to advise on
the rule of law and ensure decision making is legally sound. The Monitoring Officer is a
qualified solicitor and is supported by the Joint Legal Services Team that includes a number
of professionally qualified legal officers.

4.4

The Treasurer is the Authority’s “Chief Financial Officer”, as defined by CIPFA and as set out
in section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, whose role is to ensure the proper
administration of the Authority’s financial affairs. The Treasurer is a qualified accountant
and is supported by the Head of Finance (who is also the Deputy S151 Officer) and by the
Joint Finance Team that includes a number of professionally qualified finance officers.

4.5

The two Statutory Officers have collective meetings on a regular basis with the Chief Fire
Officer and Chief Executive to ensure that robust governance arrangements are maintained
and to consider potential future policy decisions, ensuring that these are consistent with
available resources. These Statutory Officers, or their representatives, review all proposals
that are to be submitted to meetings of the Authority and its various committees and these
officers, or their representatives, attend such meetings.

5.

Principle B: Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement

5.1

The Authority has a clear Consultation Strategy that sets out how and when it will consult
with communities and other stakeholders. The Community Engagement Strategy includes
guiding principles and explains how the Service will engage with its communities.

5.2

The Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP) sets out how the Authority intends to deliver
the services over a period, and is widely consulted on before it is finalised and approved by
the Authority. The IRMP sets out the rationale behind planned activity including current
performance and forecasts. The IRMP essentially reviews the effectiveness of previous
activity and highlights any areas of focus for the future. An annual action plan is created.

5.3

Consultation with stakeholders includes both staff and public events at various venues, a
web-based questionnaire and consultation with stakeholders during which the proposed
plans are put forward and feedback is requested. The results of consultation are published
on the website and reported to Members before the IRMP is finalised and approved.

5.4

Working in partnership with others is a key part of the Authority’s ethos. For example, the
Blue Light Collaboration arrangement has brought together most of the back office and
professional services, which support the Service and Cheshire Constabulary in a single,
shared headquarters site at Clemonds Hey, Winsford.

Page 191

93 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22
5.5

The Police and Crime Commissioner for Cheshire has the right to attend Authority
meetings.

6.

Principle C: Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social & environmental
benefits

6.1

The Service’s vision is a Cheshire where there are no deaths, injuries or damage from fires
and other emergencies. The Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP) explains the
approach the Authority will take to support this vision, given the context in which the
Service operates, and sets out the planned activity to deliver and achieve the intended
outcomes.

6.2

The IRMP specifies which activity will take place in each year, what the result will be and
when there may be an impact. Performance indicators are agreed, setting out the
projected performance and reported to Members and the public in line with the approved
corporate planning and reporting timelines. The Service approach to risk is explained in its
risk management policy, which is reviewed at least every three years, and risks to key
projects are outlined and managed through the project management framework.

6.3

A Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is produced annually, reviewed regularly and
updated as necessary setting out the financial assumptions and demands upon the Service
to highlight budgetary pressures and set out options to address any funding shortfalls to
ensure sustainability. The MTFP is supplemented by a Capital Strategy and Reserves
Strategy.

6.4

The financial sustainability of the Authority has largely remained unchanged as a result of
the Pandemic but the long term impact on funding is unknown and the MTFP will continue
to link vision and intent to funding scenarios, ensuring value for money is achieved within a
balanced and sustainable budget.

7.

Principle D: Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the
intended outcomes

7.1

The Constitution sets out a decision making framework which ensures that all decisions are
supported by all relevant information, including financial, legal and other appropriate
professional advice, that available options are considered and that internal and external
stakeholders are consulted. Decisions are formally recorded and published subject to
confidentiality requirements.

7.2

Progress against planned activity and projects is monitored and risks are reviewed regularly
and reported quarterly to Performance and Overview Committee. Quarterly reports also
include performance against targets for Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) as well as
financial and project delivery performance. If the circumstances in which the Service
operates change, activity can be adapted accordingly. Decisions affecting service delivery
are delegated to officers in order to ensure they are able to react to changing
circumstances quickly.

Page 192
94 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22
7.3

KPIs are set as part of the planning process and reported on every quarter. A Corporate
Scorecard is produced showing performance against each of the KPIs. The corporate
scorecard is published on the public website and the annual report is produced detailing
the activity and performance of the Service. The following is an extract from the scorecard
based on fourth quarter results.
Year to Date 2021/22 Performance
Performance and Programmes Board - Performance Report
Vision

A Cheshire where there are no deaths, injuries or damage from fires or other emergencies

Outcomes

10 Minute Standard

86%

Injuries in Primary Fires

21

44



28

On Call Availability

60%

Accidental dwelling fires

313

359



343

Nucleus OC pumps

91%

Primary OC pumps

60%

Secondary OC pumps

38%

- % starting in kitchens
- % in homes with residents
over pensionable age

168
(54%)



68 (22%)



172
(50%)
70
(20%)

Deliberate fires (Primary and
Secondary)

890

1,045



794

Fires in Non Domestic Premises

155

160



119

AFAs in Non Domestic Premises

493

479



453

85%



Average
Days/Shifts Lost to
sickness

75%

Working Days Lost
To Injury

Performance Key

Q4
2020-21

11,268 10,000 

9,055

Failing against
target by at
least 10%



83%

Target
suspended

Target

Within 10% of
target

Actual

Outputs

SaWs Delivered to Heightened
Risk

Q4 Year
on Year

Meeting target

81%

65%

Thematic Inspections Completed

2,015

2,004

N/App

NDP Fire Safety Audits
Completed

1,677

1,533

N/App

Percentage of Risk Based
Programme Completed

102%

100%

N/App

Platinum address success rate

6.71 5.50 
88

40






Improved direction of travel year on year

No change in direction of travel
Negative direction of travel year on year
by up to 10%
Negative direction of travel year on year
by at least 10%

7.4

KPI data is generated from various internal systems and analysed by the Business
Intelligence Team. The Team works closely with the Prevention, Protection and Service
Delivery teams to provide data and analysis that highlights any current issues or emerging
trends so that activity can be targeted and resources deployed effectively.

7.5

Budgets are prepared in accordance with the priorities set out in the IRMP and Medium
Term Financial Plan, which integrates and balances priorities, affordability and resources.
This ensures the budget process is all-inclusive, taking into account all costs of operations
over the medium and long term.

7.6

Performance against budgets is monitored by the Performance and Programme and
Budget Management Boards within the Service, which examine the progress against
planned activity and spend against set budgets.

8.

Principle E: Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and
the individuals within it.

Page 193
95 | P a g e

4.1

 130

Year on year direction key



Q4 202021



Target

80%

Q4 Year
on Year

85%

Actual

3

Q4 202021



Q4 Year
on Year

0

Target

Q4 202021

3

Developing the organisation

Actual

Q4 Year
on Year

Deaths in Primary Fires

Responding to Emergencies

Target

Protecting Local Communities

Actual

IRMP
Theme

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22
8.1

Workforce planning has a crucial role in ensuring the Service has the capacity to meet its
obligations and fulfil its aims and objectives. Regular reviews, planning updates and
analysis are reported to the Staffing Committee and action taken when issues are
identified.

8.2

The Service has developed a framework that encompasses and structures the Service’s
strategic people priorities and objectives. This is referred to as the ‘Steps’ Framework and
aligns the aims and activities to the employee lifecycle under four key stages:

9.

Principle F: Managing risks & performance through robust internal control and strong
public financial management

9.1

There is a Risk Management Policy and Practitioner Guide used throughout the Service
which is applied to projects, programmes and some planned departmental activity. All
strategic risks are reviewed quarterly by the risk owners and six monthly by the Risk
Management Board (RMB).

9.2

There is a well-established network of Risk Champions who promote good practice and
ensure that risk is considered locally as part of regular team meetings. This network gains
some real value in sharing of best practice and acting as a ‘peer group’ in the management
and maintenance of risk.

9.3

Members and officers at all levels of the Authority recognise that risk management is part
of their day-to-day job. An owner is allocated to risks on the risk register and they are
responsible for regularly reviewing and managing the risks to which they are assigned. Risk
training is scheduled every two years and forms part of the Member development and
induction programmes.

9.4

With the high level risks of the Pandemic and the speed with which changes were made in
response to the virus, there was an increase in risk to officer safety; operational cover and
provision; and the financial impact on the organisation. In response, the Authority set up a
COVID-19 Group which initially met daily. This Group provided strategic direction and
guidance and agreed policies to allow the organisation to deliver operational functions and
those additional services that could safely be delivered during the Pandemic. The last
formal meeting of the group was in February 2022 but the group still operates and any
COVID-19 issues are referred to its members by email.

Page 194
96 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22
9.5

Health and Safety risks are robustly managed in accordance with the Health and Safety
Policies and Procedures and by the application of Standard Operating Procedures that are
regularly reviewed and updated as necessary.

9.6

Within the strategic risk register, identified risks are scored based on both probability and
level of impact, the outcome of which is rated using a Red, Amber and Green basis.

9.7

The Service’s Performance and Programme Board (members of the Service Management
Team) receives a quarterly review of performance against KPIs. The Board is responsible
for monitoring and reviewing progress against performance targets and ensuring that
action is taken wherever possible if targets are not being met. The performance reviews
are also reported to the Performance and Overview Committee.

9.8

Financial performance is also reported to the Performance and Overview Committee on a
quarterly basis. Budget Managers are provided with detailed information monthly and all
financial activity is subject to audit. The Director of Internal Audit provides an annual
assurance statement together with the External Auditor’s Annual Audit Letter both of
which are published together with the Statement of Accounts on the website.

9.9

The use and disclosure of personal data is governed in the United Kingdom by the Data
Protection Act 2018 (the Act) and the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). The
Service ensures that all personal data is handled in accordance with the Act.

10.

Principle G: Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting and audit to deliver
effective accountability

10.1 The Corporate Communications Strategy sets out the approach the Service will take to

communicating with the public and other stakeholders. It recognises the need for different
approaches for different audiences and the increased use of social media as a
communications tool.

10.2 The Service’s website includes details of performance, strategies, plans, financial

statements and the Annual Report. The Annual Report highlights key challenges and
achievements from the year and includes performance and financial information set out in
a simple but informative way. Members and Service Management Team agree the report
before it is published.

10.3 The process for assessing the Authority against this framework is agreed by the

Governance and Constitution Committee. Evidence is reviewed yearly and an action plan is
maintained highlighting areas for improvement. Progress against the action plan is
reported to the Service Management Team and to Governance and Constitution
Committee. The framework and the evidence supporting the assessment is included in the
annual Statement of Assurance. Internal Audit review the assessment and evidence
against at least two of the sections of the Code of Corporate Governance Framework each
year and make recommendations for improvement accordingly.

10.4 As a public service organisation, the Fire Authority will use public funds prudently and

apply the highest standards of conduct throughout the organisation. Under the remit of
the Governance and Constitution Committee, the Authority has an Anti-Fraud Policy and
Whistleblowing Policy and Procedure (confidential reporting) in support of this aim.

Page 195
97 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22
10.5 External assurance in terms of accountability is provided by both Internal and External

Audit, HMICFRS reviews and partner reviews of collaborations. The Head of Internal Audit
carries out their role in accordance with guidance issued in the CIPFA Statement on the
role of the head of internal audit (2010). The Head of Internal Audit’s Opinion and the
overall opinion for the period 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 provides Substantial
Assurance, that that there is a good system of internal control designed to meet the
organisation’s objectives, and that controls are generally being applied consistently.

11.

Review of Effectiveness

11.1 As part of the on-going governance roles, each of the above principles is reviewed and

evidence sourced to show effectiveness in terms of communications, actions, policies and
procedures. This evidence is scrutinised and challenged by the Treasurer together with the
Director of Governance and Commissioning.

11.2 These statutory roles have the responsibility to ensure the Authority has a sound system of

governance (incorporating the system of internal control) and as such maintain the
Authority’s Code of Governance including financial regulations.

11.3 Report on Areas for Action during 2021-22

Within the 2020-21 Annual Governance Statement, the review of effectiveness identified
three areas where further action was required. The following re-visits the actions and
reports on the outcome in 2021-22.
Coronavirus – Continue to monitor and respond to the Pandemic, including health and
safety together with the financial impact in the short, medium and longer term.
UPDATE: The Authority continually reviewed the potential financial impact upon its
operations as a result of the Pandemic during 2021/22. Where appropriate it accessed
financial support from the government. Within its MTFP it recognises medium and longer
term financial risks, including those attributable to the impact of the Pandemic.
The Authority continued to support the County’s response to the pandemic, working with
other agencies to help to all members of the community deal with the impacts. Throughout
the Pandemic, firefighter safety has remained a principal objective of the Authority.
Governance – As stated within the Home Secretary’s Written Statement made on 16
March 2021, a consultative White Paper on fire reform will be launched in 2021. Review
and respond to the White Paper when published.
UPDATE: The White Paper was not released until May 2022, so the Authority will now
consider its implications and respond in 2022/23.
HMICFRS Inspections – To provide a response to the inspection report and produce an
action plan should any areas of improvement be identified.
UPDATE: An action plan has been produced and work is underway to ensure that the
required actions are completed.

Page 196
98 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22
11.4 Areas for Action in 2022-23

The governance framework, internal controls and application of the principles have been
reviewed during 2021-22 with the following areas highlighted as risks together with the
mitigating actions required.
1. The Authority does not have an asset management strategy in place.
Action: Develop an asset management strategy
2. The Authority’s budget managers require development and support in managing their
budgets.
Action: Work with budget managers in formal and informal setting to improve budget
management.
3. The Authority should ensure that its MTFP has sufficient sensitivity analysis on future
sustainability
Action: Review the contents of the MTFP.
4. The Authority has no formal Section 114 notice process in place
Action: Create a Section 114 process
5. The Authority’s budget bid forms do not include sufficient information on options.
Action: Review option appraisal element of the budget bid form.
6. The draft White Paper on Reforming Fire and Rescue Services has been released and the
Authority will need to respond to it.
Action: Respond to the draft White Paper (first step will be to respond to the consultation).
12.

Summary

12.1 We propose over the coming year to take steps to address the issues identified above to

further enhance the governance arrangements. We are satisfied that these steps will
address the need for improvement as identified in the review of effectiveness and will
monitor their implementation and operation as part of the next annual review.

Page 197
99 | P a g e

Cheshire Fire Authority 2021-22

Signed

Cllr Bob Rudd
Chair of Fire Authority

Mark Cashin
Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive

Andrew Leadbetter
Director of Governance and Commissioning
On behalf of the Members of Cheshire Fire Authority and officers of Cheshire Fire and Rescue
Service.

Page 198
100 | P a g e

Our Ref: BR/TR
Your Ref:

Appendix 2 to Item 3
Cheshire Fire Authority
28 September 2022

Contact: Cllr B Rudd
Tel No: 01606868810
Date: 28th September 2022
Email:

Grant Thornton UK LLP
Landmark,
St Peter's Square,
1 Oxford Street,
Manchester M1 4PB

Dear Sirs
Cheshire Fire Authority
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2022
This representation letter is provided in connection with the audit of the financial statements
of Cheshire Fire Authority for the year ended 31 March 2022 for the purpose of expressing
an opinion as to whether the Authority financial statements are presented fairly, in all
material respects in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and the
CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom
2021/22 and applicable law.
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief having made such inquiries as we
considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves:
Financial Statements
i.

We have fulfilled our responsibilities for the preparation of the Authority’s financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the
CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United
Kingdom 2021/22 ("the Code"); in particular the financial statements are fairly
presented in accordance therewith.

ii.

We have complied with the requirements of all statutory directions affecting the
Authority and these matters have been appropriately reflected and disclosed in the
financial statements.

iii.

The Authority has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that could
have a material effect on the financial statements in the event of non-compliance.
There has been no non-compliance with requirements of any regulatory authorities
that could have a material effect on the financial statements in the event of noncompliance.

iv.

We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance
of internal control to prevent and detect fraud.

v.

Significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, including those
measured at fair value, are reasonable. Such accounting estimates include the
valuation of land and buildings and the valuation of the net pension liability. We are
satisfied that the material judgements used in the preparation of the financial
statements are soundly based, in accordance with the Code and adequately
disclosed in the financial statements. We understand our responsibilities includes
identifying and considering alternative, methods, assumptions or source data that
would be equally valid under the financial reporting framework, and why these

Page 199

alternatives were rejected in favour of the estimate used. We are satisfied that the
methods, the data and the significant assumptions used by us in making accounting
estimates and their related disclosures are appropriate to achieve recognition,
measurement or disclosure that is reasonable in accordance with the Code and
adequately disclosed in the financial statements.
vi.

We confirm that we are satisfied that the actuarial assumptions underlying the
valuation of pension scheme assets and liabilities for IAS19 Employee Benefits
disclosures are consistent with our knowledge. We confirm that all settlements and
curtailments have been identified and properly accounted for. We also confirm that
all significant post-employment benefits have been identified and properly accounted
for.

vii.

Except as disclosed in the financial statements:
a. there are no unrecorded liabilities, actual or contingent
b. none of the assets of the Authority has been assigned, pledged or mortgaged
c. there are no material prior year charges or credits, nor exceptional or nonrecurring items requiring separate disclosure.

viii.

Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for
and disclosed in accordance with the requirements of International Financial
Reporting Standards and the Code.

ix.

All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which
International Financial Reporting Standards and the Code require adjustment or
disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed.

x.

We have considered the adjusted misstatements, and misclassification and
disclosures changes schedules included in your Audit Findings Report. The
Authority’s financial statements have been amended for these misstatements,
misclassifications and disclosure changes and are free of material misstatements,
including omissions.

xi.

Actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for and disclosed in
accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards.

xii.

We have no plans or intentions that may materially alter the carrying value or
classification of assets and liabilities reflected in the financial statements.

xiii.

We have updated our going concern assessment. We continue to believe that the
Authority’s financial statements should be prepared on a going concern basis and
have not identified any material uncertainties related to going concern on the grounds
that :
a. the nature of the Authority means that, notwithstanding any intention to cease
its operations in their current form, it will continue to be appropriate to adopt
the going concern basis of accounting because, in such an event, services it
performs can be expected to continue to be delivered by related public
authorities and preparing the financial statements on a going concern basis
will still provide a faithful representation of the items in the financial
statements
b. the financial reporting framework permits the entry to prepare its financial
statements on the basis of the presumption set out under a) above; and
c. the Authority’s system of internal control has not identified any events or
conditions relevant to going concern.

Page 200

We believe that no further disclosures relating to the Authority's ability to continue as
a going concern need to be made in the financial statements
Information Provided
xiv.

We have provided you with:
a. access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the
preparation of the Authority’s financial statements such as records,
documentation and other matters;
b. additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of your
audit; and
c. access to persons within the Authority via remote arrangements from whom
you determined it necessary to obtain audit evidence.

xv.

We have communicated to you all deficiencies in internal control of which
management is aware.

xvi.

All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in
the financial statements.

xvii.

We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial
statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud.

xviii.

We have disclosed to you all information in relation to fraud or suspected fraud that
we are aware of and that affects the Authority and involves:
a. management;
b. employees who have significant roles in internal control; or
c. others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

xix.

We have disclosed to you all information in relation to allegations of fraud, or
suspected fraud, affecting the financial statements communicated by employees,
former employees, analysts, regulators or others.

xx.

We have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or suspected noncompliance with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered when
preparing financial statements.

xxi.

We have disclosed to you the identity of the Authority's related parties and all the
related party relationships and transactions of which we are aware.

xxii.

We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose
effects should be considered when preparing the financial statements.

Annual Governance Statement
xxiii.

We are satisfied that the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) fairly reflects the
Authority's risk assurance and governance framework and we confirm that we are not
aware of any significant risks that are not disclosed within the AGS.

Narrative Report
xxiv.

The disclosures within the Narrative Report fairly reflect our understanding of the
Authority's financial and operating performance over the period covered by the
Authority’s financial statements.

Page 201

Approval
The approval of this letter of representation was minuted by the Authority at its meeting on
28 September 2022.
Yours faithfully

Cllr Bob Rudd
Name……………………………

Chairman
Position………………………….

28th September 2022
Date…………………………….

Mark Cashin
Name……………………………

Chief Fire Officer
Position………………………….

28th September 2022
Date…………………………….

Signed on behalf of the Authority

Page 202

Agenda Item 4
CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY
MEETING OF:
DATE:
REPORT OF:
AUTHOR:

CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY
28 SEPTEMBER 2022
HEAD OF COMMUNICATIONS AND ENGAGEMENT
SARAH DORNFORD-MAY

SUBJECT:

ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22

Purpose of Report
1.

This report seeks approval to publish the Annual Report for 2021-22,
which incorporates statutory information on the annual Statement of
Accounts together with summary information on key areas of Service
performance during the last financial year.

Recommended: That
[1]

Subject to Members’ comments, the draft Annual Report 2021-22 is
approved for publication (once the Summary of accounts figures
have been inserted).

Background
2.

The Authority must publish certain information about its accounts and
governance arrangements. Reference is made to this information in the
Annual Report.

3.

The Authority is also required to comply with the requirements of the Fire
and Rescue National Framework concerned with the provision of
information to communities about its performance.

4.

The publication of the Annual Report helps the Authority to meet these
obligations. It is also required to produce an Annual Statement of
Assurance.

Information
5.

The Fire Authority is committed to keeping its residents, businesses and
key stakeholders informed about the development of its services and
policies and its performance against its published plans.

6.

The draft Annual Report is attached to this report as Appendix 1. This
year’s report design has been refreshed to more of a magazine format and
will be, as in recent years, promoted digitally, available on the website
(from which it can be printed). Printed copies will be available on request.
Members will see that the Summary of accounts 2021-22 has been left
blank. The figures will be inserted once the audit has been concluded.

Page 203

7.

It is hoped that the Annual Report can be published on the Service’s
website by 30 September – the statutory deadline for publication of the
Statement of Accounts. We will announce publication through our social
media channels and via mainstream media.

Financial Implications
8.

There are no financial implications as the Annual Report is published
online, as agreed by Members in 2018.

Legal Implications
9.

The Service has a statutory requirement to publish its summary of
accounts. There are no legal requirements to print and distribute an
Annual Report.

Equality and Diversity Implications
10. The Annual Report will be made available in other formats on request.

Environmental Implications
11. There are no environmental implications associated with the publication of
the Annual Report.
CONTACT: DONNA LINTON, GOVERNANCE AND CORPORATE
PLANNING MANAGER
TEL [01606] 868804
BACKGROUND PAPERS:
Fire Authority on 29th September 2021 – Item 5 – Annual Report 2020-21

Page 204

Annual Report
2021 - 22

Page 205
1

Contents
Introduction.......................................................................... 3
Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service Core Values........................ 4
Being Inclusive................................................................................4
Doing the Right Thing....................................................................6
Acting with Compassion...............................................................8
Making a Difference.......................................................................10

Focus on performance...........................................................12
Summary of Accounts 2021-22..............................................13
Fire Authority Members.........................................................14
Service Management Team....................................................15

Page 206
2

Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service Annual Report 2021-22

Introduction
On behalf of Cheshire Fire Authority and Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service, we are
pleased to introduce a new-look Annual Report for 2021-22.
This document is a review of just some of our work over the last 12 months and encompasses
a wide range of activities; from our response to emergencies and our life-saving prevention and
protection activity, as well as the help our staff provided in the community in the second half of the
Covid pandemic and the support we provided to our fellow firefighters in Ukraine.
Central to how we operate are our Core Values, which set out the ways in which we aim to make
our Service and the wider community a better, safer place in which to live, work and visit. We align
everything we do to our Core Values, and you will be able to see this over the following pages
of this Report, where we detail a range of highlights from the year that demonstrate each of the
values. Towards the end of document, you can read about our performance, our finances and find
information about members of the Fire Authority and the Service Management Team.
We are now in the third year of our 2020-24 Integrated Risk Management Plan, which sets out the
actions we are taking to improve our service to the communities of Cheshire and address the key fire
and rescue related risks that we face.
As we begin to develop our new Community Risk Management Plan for the years beyond 2024, we
do so knowing that there is a significant amount of change on the horizon for fire and rescue services,
and in wider society. Our new Plan, which will be subject to public consultation in the autumn of
2023, will take new and emerging risks into account and outline how we can continue to make
Cheshire safer for all who live, work and travel within the county.

Be Inclusive
By acting fairly, with
integrity, respect and
without prejudice.

Councillor
Bob Rudd
Chairman, Cheshire
Fire Authority

Mark Cashin
Chief Fire Officer
and Chief Executive

Do the Right Thing

E

HIRE F
I
ES

SERVI
C
UE

& RESC
RE

CH

Our Core
Values

By holding each other to
account for ensuring high
standards of professionalism
in everything we do.

Act with Compassion
By being understanding and
offering help to each other
and to our communities with
warmth, patience and kindness.

Our Core Values are aligned with the principles
set out in the National Fire Chiefs Council’s
Code of Ethics for fire and rescue services:
• putting communities first
• integrity
• dignity and respect
• leadership
• equality, diversity and inclusion.

Make a Difference
By making an impact in our
organisation and in our
communities in whatever
ways we can, for as many
people as we can.

Page 207
3

Being inclusive
By acting with integrity, respect and without prejudice.

Meeting the diverse needs of our communities and staff
Safety Central embraces
language programme
Our interactive lifeskills
education centre, Safety Central,
is now even more inclusive
after staff embraced a language
programme to help them
communicate effectively with all
visitors.
Makaton is the UK’s leading
language system for adults
and children with learning or
communication difficulties.
The ever-growing number of
people nationally who utilise
the language programme now
includes the team at Safety
Central after they were given the
opportunity to complete Makaton
levels one to four courses during
lockdown. There are also Makaton
symbols, signage and video
interpretation around the centre.
Centre Manager Hazel
Crampton said: “Lots of the
children and young people who

visit us use Makaton, as do a lot
of the adults who support them.
We strive to make the centre as
inclusive as possible so that as
many people as possible can
learn about staying safe and well,
regardless of their abilities.”

The commitment
she shows in support
of gender equality
and women’s issues
is inspirational

Page 208
4

Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service Annual Report 2021-22

Hannah is an
Exceptional Ally
Station Manager Hannah
Caulfield was presented with the
Exceptional Allies Award by the
Women in the Fire Service UK
(WFS) network.
She was officially recognised
for promoting gender equality
and supporting colleagues to be
the best they can be.
Hannah is valued for the work
she does to make new staff feel
supported and for the processes
she has put in place to improve
the job for female firefighters.
Maternity and menopause
policies and welfare facilities are
just a few of the improvements
Hannah has helped to bring
about.
Deputy Chief Fire Officer
Alex Waller said: “Hannah
demonstrates exceptional
qualities. The commitment she
shows in support of gender
equality and women’s issues is
inspirational. She is a true role
model within the Service to all her
colleagues.”
Hannah said: “There is fantastic
support for all staff in our Service,
with the core belief being that
if people can completely be
themselves at work it enables us
to reach our full potential.”

Gold AND Silver in
Stonewall Workplace
Equality Index
We are now the second most
LGBT+ inclusive workplace in the
UK according to Stonewall and
its latest Top 100 employers list.
Chief Fire Officer Mark Cashin
said: “By having a diverse
workforce that is fully inclusive,
we are better prepared to meet
all the needs of everyone in
our communities. Additionally,
by actively promoting LGBT+
inclusion, our recruitment
catchment is vastly broadened as
we strive to inspire people from
all backgrounds to consider us as
an employer.”
Stonewall’s Gold award was
given for our commitment and
efforts to creating an inclusive
work environment.

Fasting to appreciate
and understand
Ramadan
Firefighters from Wilmslow’s
Delta Watch fasted for a day to
show support and solidarity to
their Muslim colleague Usman
Akhtar.
They were inspired by a
community cohesion initiative
led by One Voice Blackburn. It

We strive to
inspire people from
all backgrounds to
consider us as an
employer

called for non-Muslims to not
eat anything for a day during
Ramadan under #imnotamuslim
butiwillfastforoneday.
Watch Manager Oliver Tremain
said: “I’m so proud of my team for
making a small sacrifice to show
our support for Usman, while
gaining a greater appreciation
and understanding of Ramadan
and what it means for Muslims all
over the world.”

Page 209
5

Doing the right thing
By holding each other to account for ensuring high standards of professionalism
in everything we do.

Acting ethically and with integrity in all that we do
Going green in Chester
Our first carbon neutral fire
station opened its doors in
Chester, 110 years after the very
first fire station opened in the
city.
Thought to be one of the first
of its kind in the country the fire
station has replaced the ageing
1970s building and boasts
four bays and modern training
facilities such as a new training
tower, a breathing apparatus
building and a road traffic
collision training area.

The state-of-the-art building
was officially opened by Cllr Bob
Rudd, Cheshire Fire Authority’s
Chairman. Cllr Rudd said: “The
technology and tools used by
our crews has changed so much
over time. It is essential that we
continually progress to ensure
that our firefighters are provided
with the facilities they need
and deserve, and have the best
working environment we can give
them.
“The station is yet another
example of how Cheshire
Fire Authority is investing in
firefighting and helping to keep
our communities safe.”
6

The station is yet
another example of
how Cheshire Fire
Authority is investing
in firefighting and
helping to keep our
communities safe

Firefighter Colin Burgess

Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service Annual Report 2021-22

Page 210

Queen’s bravery
commendations
awarded
Two of our firefighters were
honoured with a Queen’s
Commendation for Bravery,
approved by the George Cross
Committee.
Nigel Quarmby and Colin
Burgess, along with their fellow
crew members, were alerted to
reports of a woman threatening
to enter the River Mersey at
Warrington. Despite the obvious
risk to life, they entered the
water using a line secured to the
waterside in order to move closer
to the woman.
Unfortunately, she had already
been swept away by the current
and the rescue line was not long
enough. Firefighter Burgess used
himself as the tether for Firefighter
Quarmby to wade into the water
to provide enough line to reach
the casualty.

Providing aid to Ukraine

Firefighter Nigel Quarmby

They managed to pull the
woman from the water and take
her to safety through deep mud
and poor visibility. Due to their
quick thinking and determination
her life was saved.
Chief Fire Officer Mark Cashin
said: “We are extremely proud of
Nigel and Colin’s quick thinking
and brave actions and that of their
colleagues. They both showed
courage and determination in the
most difficult of circumstances
and they accepted significant
risks to their own safety to save
someone’s life.”

Fire engines and a hydraulic
platform were driven across
Europe by firefighters who
volunteered to deliver the
vehicles and hundreds of
pieces of surplus firefighting
equipment, including hose reels,
helmets and other equipment
to the Polish State Fire Service,
whose staff then transferred the
consignment on to Ukraine.
The kit is being used to support
firefighters, emergency services
and volunteers who are battling
together on the front line, often
using old or worn equipment.
They have been dealing daily
with fires and other emergencies
to save lives, people and property
since the war started.
The fire engine doors bore the
Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service
logo with the words ‘Supporting

We knew that
this donation of
equipment and
vehicles was very
much needed so we
were proud to be able
to offer our support

Ukraine’. Inside the drivers’ cabs
were stickers which read: “In
solidarity and support of the
people of Ukraine, from Cheshire
Fire and Rescue Service”. We also
made and saved to a USB pen
drive a short video, narrated by
a Ukrainian-speaking firefighter,
demonstrating how to use the
hydraulic platform.
Chief Fire Officer Mark Cashin
said: “We knew that this donation
of equipment and vehicles, no
longer in operational use here,
was very much needed so we
were proud to be able to offer our
support. Ukrainian firefighters are
often under devastating attacks
while doing their job protecting
their communities in the most
difficult of circumstances. Our
thoughts are with them.”

Page 211
7

Acting with compassion
By being understanding and offering help to each other and to our communities with
warmth, patience and kindness.

Commitment with kindness and understanding
It has been
fantastic to see
how our staff have
adapted our services
to contribute to the
national effort

Caring through Covid
Firefighters and staff of a
frontline 999 service are used to
dealing with emergencies but,
for most of us, we have never
experienced one as unparalleled
as Covid-19 which continued to
touch all our lives throughout
2021-22.
All our staff, whether
operational, prevention,
protection, support, cadets
or volunteers, stepped up to
learn new skills, work alongside
partner agencies and support
communities in any way they
could. Some set aside their usual
day jobs to take on entirely new
roles and skills, with colleagues
taking on additional work to
ensure we continued to carry
out our core role as a Service.
Whatever their roles throughout
the pandemic, they carried them
out with commendable altruism,
willingness and dedication.
In a real team effort staff and

volunteers worked tirelessly to
keep people safe and protect
them from harm during some
of the most unprecedented
times this country has seen for
decades. Between them they gave
more than 100,000 vaccinations,
delivered blood, breast milk,
thousands of prescriptions and
school meals, education packs
and laptops for home-schooled
children, swabbed people and

Page 212
8

Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service Annual Report 2021-22

provided transport for tests
and vaccinations, managed
mass deliveries of personal
protective equipment, checked
on vulnerable residents such
as people with dementia, and
delivering bulk foods to food
banks.
Deputy Chief Fire Officer Alex
Waller said: “It has been fantastic
to see how our staff have adapted
our services to contribute to the
national effort and help to protect
the community and save lives.
It is humbling to witness them
stepping up to the many workrelated challenges whilst also
dealing with personal pressures
and impacts on home life and
family.”

Spreading cheer

Charlie’s happy ending

We packed fire engines with
Christmas cheer to spread a
little happiness to those who
might not have had such a happy
festive season.
In Macclesfield, firefighters
supported Santa Claus in the
run up to Christmas. For several
weeks leading up to the big day,
they urged the public to donate
gifts for Macclesfield District
General Hospital’s Emergency
Department and Children’s wards.
They were delighted to be able
to deliver them to the hospital
to ensure smiles all round for
children who were not able to be
at home on Christmas Day.
Knutsford Fire Station reserved
a parking space for Santa’s sleigh
so children could call in to say
hello to the big man in the red
suit and his little helpers. Over
in Runcorn, the on-call watch
delivered hampers provided by
Howdens Joiners to nominated
members of the community.
Meanwhile, Prevention colleagues
spread some special cheer
when they supported Age UK
in delivering wellbeing packs to
veterans in Halton as part of a
Safe and Well Visit. Staff listened
to stories from those who had
served and said it was a truly
humbling experience and an
honour to meet the veterans.

Firefighters went the extra mile
to rescue a helpless foal that had
fallen down an embankment in
Runcorn.
Charlie was stuck at the bottom
of an embankment alongside a
brook, tangled in nettles and in a
bad way.
Firefighters and the Lymm
animal rescue unit walked a
considerable distance through
challenging terrain in very warm
weather to reach the stricken
foal. They immediately got to
work in carefully extricating her
and encouraging her to her feet,
although she was barely able to
walk.

Heartbreakingly, Charlie was
rejected by a horse believed to
be her mother and there were
serious concerns for her welfare
as she was weak and unable to
fend for herself.
Firefighter Ben Sanderson
said: “She was clearly very young
and needed our help - she was
so young that she was barely
able to walk. We weren’t going to
leave her on her own and Caren
from the RSPCA, who had been
assisting us, suggested calling
a vet to meet us at the road so
Charlie could immediately be
assessed, saving vital time.
“So we took it in turns to carry
Charlie across the difficult terrain,
back to our fire engine where we
cared for her as the vet arrived.
“We were getting quite
attached to her, which made it all
the more difficult when the RSPCA
and the vet at the scene informed
us that it didn’t look good and she
was going to have to be rushed
away for specialist care.”
A few days later, the RSPCA
contacted the firefighters to let
them know that, against all the
odds, Charlie was doing well and
that, had she not been rescued,
she would almost certainly have
died alone by the river. She has
now been taken into care and is
doing very well.

Page 213
9

Making a difference
By making an impact in our organisation and in our communities in whatever ways
we can, for as many people as we can.

Striving to be the best we can for the benefit of all
Effective, efficient and
inclusive
England’s independent fire and
rescue service watchdog praised
our work to keep communities
safe from fire and to create a fair
and inclusive workplace.
In its latest round of inspections
Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of
Constabulary and Fire & Rescue
Services (HMICFRS) rated our
Service as ‘good’ across all three
of its inspection criteria. This
means we are ‘performing as
expected’ in the way we prevent
and respond to emergencies,
spend our money and look after
our people.
Welcoming the report, Chief
Fire Officer Mark Cashin said: “This
is a comprehensive assessment
that first and foremost reflects the
hard work of all our firefighters
and fire staff. The inspectors
noted how our people engaged
‘positively’ and ‘constructively’
with them and that it was a
‘pleasure’ to revisit the Service.

Our grading of ‘good’ is testament
to their commitment to providing
the best possible service to
everyone who lives and works in
Cheshire.
“I am particularly pleased that
HMICFRS has recognised how we
have not only maintained core
activities to a very high standard
throughout the pandemic, but
also continued to develop as
an organisation and address
the areas for improvement
highlighted in the last inspection.”
The report highlighted our
Service’s:
• “impressive investment to
promote culture and values,
and equality, diversity
and inclusion” across the
organisation
• “range of wellbeing support”
for staff, including increased
management visibility and the
appointment of a mental health
advisor

Page 214
10 Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service Annual Report 2021-22

This is a
comprehensive
assessment that
reflects the hard work
of all our firefighters
and fire staff
• “clear, risk-based approach
to prevention activity” which
includes Safe and Well visits
that staff continued to make
to vulnerable people during
the pandemic. HMICFRS found
we carried out three times the
national average number of
visits during 2019/20
• training for incident
commanders, who “safely,
assertively and effectively”
manage incidents and feel
empowered to use their
professional judgement when
making operational decisions
• work to protect the public
through the enforcement
of fire regulations by, for
example, assessing risks in all
Cheshire’s high-rise buildings
and campaigning for the
installation of sprinklers. The
report highlights that the
Service undertook twice the
national average number of
fire safety audits in 2019/20
• “sound understanding of
future financial challenges”
based on “robust, realistic
and prudent assumptions”.
Its services are provided at a
lower than national average
cost.

Technology to improve
operational response
We have a new weapon in our
armoury that is invaluable at
challenging incidents and helps
save lives.
The Scorpion High Reach
Extending Turret (HRET) is built
by Emergency One and is a fire
engine that has the ability to
deliver water and foam from
height, crucial when dealing
with building fires and fires in
industrial yards.
Neil Griffiths, Head of Service
Delivery said: “It’s fantastic to see
how technology is improving our
operational response to fighting
fires, especially as we face the
challenges of modern methods of
building construction.
“As well as performing like a
regular fire engine, the addition
of the Scorpion HRET to our fleet
will provide other options for
incident commanders to consider
when dealing with challenging
incidents.
“It is so important that we
utilise the very best 21st century
innovation to help protect our
communities and keep our crews
as safe as possible.”

Royal opening
His Royal Highness The Earl of
Wessex officially opened our new
state-of-the-art training centre at
Sadler Road, Winsford.
The Earl was greeted by Chair
of Cheshire Fire Authority Cllr Bob
Rudd and was given a guided tour
of the multi-million pound facility.
Firefighters put their skills to
into action and demonstrated
how the training centre will be
used to ensure they have the
expertise and knowledge to keep
residents safe for years to come.
The facilities have been
designed to immerse firefighters
in real-life operational situations
making them better equipped and
skilled to keep the communities
of Cheshire safe.
The centre utilises innovative
technology and real-life scenario
sets, ranging from serious
motorway collisions to dealing
with building fires and chemical
incidents.
As part of his visit, the Earl
also met with a number of staff
from our Service, Cheshire
Constabulary and North West
Ambulance Service to thank them
for their dedication throughout
the Covid-19 pandemic.

It is fantastic to
see how technology
is improving our
operational response
to fighting fires

Page 215
11

Focus on Performance 2021-22
Our prevention agenda continues to have a positive impact on the number of
residents who are killed or injured across our county.
Over the past decade accidental fires in the home have reduced by around 27%, with fire
related injuries caused by accidental fires in the home reducing to an 11-year low. In 2020-21,
85% of households where dwelling fires occurred had a working smoke alarm. In addition,
deliberate fires, which often occur outdoors, have also reduced by 67% since 2010-11.
The following infographic highlights some of the key trends relating to different aspects of
our performance over recent years.

Community outcomes

HMICFRS inspection

We attended 2,379 fires in 2021-22.
This is more than 1,300 fewer fires
compared with 2011-12.
We attended 313 accidental fires
in the home. This is 30% lower
compared with 2011-12.

In 2021, we were inspected by Her
Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary
and Fire & Rescue Services. This
inspection examined our effectiveness,
efficiency and how well we look after our people.
The extent to which we are effective at
keeping people safe and secure from fire
and other risks is GOOD

168 (54%) of these fires started in the
kitchen.

The extent to which we are efficient at
keeping people safe and secure from fire
and other risks is GOOD

129 (40%) had a cooking related ignition
source.

The extent to which we look after our
people is GOOD

68 (22%) occurred in the homes of people
of pensionable age who live alone.

Community outputs
12 injuries were recorded in
accidental fires in the home. This is
the lowest number recorded since
2011-12.
85% of households where fires
occurred had a working smoke alarm
fitted.
We attended 891 deliberate fires. This
is 59% fewer deliberately ignited fires
compared with 2011-12.
The majority of these were smaller
outdoor fires.

Our advocates and firefighters carried
out 11,268 Safe and Well visits to
people most at risk of fire.
Our Protection Team and firefighters carried out ...
2,015 thematic inspections in non
domestic premises
1,677 fire safety audits in non
domestic premises
102% of their planned risk based inspection
programme inspections

Sickness remained low, with an average
of 6.71 days per person

In 2021-22, the average response time
to life risk incidents in Cheshire was
8 minutes 35 seconds.
Our target is no more than 10 minutes.

All essential firefighting training was
compeleted

Page 216
12 Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service Annual Report 2021-22

Staff and services

Priority based budgeting continues to
generate savings

Summary of accounts 2021-22
Cheshire Fire Authority is the public body which manages
Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service on behalf of local communities.
From April 2021 to March 2022 it was
made up of 23 elected Members, with
eight appointed by Cheshire West
and Chester Council, eight by
Cheshire East Council, three by
Halton Borough Council and four by
Warrington Borough Council. The
political composition of the Authority
during that time comprised eight
Conservative members, 12 Labour
members, two Independent
members and one Liberal Democrat.
The Authority is a separate legal
body and has the power to set
council tax and agree its own policies
and procedures without needing the
approval of these local councils. Its
meetings are open to the public and
are usually held at the Sadler Road
Training Centre in Winsford. Full
details are on the website – www.
cheshirefire.gov.uk.
Its key duties include approving
the annual budget; setting its council
tax level and agreeing the numbers of
staff and levels of equipment
necessary to provide an effective
service and approving the
organisation’s key policies, plans and
strategies.
It is also responsible for ensuring
its business is conducted in
accordance with the law and proper
standards, that public money is
properly accounted for and how it
aims for continuous improvement. To
demonstrate this it produces an
Annual Governance Statement to
accompany the Statement of
Accounts. From 2013-14 the Authority
has included this as part of its annual
Statement of Assurance.

Accounts
The Fire Authority’s accounts show
how it uses its resources to deliver a
fire and rescue service across
Cheshire. The summary accounts
provide an overview of where the
funds come from, how they are used
and the financial position as at 31
March 2022. The 2021-22 Statement
of Accounts include the Authority’s 25
per cent share of the cost of running
of North West Fire Control Limited.

Summary Revenue Account
The 2021-22 Fire Authority net
revenue budget and expenditure
was £?m. The Authority has a general
reserve of £?m at 31 March 2022,
which is just under five per cent of
the budget, any underspends
reported in the year for 2021-22 has
been transferred to support capital
expenditure.
The Authority also holds
earmarked reserves to meet specific
needs in line with its Reserves
Strategy. The Authority is developing
a range of options to ensure that it
can operate efficiently and effectively
and provide value for money.

Summary Balance Sheet
The Summary Balance Sheet shows
the 2021-22 end of year position and
the most obvious point to note is the
net liability of £?m. In other words,
assets of £?m, current liabilities of
£?m but long term liabilities of £?m.
Most of the liabilities relate to
expected future pension costs of
£?m, compared to £?m in 2020-21.
All local authorities are required to
recognise this liability in their
balance sheet even though it is not
an immediate call on their resources,
but instead is paid out over the life of
existing and future pensioners. At
present, all deficits on the
Firefighters Pension Scheme are
funded by government through a
specific top up grant.

Summary Revenue Account 2021-22

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

Firefighting and Rescue Operations
Protection and Prevention
Premises, Fleet and other Corporate Support Costs
Net Cost of Service
North West Fire Control - Cost of service
Other income, expenditure and adjustments
Amount to be met by Govt Grant and Local Taxation
Revenue Support Grant and Local Taxation
Council Tax
Net General Fund (Surplus)/Deficit
Balance on General Fund brought forward
Net movement on general reserves
Balance on General Fund Carried Forward

Summary Balance Sheet 2021-22
Long Term Assets
Current Assets
Long Term Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Total Assets less Total Liabilities
Financed by:
Unusable reserves
Earmarked Reserves
General Reserve
TOTAL NET WORTH

The audit of the Authority’s accounts for the year ending 31-03-2022 will not be completed
before the end of September 2022. A draft copy of the statement of accounts are available on
our website at www.cheshirefire.gov.uk.

Page 217

Paul Vaughan, Treasurer, 01606 868700

13

Cheshire Fire Authority Members 2022-23
Cheshire East

Cheshire West and Chester

Cllr Rachel
Bailey

Cllr Michael
Beanland

Cllr David
Brown

Cllr Razia
Daniels

Cllr Gina
Lewis

Cllr Nathan
Pardoe

Cllr Marilyn
Houston

Cllr Nick
Mannion

Cllr Rob
Moreton

Cllr Stuart
Parker MBE

Cllr Bob
Rudd

Cllr Peter
Wheeler

Cllr Denis
Murphy

Cllr James
Nicholas

Cllr Jonathan
Parry

Cllr Norman
Wright

Halton

Cllr Phil
Harris

Cllr Stef
Nelson

Warrington

Cllr Rob
Polhill MBE

Cllr Kathryn
Buckley

Cllr Brian
Gallagher

Stood down in 2021-22
Cllr Peter
Walker

Cllr Mike
Biggin

Cllr Phill
Eastty

Cllr Jill
Houlbrook

Page 218
14 Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service Annual Report 2021-22

Cllr Karen
Mundry

Service Management Team
Mark Cashin, Chief Fire Officer
and Chief Executive

Neil Griffiths, Head of Service Delivery
Neil has overall responsibility for
front-line response. This includes the
management of our 28 fire stations
across Cheshire East, Cheshire West
and Chester, Halton and Warrington.

Mark is the Head of Paid Services,
responsible for leading and directing the
strategic management of our Service.
He is also responsible for ensuring our
activities are carried out with maximum
effectiveness and efficiency.

Alex Waller, Deputy Chief Fire Officer

Steve Barnes, Head of Operational
Policy and Assurance

Alex leads on strategic planning
and delivery of functions including
Prevention, Protection, Operational
Policy and Assurance, HMICFRS liaison
and Blue Light Collaboration. Alex
deputises for the Chief Fire Officer and
Chief Executive.

Steve is responsible for providing
effective operational and incident
command training to our firefighters.
He is also responsible for fleet
management and overseeing health
and safety.

Paul Binyon, Assistant Chief Fire Officer

Lee Shears, Prevention and Protection

Paul is responsible for providing
strategic leadership to shape and
direct service provision and ensure the
delivery of commitments in the IRMP.
Paul deputises for the Chief Fire Officer
and Chief Executive and the Deputy
Chief Fire Officer as necessary.

Lee is responsible for ensuring nonresidential premises comply with fire
safety legislation (Protection) and for
fire safety in the wider community
and specifically within the home
(Prevention).

Andrew Leadbetter, Director of Governance
and Monitoring Officer

Mark Shone, Head of Communications
and Engagement

Andrew provides guidance on matters
of law, decision making, risk mitigation
and governance to ensure that the Fire
Authority operates within the law and in
accordance with constitutional and/or
statutory requirements.

Mark is responsible for protecting
and enhancing the reputation of the
Service, ensuring that the community,
employees and partners are engaged
and informed about its work.

Andrea Harvey, Director of Transformation

Neil McElroy, Temporary Head of Service
Improvement

Andrea is responsible for people,
workforce transformation and culture
and manages the portfolios for
corporate communications, equality,
diversity and inclusion, and mental
health and well-being. She is also the
Service Pension Scheme Manager.

Neil leads all aspects of planning,
performance and strategic change. He
also has oversight of the Blue Light
Collaboration, in addition to being
the senior sponsor for the Service’s
environmental portfolio.

Paul Vaughan, Treasurer and Section 151 Officer
Paul has overall responsibility for
ensuring the proper administration
of the Fire Authority’s financial affairs.
He has statutory duties as part of the
annual budget setting process and
for the preparation and publication of Page
annual financial statements.

219
15

One team, many

If you want to join a team that saves lives, protects lives
and changes lives every day, we’d love to hear from you.
Follow us on social, or visit our website, for news and info about:
• on-call firefighter roles throughout Cheshire
• our next full-time firefighter recruitment in early 2023
• joining our award-winning prevention and protection teams
• rewarding non-uniformed roles in corporate services
• volunteering opportunities
• our cadet programme for 12 to 17-year-olds
• our Prince’s Trust Team programme for 16 to 24-year-olds.
If you would like to work or volunteer for Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service,
please get in touch - recruitment@cheshirefire.gov.uk

@CheshireFRS @CheshireFire
16 Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service Annual Report 2021-22

@CheshireFRS

Page 220

www.cheshirefire.gov.uk

Agenda Item 5
CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY
MEETING OF:
DATE:
REPORT OF:
AUTHOR:

CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY
28TH SEPTEMBER 2022
HEAD OF PROCUREMENT AND CONTRACTS
ANITA GIBBS

SUBJECT:

MODERN SLAVERY STATEMENT

Purpose of Report
1.

To seek Member approval for the publication of a Modern Slavery Statement
on the Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service website.

Recommended: That
[1]

the Modern Slavery Statement for Cheshire Fire and Rescue be
approved for publication on the website.

Background
2.

Following the Transparency in Supply Chains Consultation, the Government
has announced its commitment to extend Section 54 of the Modern Slavery Act
2015 to public bodies in England and Wales with a budget of £36 million or
more. This applies to the Fire Authority.

3.

Since the Act came into force, many public bodies have published modern
slavery statements voluntarily.
The Government is encouraging those
organisations that have yet to produce a statement to submit one covering the
21/22 financial year by 30th September 2022.

4.

The publication of a Modern Slavery Statement by Cheshire Fire and Rescue
Service is in response to this request by Government.

Information
5.

It is hoped that the Modern Slavery Statement attached to this report as
Appendix 1 is self-explanatory. Officers will attend the meeting to answer
questions from Members.

Page 221

Financial Implications
6.

It is not clear at this time whether there will be any financial implications from
the requirement to publish a Modern Slavery Statement.

Legal Implications
7.

Cheshire Fire Authority will be required to comply with the Modern Slavery Act
2015.

Equality and Diversity Implications
8.

Equality and diversity implications are covered within the parameters of the
Modern Slavery Statement.

Environmental Implications
9.

There are no immediate environmental impacts.

CONTACT: DONNA LINTON, GOVERNANCE AND CORPORATE PLANNING
MANAGER
TEL [01606] 868804
BACKGROUND PAPERS: NONE

Page 222

Appendix 1 to Item 5
Cheshire Fire Authority
28 September 2022

MODERN SLAVERY STATEMENT

Introduction
Modern slavery is the illegal exploitation of people for personal or commercial gain. It
covers a wide range of abuse and exploitation including human trafficking, sexual
exploitation, domestic servitude, forced labour, criminal exploitation, child slavery,
forced or bonded labour, financial exploitation and organ harvesting.
Victims of modern slavery can be any age, gender, nationality and ethnicity. They are
tricked or threatened into work and may feel unable to leave or report the crime through
fear or intimidation. They may not recognise themselves as a victim.
The Modern Slavery Act 2015 came into force in July 2015 and consolidates offences
relating to slavery and human trafficking. It also includes a provision for transparency
in supply chains that requires all businesses (shortly, to include public sector
organisations) with an annual turnover of £36 million or more to disclose, in an annual
slavery and human trafficking statement published on their website, what steps they
have taken during the financial year to ensure their business and supply chains are
slavery free, and their future plans to eradicate slavery within supply chains.
Commitment
Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service is committed to the prevention of modern slavery
and human trafficking. This statement sets out the steps we have taken and are
planning to take to address the risk of modern slavery and human trafficking occurring
within our own organisation and those of our partners and supply chains. We commit
to regularly reviewing this statement to ensure that it is compliant with up-to-date
legislation, guidance, practice and trends.
Organisation Structure and Supply Chains
Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service presently have a workforce comprising approx. 674
Operational Staff, and 176 members of Support Staff, together with volunteers.
In order to support the demands of a modern fire and rescue service it is necessary to
purchase a range of goods and services from external suppliers. We procure over
£19m of goods and services per annum and work with over 1250 suppliers. We are
committed to ensuring that those suppliers are aware of the relevant policies that the
organisation adheres to, and the standards that are expected of our suppliers, and
that these standards are met by all suppliers.
Relevant Policies and Due Diligence
We have the following policies and procedures in place which reflect our commitment
to preventing and detecting modern slavery and human trafficking within our
organisation and supply chains. They help us to ensure we are taking reasonable
steps to address the risks of these occurring. These policies are available to all staff
on the intranet.

Page 223

Code of Conduct for Employees and Whistleblowing Policy – Our Code makes it clear
to employees the actions and behaviour expected of them. We encourage all our
employees to report any concerns related to the conduct of our employees, elected
Members, or contractors. Our whistleblowing procedure is designed to make it easy
for workers to make disclosures, without fear of retaliation. Concerns can be raised
via a confidential helpline. These policies also form part of the organisation’s induction
process.
Recruitment and Retention Policy – The Policy ensures there is a consistent and
transparent approach to recruitment. We have robust procedures in place to
undertake pre-appointment checks for new staff and volunteers which ensures they
are able to confirm their identities and relevant qualifications. Where appropriate, we
use only specified, reputable employment agencies to source agency workers.
Adult and Children Safeguarding Policies – These policies outline the safeguarding
responsibilities of all staff and volunteers who have contact with adults and/or children
at risk and how they can report their concerns. They outline modern slavery as a form
of abuse. These policies also form part of the organisation’s induction process, and
refresher training is regularly undertaken.
Procurement Strategy – Our procurement strategy includes ethical procurement and
social value. It covers the standards we expect of our suppliers. In line with this
strategy, we encourage suppliers to use ethical supplier databases such as SEDEX
(Supplier Ethical Data Exchange) or Ethical Labour Sourcing Framework (ELS) to
document their practices and share that information with ourselves.
Our policies and strategies are transparent and are reviewed and updated regularly.
Any new strategies or policy amendments are signed off at a senior level at a meeting
of the Cheshire Fire Authority or Service Management Team.
We have a process in place for employees to make declarations of outside interests
where appropriate and this includes other paid employment. As part of our
commitment to the welfare of our employees, managers regularly undertake 1-2-1
sessions with their staff and any concerns relating to health and safety or wellbeing
can be raised at these meetings. Additionally the organisation provides access to work
related, health and personal wellbeing advice and support covering a broad range of
issues.
In terms of our supply chain, our standard contract terms and conditions include a
clause which places an obligation on suppliers to abide by the law – this includes the
Modern Slavery Act 2015. Additionally a code of ethics document is issued with all
requests for quotes and invitations to tender and there is a section on Modern Slavery
for all above threshold procurements. We challenge any abnormally low-cost tender
returns and any non-compliance in bids to ensure the potential contractor or subcontractors are not reliant upon modern slavery or human trafficking.

Page 224

Performance Indicators
Performance indicators are currently under development, and we have an action to
develop, monitor and report on the effectiveness of steps being taken in a future
statement.
Draft indicators in development are;
•

Increasing the % of our staff trained in ethical procurement practices;

•

Increasing the number of high-risk Tier 1 suppliers aware of modern slavery;

•

Increasing the number of our suppliers (with an annual turnover exceeding
£36m) who have produced a modern slavery statement;

•

Increasing the number of high-risk Tier 1 suppliers who have trained their staff
in modern slavery;

•

Increasing the number of high-risk Tier 1 suppliers who have engaged with their
supply chains on modern slavery;

•

Increasing the number of high-risk Tier 1 suppliers who have an agreed protocol
for informing the Service if they discover modern slavery issues within the
supply chain.

Training and Development
We have an induction programme that all employees must complete which includes
familiarisation with relevant policies.
Our procurement team is currently undergoing the Chartered Institute of Procurement
and Supply (CIPS) training on Ethical Procurement and Supply and are also trained in
contract management. This training highlights the potential risk of modern slavery and
human trafficking and the signs that officers should be aware of.
Once the procurement team training is complete, we will consider the feasibility of
rolling training out to our most at risk supply chain.

Page 225

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY
MEETING OF:
DATE:
REPORT OF:
AUTHOR:

CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY
28TH SEPTEMBER 2022
DIRECTOR OF TRANSFORMATION
ANDREA HARVEY

SUBJECT:

APPOINTMENT OF CHIEF FIRE OFFICER AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Purpose of Report
1.

To consider the appointment of Mr Alex Waller who is the recommended
candidate of the Brigade Managers’ Pay and Performance Committee
(BMPPC) for the role of Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive (CFOCE).

Recommended: That Members
[1]

Appoint Mr Alex Waller as Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive.

Background
2.

Following Mark Cashin’s notice of his intention to retire from the Service at his
appraisal in January 2022, a discussion took place with Members of the BMPPC
to agree the arrangements to secure a new CFOCE.

3.

It was agreed that the recruitment process for the new CFOCE should take the
form of a two-day assessment process comprising of the following:
-

Technical interview with an independent Chief Fire Officer and HR
Consultant
Media and Psychometric Assessments
Stakeholder Panel comprising of representatives from the Staff
Engagement Forum
Presentation to Members of the BMPPC on a topic given prior to the
interview
Formal interview with Members of the BMPPC

4.

The independent Chief Fire Officer was Dan Stevens, who has held Chief Fire
Officer roles in Merseyside FRS and in the Melbourne Fire Service, Australia.
Dan is currently the serving HMICFRS lead for Wales. The independent HR
Consultant was Steve Mason.

5.

The advert was originally published in April 2022 but following Mark Cashin’s
car accident and a period of time away from the workplace, the process was
paused. Upon his return, a second advert was published on the National Fire
Chiefs Council and Service websites on 11 July 2022 with a closing date of 5

Page 227

August 2022. Three applications were received and two candidates were
shortlisted.
6.

Following the two-day assessment process the Members of the BMPPC
engaged in a full debrief which included comprehensive feedback from Dan
Stevens, Steve Mason, Andrea Harvey (on behalf of the Stakeholder Panel)
and the independent media assessors Sarah Perris and Merryn Myatt. Coupled
with their own observations from the Member interview and presentation, the
Committee was unanimous in agreeing that Mr Alex Waller should be
recommended for appointment as CFOCE. The Committee recommends this
appointment.

7.

Subject to the Authority appointing Mr Waller he will commence in post on 1st
October 2022.

Financial Implications
8.

The cost of the recruitment and salary of the replacement CFOCE are
adequately covered by existing budgets.

Legal Implications
9.

This report is submitted to the Authority because although the Brigade
Managers’ Pay and Performance Committee is responsible for the recruitment
of the CFOCE, the decision about appointment is reserved to the Fire Authority.

Equality and Diversity Implications
10.

Like all other recruitment and selection processes, great care has been taken
to ensure that the recruitment and selection process for this role has been
conducted in a fair and inclusive manner and in accordance with Service policy
and ACAS best practice.

Environmental Implications
11.

None.

CONTACT: DONNA LINTON, FIRE SERVICE HQ, WINSFORD
TEL [01606] 868804
BACKGROUND PAPERS: NONE

Page 228

